

Lao, Junpeng (2014) *Tracking the temporal dynamics of cultural perceptual diversity in visual information processing.* PhD thesis.

http://theses.gla.ac.uk/5055/

Copyright and moral rights for this thesis are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the Author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the Author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Glasgow Theses Service http://theses.gla.ac.uk/ theses@gla.ac.uk

# Tracking the Temporal Dynamics of Cultural Perceptual Diversity in Visual Information Processing

Junpeng Lao

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirement for the Degree of Ph.D.

Center for Cognitive Neuroimaging Institute of Neuroscience and Psychology

School Of Psychology College of Science and Engineering University of Glasgow October, 2013

#### Summary

Human perception and cognition processing are not universal. Culture and experience markedly modulate visual information sampling in humans. Cross-cultural studies comparing between Western Caucasians (WCs) and East Asians (EAs) have shown cultural differences in behaviour and neural activities in regarding to perception and cognition. Particularly, a number of studies suggest a local perceptual bias for Westerners (WCs) and a global bias for Easterners (EAs): WCs perceive most efficiently the salient information in the focal object; as a contrast EAs are biased toward the information in the background. Such visual processing bias has been observed in a wide range of tasks and stimuli. However, the underlying neural mechanisms of such perceptual tunings, especially the temporal dynamic of different information coding, have yet to be clarified.

Here, in the first two experiments I focus on the perceptual function of the diverse eye movement strategies between WCs and EAs. Human observers engage in different eye movement strategies to gather facial information: WCs preferentially fixate on the eyes and mouth, whereas EAs allocate their gaze relatively more on the center of the face. By employing a fixational eye movement paradigm in Study 1 and electroencephalographic (EEG) recording in study 2, the results confirm the cultural differences in spatial-frequency information tuning and suggest the different perceptual functions of preferred eye movement pattern as a function of culture. The third study makes use of EEG adaptation and hierarchical visual stimulus to access the cultural tuning in global/local processing. Culture diversity driven by selective attention is revealed in the early sensory stage.

The results here together showed the temporal dynamic of cultural perceptual diversity. Cultural distinctions in the early time course are driven by selective attention to global information in EAs, whereas late effects are modulated by detail processing of local information in WC observers.

# Acknowledgments:

My four years of PhD have been a remarkable journey. I am very blessed to have amazing people around me. I received countless support and inspiration from them, both in academic and in daily life. This thesis is not possible to be done without the following people.

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisor Prof. Roberto Caldara. You have been incredibly patience to me. Thank you for teaching me all the knowledge and showing me the importance of determination in scientific research. Especially, thank you for giving me opportunities to study and work around the world. I cannot imagine my life without your help.

I would like to thank Dr. Luca Vizioli, a royal friend, an awesome man, and a true role model. You are like a brother to me. Words are not enough to describe the things you have done for me over the years. Here, I just want to express my deepest gratitude to you for improving my writing.

I would also like to thank Dr. Meike Ramon and Dr. Sébastien Miellet for the comments of my manuscript.

I would like to thank Dr. Guillaume Rousselet and Dr. Olivier Pascalis for agreeing to be respectively my internal and external examiners. Thank you for taking the time to read this thesis and your valuable comments.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family and my girlfriend Yuli for always believing in me. Sorry for being away from you so long, and thank you for your love and support even when I was not around. Now time has come, and I will take care of you!

# **Table of Contents**

Sun	nmary	1
Ack	nowledgments:	2
1	Introduction	5
1.1	Culture: A dynamic Concept	7
1.1.	1 Define Culture	8
1.1.	2 Culture, Nationality and Race	14
1.2	Social Differences among Cultures: Individualism and Collectivism	15
1.2.	1 Individualism and Collectivism	17
1.2.	2 "Know Thyself": Self-construal and the Correlated Neural Activity	22
1.2.	3 Understand Others: Theory of Mind and Empathy	27
1.3	Culture Shapes Human Perception and Cognition	
1.3.	1 Object and Scene	
1.3.	2 Face and Emotional Face	43
1.3.	3 Non-cultural Stimuli and Other Cognitive Tasks	51
1.4	The Purpose of This Thesis	55
1.5	Methods	57
1.5.	1 Eye Tracking	57
1.5.	2 Electroencephalogram	60
2	Microsaccades Boost Face Identification as A Function of Culture	65
2.1	Introduction	66
2.2	Materials and Methods	68
2.3	Analysis and Result	72
2.4	Discussion	80
3	Tracking the Neural Tuning of Cultural Diversity in Eye Movements for Fac	ces 84
3.1	Introduction	85
3.2	Materials and Methods	
3.3	Results	91
3.4	Discussion	100
3.5	Conclusions	103
4	Culture modulates the Temporal Dynamics of Global/Local Processing	105
4.1	Introduction	106
4.2	Methods	109
4.3	Results	114

4.4	Discussion	118
5	General Discussion	123
5.1	Implications	125
5.2	Future Directions	129
5.3	Final Remarks	131
6	References	132

#### **1** Introduction

During my high school year, a collection of 20<sup>th</sup> century architecture in my hometown was designated by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) as a World Cultural Heritage Site. Now known as the "Kaiping Diaolou and Villages", it is a group of multi-storeyed watchtowers mainly built with financial support from the villagers who travelled abroad, mostly in South Asia and North America. Each of them is a combination of Chinese and Western architectural styles in rather unique manner. At the time, this was quite a significant event for a small southern Chinese city like my hometown. The local government offered a free tour to all students as a general education session. Growing up around these old buildings, I was actually amazed by the stories behind all the old stones and sculptures: how my ancestors began to construct these thick walls to fight against frequent heavy floods and bandits; how the older generation struggled to survive in a foreign land, yet still were tied to their roots; how these buildings underwent attack from guns and cannons and are still standing... It was the first time I encountered the concept of "culture", and truly experienced its meaning.

A couple of years later, I moved to a big city for my undergraduate course, and started to travel around. Meeting people from different places, I slowly realised that culture is more than old buildings and what people do during festivals. Culture is in the food we eat, in the clothes we wear, and more importantly, in those things we cannot physically see: language, religion, values, social conventions, etc. These differences even exist in regular daily interaction. I am still surprised at how people react to a similar situation, so distinctly dependent on their cultural background.

The differences extend even further. For almost a century, social scientists such as anthropologists and social psychologists have examined how culturally specific activities and cultural practice shape individuals' responses to social information. During the last 20 years, researchers in cognitive science and neuroscience have discovered that culture even impacts on basic cognitive process, such as attention and visual perception. These results are surprisingly contradictory to the universal assumptions of low-level information processing (Nisbett et al. 2001).

Built upon the previous findings of cultural diversity in visual perception, the work I have undertaken during my Ph.D. aims to investigate when and how culture affects information processing. Given the complexity of the concept "Culture" and its ambiguity among different research domains, the opening pages of my thesis will specify the meaning of culture being applied in all the studies. In the first section, I will discuss the definition of culture and its distinction with regard to race and nationality. A review of the behavioural and neuroimaging data on cultural differences in social values and high-level social cognition will follow. In the third section, I will summaries cultural modulation in attention and perception, according to various visual categories. Specifically, theoretical frameworks including individualist-collectivistic dichotomy, independent-interdependent self-construal, and analytic-holistic cognitive style will be discussed in the introduction. A brief section on the methods employed throughout this work (i.e. electroencephalogram and fixational eye movement) will precede the original empirical studies included in this thesis.

# 1.1 Culture: A dynamic Concept

#### Preamble

Here in the opening chapter, I will discuss some key incongruities in the definition of culture. After conceptualizing the core foundations of culture, I will provide my own definition. The distinction between culture and nationality, race would also be discussed.

#### **1.1.1 Define Culture**

Culture as a concept is essential in daily human life and scientific practice. It has been widely used in popular expression, such as "corporate culture", "Hip-hop culture," or "preserve our culture and traditions". Besides public discourse, we often hear it in a political context. For instance, it is widely used in policies involving immigration or minorities, as it usually triggers strong emotions (Fox and King 2002). Moreover, culture has been an important concept in many academic fields. It has been studied in many domains including anthropology, sociology, the humanities, linguistics, psychology and other social sciences. For example, culture is considered as the core concept of anthropology (Fox and King 2002; Kroeber and Kluckhohn 1952).

English anthropologist Edward B. Tylor gave the very first definition of human culture in modern social science (Tylor 1871). As he wrote in the opening of *Primitive Culture*, in 1871: "*Culture*, or *Civilization*, taken in its wide ethnographic sense, is that complex whole that includes knowledge, belief, art, morals, law, custom, and any other capabilities and habits acquired by man as a member of society." However, after being studied in various fields for nearly 150 years, culture is still an amorphous concept with little consensus across or even within research domains (Kroeber and Kluckhohn 1952). For example, Kroeber & Kluckhohn (1952) listed over 160 definitions of *culture* with little overlapping emphases.

There is a number of primary divergences of the definition and the usage of the concept of *culture* in social science (Fox and King 2002; Wyer et al. 2009). One of the main difficulties is that a broad range of social activities and phenomena can be considered as "cultural". For example, definitions similar to E. B. Taylor's took an inclusive approach that includes both the material worlds (such as products, technology, and social activities) and the internal status (e.g. symbols, beliefs, and ideas). Other definitions tend to focus on ideational factors only, such as values and representation. For instance, Goodenough (1957) defined *culture* as "whatever it is one has to know or believe in order to operate in a manner acceptable to [society's] members". Overall, the disagreements on the definition of *culture* could be summarized as the following: 1) whether *culture* is a static entity according to circumscribed geographic boundaries (i.e., Hofstede 1984; Hofstede and Hofstede 2001; LeVine 2001) or a dynamic, changing character (i.e., Hong and Chiu 2001; Hong

et al. 2000; Oyserman and Sorensen 2009; Tsui et al. 2009); 2) whether *culture* should be conceptualised as a whole (i.e., Bond and Leung 2009; Schwartz 1992; Schwartz 2009) or as a collection of concepts or knowledge (i.e., Chiu and Hong 2007; Oyserman and Sorensen 2009; Triandis 2001, 2009); 3) whether *culture* exists outside of the individual in a social environment (i.e., Bond and Leung 2009; Hong and Mallorie 2004; Schwartz 1992; Schwartz 2009) or is located in the individual's mind and actions (i.e., Wan and Chiu 2009).

Despite these discrepancies in regarding to the properties of *culture*, psychologists can generally agree upon two initial assumptions (Han et al. 2013). Firstly, there are similarities among a group of individuals, which are not part of their innate biological condition (Murdock 1932; Nisbett 1990). These mutual characteristics have developed over thousands of years within a given cultural group, and have become the core content of *culture*. The general features among cultural members can be internal (e.g. knowledge) or external (e.g. social behaviour). Some theories focus on the internal properties. For example, Keesing (1981) characterised *culture* as a shared system of competence consisting of people's "theory of what [their] fellows know, believe and mean, of the code being followed, the game being played". Similarly, Hong suggested that members from the same culture share networks of knowledge (meanings, routines of thinking, and the way of interacting with others), which are crucial for communication (Barth 2002; Chiu and Hong 2007; Hong 2009; Hong and Chiu 2001). Other perspectives took a more general approach and considered both internal and external features. For example, some social scientists defined *culture* as people's shared representations of reality that include customs, values, beliefs, behavioural scripts, daily interaction, social convention and institutions (Pelto and Pelto 1975; Romney et al. 1996). Moreover, few cultural psychologists further defined *culture* operationally as statistical norms of the shared internal features. For example, few theories considered the average personal characteristics such as values, beliefs, and personal attributes as *culture* (Wan and Chiu 2009).

Importantly, these shared meanings or information are distinguishable among cultures. Thus, they can be valuable delimiters to effectively distinguish one group from another, creating what has been referred to as cultural speciation (Goodall and Berman 1999).

The second initial assumption is that the shared cultural features transmit from one individual to another, non-genetically, through social learning (Kashima 2009; Kashima et al. 2008). Humans are born without predisposition to any particular culture, but rather have the potential and capability to acquire, and even to create culture (Harris 1999). In this sense, individual development could be viewed as a process of obtaining and embodying cultural belief systems or behaviour patterns from their surroundings (Rogoff 2003). From the very beginning of their lives, people engage in the complex composition of materials and social rules or practices, as well as folk beliefs, of their respective local communities. As suggested by Han et al. (2013), people adjust their value system and adapt their behaviour to meet the standards of the society. Such cultural knowledge development might even change the brain structurally and functionally, to become closely attuned to the surrounding socio-cultural environment (Wexler 2006).

The assumption that cultural knowledge is socially transmitted has a crucial effect in psychology and cultural neuroscience research. Firstly, people from the same cultural groups can be quite heterogeneous in terms of the values and beliefs they acquire. Secondly, an individual may change his/her cultural values and beliefs as a result of experience (such as emigrating from his/her native country). This is particularly true in contemporary societies, where cultural exchanges occur often and rapidly. People in modern societies are usually exposed, sometimes deeply, to other cultures' practices and beliefs in multiple socio-cultural contexts. Multiple cultural systems may become part of any single individual. At times this may require an individual to switch to and fro between different cultural systems during interactions, depending on particular contexts of social encounters (Hong et al. 2000). As for researches sampling participants from different cultures, it is important to limit the confusion caused by multi-cultural experience. For example, some studies used questionnaires to select participants with minimal experience of other cultures (Jack et al. 2012b).

In summary, there are similarities among individuals within a geographically isolated area. These internal similarities are independent of human biological conditions, and represent a dynamic concept of the socio-cultural environment. They are developed over a long period of time in a society, and acquired by the individual through social learning. Moreover, these internal features interact with the external environment to create a complex and dynamic social atmosphere where cultural information can be transmitted.

It is worth noting that both assumptions are taken from a subjective perspective. While some researchers took this perspective and defined *culture* directly as a set of shared values or knowledge systems (e.g., Hong and Chiu 2001), other theories tended to see culture as the external environment where such internal similarities are developed (e.g., Han et al. 2013). The opinion on whether such subjective cultural information should be the main body of culture deeply influences the methodology and the approaches chosen during experiments. As summarised by Kashima (2009), cultural researchers who focus on internal properties usually consider *culture* as a mediator, or something that could/should be manipulated. Such approaches either actively change the "level" of cultural value through social priming (i.e., culture priming research), or using questionnaires to measure cultural values as mediating variables (e.g., Hong et al. 2000; Kühnen and Oyserman 2002; Trafimow et al. 1991). As an alternative, approaches that hold an external view compare individuals from different cultures - mainly between Western Caucasian and East Asian - in beliefs, attitudes, and values as well as associated social behaviour (e.g., Leung and Bond 2004; Leung et al. 2002; Schwartz 1992; Schwartz 1994; Triandis 1995). In these socalled cross-cultural studies, culture is usually being controlled as an independent variable. Such approaches are more closely related to "natural science"- like (Kashima 2009).

Despite the aforementioned differences in perspective and the absence of a genuine definition of culture, a general practice in culture studies has long been established. Indeed, by conceptualizing how an individual relates to the in-group and out-groups, a unique social characteristic could be identified in one and the same cultural population. Such characteristic could be related to some distinctive sensorimotor tendencies (e.g., the span of visual attention, biases in cognition and categorization, styles of learning) under prevailing condition. Importantly, the cultural profile of the group is usually defined by the conceptualized social aspects, with the sensorimotor behaviour biases being treated as the effect of culture on cognition (e.g., Nisbett and Miyamoto 2005; Norenzayan et al. 2002; Varnum et al. 2010). While research subjects such as in sociology and anthropology aim to characterize given societies into different cultures, the primary object of cultural psychology or culture neuroscience is

to investigate how these high-level social-cultural characteristics influence the configurations of perception and cognition, and how they further shape internalized behaviour patterns and other mental functions. Importantly, the fundamental of cognitive processes might not be reliably identified on the basis of research and theory that are developed within a single social context (Wyer 2009). By comparing observers sampled from one culture to others, researchers can distinguish to what extent such configurations should be considered to be fundamental.

In the current thesis, I took the same approach as cross-cultural research. Cultural differences in human mental processes and underlying cognitive mechanisms have been investigated extensively under this approach in the past two decades. From this line of research, theoretical frameworks such as individualistic versus collectivistic values, independent self-construals versus interdependent self-construals, and analytic versus holistic cognitive tendencies have emerged to guide empirical studies of cultural discrepancy in human perception, cognition and emotion (Kitayama and Cohen 2010; Nisbett et al. 2001; Varnum et al. 2010). Such theoretical frameworks will be discussed in the next two chapters. Cultural psychology takes the view that human cognitive and affective processing varies as a function of cultural environments. These diverse environments provide unique social contexts in which psychological processes are developed (Kitayama and Uskul 2011). The findings of cultural psychological research stimulate researchers to investigate neural substrates of the cultural diversity of human cognition and emotion.

Therefore, here I define *culture* as a complex and dynamic external social-visual environment in which the human value system and the human brain is fostered and shaped. From a neuroscience point of view, such a definition emphasises the sociocultural nature of the human brain and places great weight on the influence of cultural values, beliefs, and practices shared by a social group on functional organization of the human brain. In addition, I included the visual environment as a major similarity among individuals. As I will explain in the next two chapters, the cognitive modulation effect of culture might not only come from social experiences, but also from visual experience that shapes our perception tuning to different information.

Previous cross-cultural studies assessed cultural differences in human cognition by comparing the behavioural performances and the neural activities between Western Caucasians (Europeans and North Americans) and East Asians (Chinese, Japanese and Koreans). Although there is of course no such thing as a homogeneous 'Western' or 'East Asian' culture, Western and East Asian societies nevertheless differ in many aspects, and provide good samples for psychologists to investigate cultural differences in human cognition (Han and Northoff 2008). However, individuals from Western culture or East Asian culture also have different nationalities and races. In the next part, I will provide a belief distinction between them. Other issues related to such dual-cultural sampling will be discussed in the last chapter of the current thesis.

#### 1.1.2 Culture, Nationality and Race

*Nationality* is defined by social group membership, based on a shared nation state of origin. Different from the term *culture*, which emphasises shared ideas, values, beliefs, and practices, people of the same *nationality* do not necessarily share the same beliefs, values, or practices. Majority of cross-cultural psychology studies have recruited subjects from two different cultural groups (e.g., Westerners and East Asians) on the assumption that the two groups differ in specific cultural values or specific cognitive processes (Han and Northoff 2009). While these different cultural group members usually have various nationalities, in some case they can be from a same nation as well. For example, a number of cultural psychology studies have investigated cultural groups who are from the same nation, but are defined by ethnic, religious or political beliefs (Han et al. 2010; Han et al. 2008). In such cases, two groups of participants share the same nationality and language but differ only in a set of shared beliefs/values and practices, which are hypothesised to be relevant to a particular pattern of neural activity.

Humankind can be divided into different races by distinct physical characteristics such as skin tone, facial feature or body shape. Individuals from a same racial group usually are similar in various fixed and biologically determined psychological traits and tendencies. Unlike *culture, race* is predetermined by inherent biological basis and unchanged over the course of a lifespan (Young 1994). Moreover, individuals classified as belonging to the same race do not necessarily share the same cultural values and experiences. For example, native Chinese and British-born Chinese may be considered as belong to the same racial group, but they do not share the same cultural values and beliefs. Researches focus on *race*, such as in empathy or face recognition, have distinctive different assumptions and results compare to studies on culture. For example, they tend to find similar cognitive pattern and neurocircuitry towards ingroup or out-group between different races (Kubota et al. 2012).

In summary, *culture* can be separated from *nationality* and *race*. Although cultural psychology and cultural neuroscience studies sample participants from different cultures who usually also belong to different nationalities and races, the hypothesis and independent variables are dissimilar to those studies focusing on *nationality* or *race*.

# **1.2 Social Differences among Cultures: Individualism and Collectivism**

#### Preamble

As explained in the opening chapter, culture should be considered as a unique combination of environmental factors where specific knowledge could be transferred. One example is the value in regarding the individual in relation to society. Following Hofstede's cultural dimensions theory, individualist vs. collectivistic values are amongst the main dimensions to discrete different cultures from a psychologist point of view. Such a contrast also becomes the main distinction in the East-West dichotomy. In this chapter, I will first conceptualise individualism and collectivism. The social behavioural differences resulting from these two core cultural values will be discussed. In the second and the third part of this chapter, I will discuss how people develop distinctive perspectives in regard to themselves and others under the impact of individualism or collectivism.

As explained previously, culture is a complex and amorphous concept. It has been studied in many domains including sociology, anthropology, humanities, linguistics, psychology and other social sciences. Researchers from various areas take different approaches to investigate culture, and focus on different aspects of culture. Psychologists consider the dichotomy between individualism and collectivism as a major factor according to which cultures can be broadly categorised (Triandis 1996). Such a dichotomy has been referred to as the "deep structure" of cultural differences (Greenfield 2000). A large body of behavioural research has shown that such cultural values influence individual-level psychological mechanisms. More recently, cognitive and neuroscientists alike have begun to investigate the neural substrate of these cultural differences, focusing on whether this diversity is powerful enough to modulate neural activity. In this chapter, I will begin by defining individualism and collectivism, to then focus on how these cultural values shape the way we understand ourselves and others. Importantly, data on the modulatory influences of cultural values and beliefs upon neural activity will be discussed.

### 1.2.1 Individualism and Collectivism

To identify one's culture upon encounter might be difficult. However, if one spends a few minutes to consider how one interacts with others, one might be able to make an accurate judgment. Indeed, the core of cultural differences lies in social activities (Hall and Hall 1990). People's exposure to all kinds of information in social interaction and culture shapes how their cognitive system perceives and makes use of it. Imagine a social scenario where a person brings some laughter to other people in the conversation. If he's from a Western culture, such as Europe or North America, he might consider himself to be a funny person. Instead, if he's from East Asia, he might likely thinks: "my friends think I am funny" or "in this circumstance I can be funny" (Trafimow et al. 1991; Triandis et al. 1990). Summarising similar observations, researchers have defined individualism and collectivism as follows:

**Individualism:** The core idea of individualism is that individuals are independent of one another (Bellah et al. 1985; Hsu 1983; Kagitcibasi 1994; Kim and Choi 1994; Markus and Kitayama 1991; Sampson 1977; Triandis 1995). Individualism centers on personal goals, personal uniqueness, and personal control. For instance, Hofstede (1984) defined individualism as "a focus on rights above duties, a concern for oneself and immediate family, an emphasis on personal autonomy and self-fulfilment, and the basing of one's identity on one's personal accomplishments". In individualistic societies people are autonomous: they give priority to their personal goals and behave primarily on the basis of their own attitudes rather than the norms of the general public (Triandis and Suh 2002).

**Collectivism:** The core idea of collectivism is mutual obligation and the common values shared among a society's members. In collectivism, one individual is merely a component of the social, a unit that subordinates to the larger context (Kagitcibasi 1987, 1997; Oyserman 1993; Schwartz 1990; Triandis 1995). In collectivistic cultures people are closely connected with their in-groups (family, tribe, nation, etc.). They give priority to the common goals of the majority. They usually behave within social norms, and are notably concerned with relationships (Mills and Clark 1982).

Early work by anthropologists and social psychologists had revealed many behavioural differences between individualism and collectivism. These differences exist in almost every aspect of an individual's social life including self-concept, wellbeing, attribution style, and relationship with others (Oyserman et al. 2002). Here I will outline some examples of these differences:

*Motivation:* In an individualistic society, people pursue personal uniqueness and desire to control their own lives, whereas in collectivistic cultures, people prefer to be like everyone else and follow orders (Kim and Markus 1999). As a result, personal choice generally enhances motivation more for individualism than collectivism. For example, Iyengar & Lepper (1999) showed that children from European-American backgrounds were more motivated when they were given a personal choice, and less motivated when the experimenter or peers made the choice for them. On the other hand, Asian-American children showed less motivation when they could choose for themselves. However, if their mothers or in-group member made the choices for them, Asian-American children showed the highest level of intrinsic motivation and performed the best.

Evidence also suggests that motivation in individualist cultures increases following success, but in collectivistic cultures it increases following failure. For example, Heine et al. (1998) showed that experiencing success motivated European Canadian undergraduates more than those from Japan. After experiencing failure, individuals from a collectivistic culture might be motivate to change themselves to better satisfy the demands from their social environment.

The presence of others also motivates individualism and collectivism in different ways. For example, Asians are motivated to justify their choice when significant others are primed (Kitayama et al. 2004). In another example, participants were exposed to a set of schematic faces that appear to be "watching" them from their perspective (Imada and Kitayama 2010). East Asians justified their choice when an impression of "social eyes" was primed during the choice. European Americans appear to show a weaker motivation effect under such conditions, reportedly because the eyes of others are experienced as unnecessary impositions on their freedom (Imada and Kitayama 2010).

*Emotion, experiences and expressions:* Depending on their cultural background, people experience emotion from different aspects. In individualistic cultures, emotions are self-focused. They reflect the status of personal feeling. In collectivistic cultures, emotions tend to be set in relationships and represent the status of these relationships (Mesquita 2001). Kitayama et al. (2000) showed that Americans reported more personal emotions (e.g., feeling superior, proud, top of the world), whereas Japanese reported more interpersonally engaged emotions (e.g., friendly feelings, feeling close, respect).

Early observations from anthropology and psychology also suggested different "display rules" of emotion for people from different cultures (Ekman and Friesen 1975; Matsumoto et al. 2008). While the individualists tend to express their emotions more freely, the collectivists usually restrain their emotional expression instead of being open and directly showing personal feelings (Niedenthal et al. 2006). Individualism is more expressive than collectivism, particularly for positive emotion, but also for negative emotion (Matsumoto et al. 2008). For example, the expression of anger is less prevalent in collectivistic than individualistic cultures (Markus and Kitayama 1991). However, most of these results are from observational studies or verbal self-reports. Cross-cultural research in emotions has not yet provided a clear link between the individualism/collectivism contrast and emotional expression (Oyserman et al. 2002).

In addition facial emotion recognition usually was considered as universal in the early literatures (Ekman et al. 1969). Recent evident suggested that observers from different cultures also perceive emotional face differently (e.g., Jack et al. 2012a; Jack et al. 2012b). Details will follow in the next chapter.

*Communication:* While people in individualistic cultures tend to speak openly, people in collectivistic cultures use indirect and sometimes ambiguous communication (Holtgraves 1997). Gudykunst et al. (1996) quantified communication styles and measured the level of individualism-collectivism among U.S., Australian, Japanese, and Korean students. They showed that indirect communication correlated negatively with individualistic cultures, and positively with collectivistic. In another study, among Korean, Japanese, and U.S. students, individualism was found to focus on clear, goal-oriented communication. Instead, collectivism was concerned about the listener's feelings, and desired to avoid negative evaluation (Kim et al. 1996).

*Social behaviour:* Members of a collectivistic culture are strongly influenced by the behaviour and thoughts of other people. For instance, Cialdini et al. (1999) examined how people respond to a request to participate in a market survey. They found that people from collectivist cultures were easily influenced by social proof arguments (e.g., your friend has complied with this request). People from individualist cultures, however, were influenced more by personal commitment arguments (e.g., you have complied with a similar request in the past).

Cultural values also change the way people handle social conflicts. Peng and Nisbett (Peng and Nisbett 1999) asked Chinese and American students to analyse contradictions drawn from everyday life. For example, one of the cases they presented to the students was a daily life conflict between mothers and their daughters on the daughters' time management of study and entertainment. American students tended to respond in favour of one side or the other (e.g. "mothers should respect their daughters' independence"). Chinese responses were more likely to find a "Middle Way" (e.g. "both the mothers and the daughters have failed to understand each other"). They found virtue and fault on both sides, and attempted to reconcile the contradiction.

In an individualistic society, people are encouraged to be independent, self-elevating, and assertive. Thus, one's dominant behaviour is usually positively reinforced (Moskowitz et al. 1994). In contrast, a collectivistic society tends to positively reinforce subordination, sociability, and cooperation (Triandis and Gelfand 1998). Freeman et al. (2009) observed opposite neural activity patterns in two cultural groups relating to dominant behaviour. American and Japanese participants passively viewed images of individuals posing dominance and submission during an eventrelated design functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) scan. After the scanning session, the participants completed a survey to measure their personal endorsement of dominant versus submissive values (e.g., "I impose my will on others" and "I let others make the decisions") (Goldberg et al. 2006). Results of the survey corroborated previous studies showing that Americans tend to endorse dominant values and behave in dominant ways, whereas Japanese tend to endorse submissive values and express more subordinate behaviour. More importantly, they found a direct relation between participants' behavioural responses and their neural pattern. The neural activity in the bilateral caudate nucleus and medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) showed opposite patterns in the two cultural groups. Identified as part of the mesolimbic reward circuitry, these two brain regions have been directly linked to reinforcements and rewards (e.g., Aharon et al. 2001; Breiter et al. 2001). Americans showed greater activity in these brain regions when perceiving dominant stimuli than subordinate stimuli, whereas the reverse pattern of neural activity in the same brain regions was shown among Japanese. These findings suggest that functional activity in the mesolimbic reward system is modulated in different ways, in order to coordinate with cultural preferences for dominant or subordinate behaviour.

Personality: Personality is the result of a combination effect from genetic and environmental factors (Engler 2008; Kellerman 2012). Among the most important of the latter are cultural influences. However, only a small number of studies have directly investigated the relationship between personality traits and individualism/collectivism. While studies showed consistent mean personality difference across different nations (Allik 2005; Terracciano et al. 2005), few studies have directly correlated personality with the cultural syndrome of individualismcollectivism (e.g., Hui and Villareal 1989). Further study is still needed to clarify this subject.

# 1.2.2 "Know Thyself": Self-construal and the Correlated Neural Activity

Culture modulates how we behave in social situations and interact with other ingroups. These modulations are internalized and further shape the way we think of ourselves (Triandis 1995; Zhu and Han 2008). Markus & Kitayama (1991) analysed how people from different cultures think about themselves in relation to others and suggested different self-construals between individualism and collectivism. Specifically, self-construal focuses on interdependence-independence, which is one of the most important aspects of the cultural syndrome of individualism-collectivism.

According to Markus and Kitayama (1991), the independent construal of the self is autonomous and independent. It attends to the self and self-focused information. On the other hand, the interdependent construal of the self emphasizes social connection and relationship. It is generally sensitive to information relating to others, and attends to intimate others as much as to the self.



*Figure 1.2.1, Conceptual representation of the self. A: Independent construal; B: Interdependent construal. Adapted from Markus and Kitayama (1991) with permission.* 

The differences between independent and interdependent self-construal are illustrated in Figure 1.2.1. The self is represented by the large circle, whereas smaller circles represent specific others. Within each circle are the various dimensions of the self or the others (mark as X). If two circles intersect, it means they share one or more similar aspects (the X in the intersection). As shown in Figure 1.2.1A, those with independent construal of the self do not share any inner attributes with others. They

refer to their internal attributes such as their own traits, abilities, values, and preferences in self-definition. For those with interdependent self-construal, self-knowledge is generally based on their share elements with others who are close to them (Figure 1.2.1B). Thus, they define themselves mostly by relating to others.

Self-concept develops in an early stage of individual development. Starting from birth, mothers with different cultural backgrounds talk to their children differently. For example, Western mothers are more likely to focus on experiences and attributes about past events than Asian mothers (Leichtman et al. 2003). As a result of parenting and other environmental influences, the distinction between independent and interdependent selves shows at an early age in children. Hayward (2004) compared 5- and 6-year-old children from America and Japan and found that Japanese children scored higher on Collective Identity, Harm-Avoidance, and Social Closeness than American children in the Eder Self-View Questionnaire (Eder 1990). A similar study tested on preschool participants from Korea and the United States also confirmed that Korean culture fosters a relatively interdependent conception of the self (Ahn and Miller 2012).

Many self-related psychological processes are altered by our self-construal (Markus and Kitayama 2003). For example, previous results showed differences in self-related memory between independent and interdependent self. People from individualistic cultures usually hold better memory of information about the self than that about others. This is known as the self-reference effect (Klein et al. 1989). However, for the interdependent self, the advantage of self-related memory is much less significant (Conway et al. 2005; Markus and Kitayama 1991; Markus and Kitayama 2003). Westerners showed self-reference effect over close others such as mother and best friends in a trait memory task (Heatherton et al. 2006; Klein et al. 1989), whereas Chinese participants remembered equally well trait adjectives associated with the self and close others (Zhu and Zhang 2002). In another example, Wang and Conway (2004) studied cross-cultural differences in autobiographical memory. They found that European-American adults frequently focused on memories of personal experiences. Thus, people with independent self-construal place a great emphasis on their feelings and personal roles in memory events. In contrast, Chinese participants tended to describe memories of social and historical events. They focused more on social interactions and the roles of other people than the European-American participants. The result in autobiographical memories lends further support to the difference in memory related to independent-interdependent self-construal.

Moreover, the differences in self-representation are also reflected at a neural level. A series of recent studies on self-related tasks have shown different patterns of neural activation between people from individualistic and collectivistic cultures (Amodio and Frith 2006; Ames and Fiske 2010; Chiao et al. 2009, 2010; Zhu et al. 2007). Zhu et al. (2007) scanned two cultural groups (i.e., Westerners and Chinese) while they performed trait judgment tasks regarding themselves or a close other (i.e., their mother). Researchers contrasted trait judgments of the self and trait judgments of a public person to obtain a region of interest (ROI) related to the self, namely the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) and the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC). Previous studies showed that activation of mPFC would increase during the self-related task (e.g., Amodio and Frith 2006; Gusnard et al. 2001). Zhu et al. (2007) found that, for Chinese subjects trait judgments of themselves and their mothers both activated the mPFC compared to the trait judgment of a public person. In contrast, Western subjects' mPFC activation only increased during self-trait judgment, but not for mother-judgment or other-judgment. These findings provided the first neuroimaging evidence for cultural difference in self-related neural activity.

In another example, Chiao et al. (2009) scanned Caucasian Americans and Japanese while they made judgments of general trait descriptions or contextual self-descriptions. Moreover, they controlled each participant's degree of endorsement of independent and interdependent self-construals using the Self-Construal Scale (Singelis 1994). They found that people with individualist tendencies showed greater mPFC response while thinking of themselves in a general manner, whereas people with collectivist tendencies showed greater mPFC response while thinking of themselves in a relational manner. These results provided further evidence for the influence of cultural values on individuals' neural substrates underlying self-reflective thinking.

Some studies used face stimuli to investigate the differences in self-processing between Western Caucasians and East Asians. It has been proposed that self-face recognition (e.g., to recognise oneself in a mirror) is an indicator of high-level selfawareness (Keenan et al. 2000). Some authors hypothesised that people with independent self-contrual might assign more positive associations with their own face than to others' faces (Han 2013; Han and Northoff 2009). As a result, people with an individualist background might attend more to their own faces when presented amongst others' faces, and process their own faces more deeply (Sui and Han 2007; Sui et al. 2009). In contrast, as the East Asian emphasises social connections between the self and others, enhanced processing of one's own face may not be as strong compared to Westerners. For example, Sui & Han (2007) scanned Chinese subjects only while they performed an implicit face recognition task that required judgments of orientations of one' own face or a familiar face. Moreover, subjects were primed before the face recognition task with either independent or interdependent construals (Gardner et al. 1999) by marking independent (e.g., I, mine) or interdependent (e.g., we, ours) pronouns in an essay. They found that neural activity in the right middle frontal cortex increased when recognising their face, rather than familiar faces. Moreover, the right frontal activity differentiating between the self and familiar faces was enlarged by independent relative to interdependent self-construal priming. Increased right frontal activity was also associated with faster responses to their own face rather than familiar faces.

Furthermore, the same research group recorded event-related potentials from British and Chinese subjects while they judged head orientations of their own face or a familiar face (Sui et al. 2009). They observed faster responses to one's own face relative to the familiar face in both cultural groups. However, the self-advantage in behavioural performances was greater for British than for Chinese subjects. In addition, they found that one's own face elicited a larger negative activity at 280–340 ms over the frontal-central area (N2) relative to the familiar face in the British. In contrast, the Chinese showed reduced anterior N2 amplitude to their own face compared with the familiar face. Some evidence showed that frontal-central N2 component is sensitive to perceptual salience of stimuli (Folstein and Van Petten 2008). This is possibly associated with individuation and deeper processing of the face (Ito and Urland 2003; Kubota and Ito 2007). Thus, the authors suggested that the reverse pattern of the N2 in the cultural groups showed that independent selfconstrual endows their own face compared to familiar faces, and vice versa for interdependent self-construal. For people with interdependent self-construal, the properties of others contribute to a large portion of the self.

Brain mechanisms underlying self-investment in personal versus public choice have also been investigated. Park et al. (2012) tested a negative neural electric peak that occurs when an error is committed in a cognitive task (called error-related negativity or ERN). Evidence indicates that ERN increases as a function of motivational significance of the errors (Hajcak et al. 2005). In Park et al's (2012) experiment, immediately before each trial, participants were briefly exposed to a face prime (which is designed to induce an impression of being seen by others - the face-priming trials) or a control prime (the control trials). As predicted, Asians showed a greater ERN in the face-priming trials than in the control trials, but European Americans showed a reversed pattern, with a weaker ERN in the face-priming trials than in the control trials. Most importantly, the ERN magnitude in the witnessing-eyes priming condition was significantly correlated with self-reported levels of interdependence (versus independence) as assessed by the Singelis (1994) self-construal scale. In fact, the cultural difference in ERN in this condition was completely mediated by interdependent (versus independent) self-construal.

In summary, culture affects our internal self-related processing. People from individualistic cultures tend to develop an independent view of the self. In comparison, people sharing a collectivistic background tend to represent their self in an interdependent way. Different views of the self modulate how people process self-related information. Moreover, results illustrate that self-related neural activities are shaped by the construal of the self.

# **1.2.3 Understand Others: Theory of Mind and Empathy**

As social animals, human beings are adapted to understand each other in order to communicate and share information. We are capable of attributing others' mental states (e.g., intentions, desires and beliefs) in order to interpret and predict their behaviour. This is one of the fundamental social abilities, and is referred to as "theory of mind" (ToM) or "mentalising" (Premack and Woodruff 1978; Wellman et al. 2001; Wimmer and Perner 1983). However, culture influences the way we interpolate others' behaviour and emotion (Han and Northoff 2008; Nisbett and Miyamoto 2005). For example studies showed that Americans were inclined to explain murders and sports events respectively by invoking presumed traits, abilities, or other characteristics of the individual, whereas Chinese and Hong Kong citizens are more likely to explain the same events with reference to contextual factors, including historical ones (Lee et al. 1996; Morris and Peng 1994). In this section, I will discuss the differences between individualism and collectivism in understanding others.

The first important aspect of the ToM is how people make sense of others' actions. This question has been investigated for nearly fifty years, and one of the fundamental discoveries is that people tend to explain others' behaviour as arising from their internal factors (their characters or personality), while neglecting situational causality (Gilbert and Malone 1995; Jones and Harris 1967; Ross 1977). This has been referred to as the "correspondence bias" or "fundamental attribution error". However, most of the early attribution studies were based on observations of the Western Caucasian population. As discussed previously, people in this population share a similar independent self-construal. While they refer themselves more to internal elements, they might also rely more on internal factors to define other people. Instead, people from a collectivistic culture pay more attention to situational forces in explaining the causes of people's actions (Nisbet 2003). As a result they might show less bias of this attribution error.

Indeed, evidences suggested that this allegedly universal bias might be much more pronounced for Western Caucasians than for East Asians (Choi and Nisbett 1998; Morris and Peng 1994). Many studies indicate that Asians are inclined to explain other person's behaviour by regarding to the situational factors (Lee et al. 1996; Miller 1984; Morris and Peng 1994; Norenzayan et al. 2002). Such cultural attribution differences persist even when situational factors are extremely salient (Jones and Harris 1967). For example, situation salience manipulations bias East Asians' attributions much larger toward external factors, whereas Americans may still attribute behaviour to internal factors such as personality traits (Choi and Nisbett 1998; Masuda and Kitayama 2004). In addition, East Asians are more likely to believe that behaviour does not correspond to actual attitudes than Westerners (Kashima et al. 1992). These findings suggest that East Asians' views about the causes of behaviour and the importance of situational factors differ from those of Westerners.

Interestingly, these differences in attribution bias were not only limited in explaining real world scenarios and social behaviour. Studies showed that individualists and collectivists gave different explanations even for events involving animals and inanimate objects. For example, Morris and Peng (1994) showed participants animations of an individual fish moving in relation to a group of fish in various ways. Compared with the Chinese, American participants were more likely to see the behaviour of the individual fish as being produced by internal factors of that fish. However, as for Chinese participants, they were more inclined to see the behaviour of the individual fish as being produced by external factors, namely the other fish. Another study asked Chinese and American participants with no formal physics education to explain some ambiguous physical events (phenomena involving hydrodynamics, magnetism etc.). They found that Americans referred more to dispositional factors (e.g., weight) and less to contextual factors (e.g., a medium) than did Chinese (Peng and Knowles 2003).

Another aspect of the ToM is to understand that others' mental representation of the situation can be different from your own. One of the classical tasks to quantify this ability is the false-belief task (Wimmer and Perner 1983). In this task the participant is usually observed or read a story in the third-person view, then answer several questions relating to the internal perspectives of the people in the story. The ability to accomplish the false-belief task is one of the landmarks of children's cognitive development. Studies on Western Caucasians found that, four-year-old children are generally able to succeed at false-belief tasks, whereas 3-year-old children tend to fail (Baron-Cohen et al. 2000). This pattern has been hypothesised to be universal, regardless of culture (Wellman 1998). However, recent evidence has suggested wide variations in developmental timing across cultures (Chen and Lin 1994; Naito 2003;

Vinden 1996). For example, the onset of false-belief understanding in Hong Kong children appeared much later (in some cases up to 2 years) than in Caucasian children (Liu et al. 2008). Moreover, even when they answer correctly, children from collectivistic cultures give different justifications compared to ones with an individualistic background. Naito & Koyama (2006) found that Japanese children usually referred to social rules rather than the internal or personal reasons commonly given by children from Western cultures (e.g., Bartsch and Wellman 1989; Wimmer and Mayringer 1998). These results suggest that children across cultures understand theory of mind in different ways. While children from individualistic cultures attribute them to the situation and surroundings. As a result, children from collectivistic cultures might struggle more to understand that other people can interpret the circumstances differently than themselves.

Recently, studies using fMRI showed that cultural differences in Theory of Mind can further affect our neural activities. For example, Kobayashi et al. (2006, 2007) scanned participants from Japan and America while they were performing adapted versions of false-belief task. In the brain regions associated with theory of mind (e.g., Brunet et al. 2000, 2003; Ferstl and von Cramon 2002; Fletcher et al. 1995; Goel et al. 1995), they found a comparable neural activity between subjects from individualistic and collectivistic cultures in the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) and anterior cingulate cortex (ACC). However, another crucial brain region related to the ToM task, namely temporo-parietal junction (TPJ), showed a different activity in Japanese participants than those from individualistic cultures. They found that the TPJ activation was much lower in Japanese children and adults (Kobayashi et al. 2006, 2007). It has been shown that the TPJ is involved in distinguishing self-agency from other agencies (Blakemore and Frith 2003; Decety and Grèzes 2006; Decety and Lamm 2007; Jackson et al. 2006). For individualistic cultures that have a more selfother distinction of theory of mind, the TPJ might be more involved in the related processing (Kobayashi and Temple 2009). Therefore, the diminished activity in TPJ in Japanese children and adults might reflect a weakened sense of self-other distinction in Japanese culture (Han and Northoff 2008; Perner and Aichhorn 2008).

Han & Northoff (2008 & 2013) also proposed an alternative explanation of why judgments of mental states produced greater activation of TPJ in American than in

Japanese participants. The TPJ might have a role in integrating sensory modalities and limbic inputs (Moran et al. 1987). Moreover, Kobayashi et al. (2006) found: that 1) Americans showed greater activation in the right insula, which has been suggested to mediate the connection between the limbic system and frontal regions of the brain (Allman et al. 2005); 2) greater brain activity for the Japanese participants than the Americans in their right orbital frontal gyrus, which has been shown to be involved in emotional mentalising tasks (Moll et al. 2002). Therefore, Han & Northoff (2008 & 2013) have argued that attributing mental states to other people might require the integration of sensory modalities and limbic inputs more for people who grew up in an individualistic culture than for people who grew up in a collectivistic culture. In contrast, people from collectivistic cultures rely more on emotional mentalising. However, this interpretation contradicted the finding in the following study by Kobayashi et al. (2007). In the later study, Japanese children showed higher activation in the left anterior superior temporal sulcus and temporal pole than American children in a cartoon based ToM task. The temporal pole has been suggested to integrate sensory information and limbic inputs (Moran, Mufson, & Mesulam, 1987). The authors argued that Japanese children had to integrate sensory and limbic inputs more than American children to complete the task, which opposes the interpretation by Han & Northoff (2008 & 2013).

Another study using fMRI also reported both cultural consistency and diversity in the neural networks associated with performance in a Theory of Mind task. Adams et al. (2010) showed observers from America and Japan photographs of human face eye regions, and asked them to interpolate their corresponding mental states. This is known as the "Reading the Mind in the Eyes" test, a well-validated social-perceptual test of mental state reasoning and theory of mind (Baron-Cohen et al. 2001). In both groups of observers, greater bilateral posterior superior temporal sulci (pSTS) activation was shown in same-culture mental state decoding than in other-culture. They also found activation difference in right TPJ between the two cultural groups. Different from Kobayashi et al. (2007), they found overall stronger activity during the experiment task in the right TPJ for subjects from a collectivistic culture (i.e. Japan) than those from an individualistic culture (i.e. America). Although the tasks applied in these two studies are differences in TPJ.

Interestingly, TPJ may also be modulated by cultural values in the empathy task (Cheon et al. 2011; de Greck et al. 2012). Using fMRI, Cheon et al. (2011) measured the neural responses of Korean and American participants while they gave an empathy level rating to scenes of racial in-group or out-group members in emotional pain. Compared to Caucasian-Americans, Korean participants showed stronger ingroup biases in empathy behaviourally. Additionally, Koreans showed stronger neural responses within bilateral TPJ. Cheon et al. (2011) showed that larger in-group empathy bias was associated with larger neural response in these regions. However, for the empathy of anger, the TPJ activation shows an opposite pattern. One study found that Germans, compared to Chinese participants, showed stronger hemodynamic responses in the right TPJ to intentional empathy for anger than for baseline conditions (de Greck et al. 2012). These results suggest that the TPJ might have a general relationship with individualism-collectivism culture contrast, but how exactly it's modulated by culture values and the type of emotion still needs more investigation.

It is worth noting that in the same empathy study by de Greck et al. (2012), culture also modulates other brain regions. Participants from collectivistic cultures (i.e. China) showed stronger hemodynamic responses compared to those from individualistic culture (i.e. Germany) in the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC). Previous studies have reported the involvement of the DLPFC in emotion regulation and inhibition (MacDonald et al. 2000; Ochsner and Gross 2005; Ochsner et al. 2004; Shackman et al. 2009; Vanderhasselt et al. 2006). The larger left DLPFC activation of Chinese participants might reflect a higher suppression of anger-related feeling in collectivistic cultures. The authors also claimed to observe regions that were directly related to the level of interdependency/independency. They showed a larger BOLD signal in the right inferior temporal gyrus, right superior temporal gyrus, and left middle insula for the contrast of empathy with anger minus baseline in Germans than in Chinese subjects. Hemodynamic responses in these three brain regions negatively correlated with interdependences scores over all subjects acquired after the fMRI scan. However, it might not be appropriate to combine the two cultural groups together in the correlation analysis as they did. The percentage of signal changes in these three regions actually positively correlated with interdependences scores for Chinese participants (see Figure 3 in de Greck et al., 2012; however the authors didn't report the statistic of the correlation independently for each group of observer). The relationship between these brain areas and the level of interdependency/independency thus remains unresolved.

Overall, there are cultural differences in BOLD activation during interpolation of mental or emotional states of others. Most of the current studies have shown cultural diversity in the temporo-parietal junction (TPJ). However, the results among studies are inconsistent. Further examination is required to help identify the underlying social psychological differences between individualist and collectivist observers.

## **1.3 Culture Shapes Human Perception and Cognition**

#### Preamble

The effects of culture are not limited to social behaviour and other forms of high-level cognition. Under the theoretical framework of analytic vs. holistic cognitive styles, cultural differences in low level perception and cognition were supported by various behavioural and neuro-cognitive studies. However, such cognitive style frameworks can be restricted, given the current results on face perception. In this chapter, cultural differences in perception and cognition will be reviewed according to the stimuli and tasks applied in different studies. Interpretations are made under cognitive style theory and the information-tuning hypothesis.
Individuals from different cultures hold diverse values and beliefs. As discussed in the previous chapter, a body of research has led to a generalisation of two distinct cores of cultural values: individualism and collectivism. Furthermore, the cultural values we hold affect how we think of ourselves and interpret others' behaviour, and modulate the related neural activity. Similar investigation of how social environmental factors impact upon brain functioning has provided researchers with a new perspective, that high-level cognition and its neural architectures are not universal. In contrast, low-level perception and cognition and their neural substrates have been considered to be culturally independent. However, recent behavioural and neuroimaging data has fundamentally questioned these assumptions, highlighting the diversity of perceptual and cognitive processes across different cultures.

Indeed, behavioural and brain imaging results showed differences between individuals from Western and East Asian cultures on various cognitive domains. Mainly focused on visual perception, differences were found in: attention (Chua et al. 2005; Hedden et al. 2008; Ji et al. 2000), perception (Blais et al. 2008; Lynch et al. 1990; Lynch et al. 1991; Neuhaus 2003), categorization (Choi et al. 1997; Norenzayan et al. 2002), memory (Masuda and Nisbett 2001), logical reasoning (Norenzayan et al. 2002), change prediction (Ji et al. 2001), and tolerance of contradiction (Peng and Nisbett 1999).

Early theoretical frameworks introduced by Nisbett et al. (2001) suggested two different cognitive styles that directly link to the two distinct cultural values. People from individualistic cultures, such as those in America and Europe, develop an analytic processing bias. They tend to emphasise focal objects and thinking in a context-independent style. In contrast, in collectivistic cultures such as Japan, China, and Korea, people tend to broadly divide their attention to contextual or background features. They adapt a holistic reasoning style that focuses on the connections among objects or the relationship between an object and its context (Markus and Kitayama 1991; Nisbett et al. 2001; Triandis 1995). Importantly, different cognitive styles modulate the information we attend to, and further bias the way we perceive and make use of this information.

However, in the original work by Nisbett, as well as the follow up studies that investigated the contrast between analytic and holistic processing styles, the type of information being processed by different cultural observers was never actually quantified. Crucially, recent evidence on face perception has shown that, even though Western Caucasians (WCs) and East Asians (EAs) applied different eye movement strategies to face stimuli (face features), the information being perceived was actually the same (Caldara et al. 2010). It's debatable whether the perceptual and cognitive differences between individualism and collectivism should be described in terms of two distinctive cognitive styles, or as biases in perceptual/information gathering strategy.

In the following chapter, I will elaborate on the cultural differences in perception and cognition according to the stimuli and tasks which have been employed in vision studies. Some of these studies were originally conducted under the hypothesis of the analytic-holistic cognitive style. However I will discuss them under a broader framework, focusing on how our perception system is culturally tuned to different information.

## **1.3.1 Object and Scene**

Nisbett et al. (2003; 2005; 2001) suggested that one of the main differences between analytic and holistic processing style lies in the way people attend to objects and their surroundings (either other objects or the environment in general). Several behavioural studies have suggested that WCs focus on the focal object and its property within a scene, whereas EAs attend to the background/context or relationship between objects (Kitayama et al. 2003). Such cultural variation in visual perception is believed to occur because of the internalization of social information preferences (i.e., the emphasis of internal factor in individualistic culture and the emphasis of relationship in collectivistic culture; Gutchess et al. 2010; Kitayama et al. 2003).

Early studies in developmental psychology observed differences in parenting that might contribute to the formation of cultural perceptual differences. For example, when American mothers play with their children, they tend to direct the children's attention to objects and their properties ("see the truck; it has nice wheels"), whereas Japanese mothers emphasise feelings and relationships ("when you throw your truck, the wall says, 'ouch""). Moreover, American mothers label toys and point out their attributes more often than Japanese mothers do (Bornstein et al. 1990a; Bornstein et al. 1990b; Fernald and Morikawa 1993). By contrast, Japanese mothers tend to engage their infants in social routines more than American mothers. Thus, the perceptual differences observed in adults between different cultures might originate from the early experiences of the everyday environment.

A number of attempts have been made to assess attentional differences between Western Caucasian and East Asian in object and/or scene perception. For example, in an early study Masuda and Nisbett (2001) first showed short animated video clips of underwater scenes to Japanese and American participants, then recorded their verbal descriptions of the videos. American subjects tended to begin by describing the most salient object, whereas Japanese participants were more likely to first outline the context. Japanese subjects also reported more background details than Americans. The same objects from the clips were then presented to the participants in a separate session, but with one of the following backgrounds: the original, a new background, or no background at all. Results showed that background manipulation affected the performance of Japanese but not American participants. Similar results were shown when the experimenters presented previously seen real-world objects to the subjects. Japanese were less likely than Americans to correctly recognise the object if it was presented in a different context. Moreover, in later work, Masuda & Nisbett (2006) reported that EAs were more likely than WCs to detect changes in contextual information within a scene in a change blindness paradigm.

However, the bias towards object or background between WC and EA observers is not well supported by eye movement evidence. Some studies showed a cultural difference in fixation number and fixation duration between WCs and EAs while they were viewing scene stimuli with objects inside (Chua et al. 2005; Goh et al. 2009; Masuda et al. 2008a). Chua et al. (2005) showed that Americans spent a greater proportion of viewing time on objects relative to backgrounds than Chinese participants. Although the fixations that landed on objects generally lasted longer than those which landed on the background, the contrast between the two was larger for American participants than for Chinese participants. (However, as shown in Chua, Boland, & Nisbett, 2005 figure 3c, the overall fixation duration of American participants was longer than the Chinese. They should have compared the relative contrast instead of the absolute contrast). In addition, while the number of object fixations was similar in both groups, the Chinese made more background fixations than Americans. A similar result by Goh et al. (2009) also found that Americans mainly fixated on the foreground object in a picture, whereas East Asians shift their gaze between the foreground object and the background constantly. However, other studies report little or no difference between the two cultures (Evans et al. 2009; Miellet et al. 2010; Rayner et al. 2009; Rayner et al. 2007). For example, a direct replication of Chua et al. (2005) did not find any difference between the two cultural groups (Evans et al., 2009). In another study, experimenters showed participants scenes consisting of several identifiable objects. They found no differences between Westerners' and East Asians' eye movements (Rayner et al., 2007). Similarly, Rayner et al. (2009) showed Americans and Chinese the same photographic scenes, containing either a usual or highly unusual object. Even though there were differences between the scan path deployed to explore normal and unusual versions of the scenes, no cultural difference was found. They reported that eye movements were quickly drawn to highly unusual aspects of a scene in a similar way in both groups of observers. Recently, Millet et al. (2010) applied a gaze-contingent technique to dynamically mask central vision (i.e. Blindspot) during a visual search task of animals in natural scenes. Both groups of observers showed comparable animal identification performance, which decreased as a function of the Blindspot sizes (0°, 2°, 5°, or 8°). Dynamic analysis of the exploration pathways revealed identical oculomotor strategies for both groups of observers during animal search in scenes. The result showed that culture does not impact on extrafoveal information use during a visual search. It is worth noting that the coupling between fixated and processed information is not perfect (concepts of overt vs. covert attention, see Posner 1980). WC and EA observers might use the same eye movement strategies, but extract different information from the environment, or vice versa (see Blais et al. 2008; Kelly et al. 2010; Kita et al. 2010; Rodger et al. 2010 in the case of face stimuli). Thus, the cultural modulations of eye movement in object and scene perception still remain unresolved.

Despite the inconclusive results in eye movement, fMRI studies showed that the attentional bias towards objects for individualism affect neural activity within the visual cortex. For example, Gutchess et al (2006) showed American and East Asian participants pictures of an object alone, scenes without an object or an object within a meaningful scene. Overall they found that Americans showed greater activation in object-processing regions than East Asians. The activation differences were shown in the ventral visual cortex, as well as in areas associated with semantic processing of objects (i.e. bilateral middle temporal, right superior temporal, and left superior parietal regions). However, they did not deploy any precise measurement to identify the brain area related to object or scene processing (i.e. a standard region of interest localizer of LOC or PPA). Instead, they created two masks by contrasting the objectonly and scene-only trials, and compared the activation of subject viewing combined pictures (stimuli containing both object and background) within these two masks. Although the authors suggested that their approach increases sensitivity in detecting cultural differences, and has advantages over defining regions of interest a priori by using the whole brain as the initial search space, the appropriateness of such a method is arguable (Han and Northoff 2008).

In another study, Goh et al. (2007) employed a fMRI adaptation paradigm to evaluate how culture shapes the object-processing related brain area as a function of age. They presented images composed of objects and scenes with changes of object, scene, or both. Previous work demonstrated that attention modulates the adaptation effects in the ventral visual processing stream. Larger adaptation might indicate better functional integrity than weak or absent adaptation (Chee et al. 2006; Chee and Tan 2007; Eger et al. 2004; Murray and Wojciulik 2003; Yi and Chun 2005). Goh et al. (2007) thus hypothesised that due to prolonged exposure to an object-biased culture, elderly WCs would engage more during object-processing than elderly EAs, resulting in a larger adaptation effect in the correlated brain regions. In contrast, elderly EAs would show more adaptation effect in their background-processing areas than elderly WCs. Contradictory to this hypothesis, background processing was relatively similar across both age and culture. Specifically, the parahippocampal place area (PPA) showed nearly equivalent activation and adaptation magnitude across all conditions. However, the lateral occipital complex (LOC), indexed as an objectprocessing region (Grill-Spector et al. 2001; Grill-Spector et al. 1999; Grill-Spector et al. 1998), showed an Age x Culture interaction. The BOLD responses in bilateral LOC were generally less in older adults than younger adults. Moreover, the elderly WCs showed significantly larger object-processing adaptation than did elderly EAs, suggesting that neural sensitivity to object processing might decline with age disproportionately in EAs. However, they only observed Age x Culture interaction over the right LOC. Nonetheless, this finding demonstrates that the perceptual bias towards objects might accumulate through experience. More efficient object processing (represented by more adaptation effect within object-related regions) in individualism than collectivism becomes even more distinctive with age (Miyamoto et al. 2006; Nisbett and Masuda 2003; Nisbett et al. 2001).

In a subsequent study adapting a similar adaptation paradigm, Jenkins et al. (2010) investigated culture-modulated attention bias by presenting participants with incongruent scenes. The incongruent scenes were created by placing an object against a background where it would not commonly be found (e.g., a cow in a kitchen). Since observers from a collectivistic culture would attend to the relationship between an object and its background, an incongruent scene would attract their attention more than a congruent scene. For Chinese participants only, Jenkins et al. found that neural activity in the bilateral occipital cortex showed significantly larger adaptation to incongruent scenes than to congruent scenes. This indicates greater engagement with object processing in Chinese participants when the objects appear in incongruent contexts. The author suggested that,

Chinese participants, sensitive to the context in which an object is embedded, pay more attention to that object when the context is semantically inconsistent. American participants, in contrast, are less likely to pay attention to an object that violates normal semantic relationships.

The attentional bias to incongruent information for collectivism observers has also been observed in one ERP study (Goto et al. 2010). Participants were presented first with a background picture (e.g., a car park). Then, a semantically congruent or incongruent object was shown superimposed upon the background (e.g., a car or a crab). They found that a negative ERP component peaking at about 400 ms after stimulus onset (N400) was affected by culture. For East Asian American observers, the N400 amplitude was larger when the target object was presented on a semantically incongruent background than a congruent background. Such amplitude difference was not shown by European or American participants. Moreover, they also found that higher N400 magnitude difference between conditions was associated with lower independent self-construal scores across all the subjects. It has been suggested that N400 amplitude is sensitive to semantic relationship processing (Kutas and Hillyard 1984). Asian Americans might be more prone to detecting the incongruity than Europeans or Americans due to their relative sensitivity to context. This result further supports the behavioural observation that collectivism is biased more towards the relationships between an object and its background.

The cultural attentional bias towards objects or relationships between objects further shape how we make use of this information. When they are asked to categorise different objects together, WC observers tend to classify them on the basis of rules and properties, whereas EAs tend to classify on the basis of similarity and relationships. For example, Chiu (1972) asked American and Chinese children to group two of three different items together (e.g., a man, a woman, and a baby). He found that American children were much more likely to group objects on a "categorical" basis than Chinese children. They put the man and the woman together "because they are both adults". In contrast, Chinese children were more "relationalcontextual". They grouped together a woman and a baby "because the mother takes care of the baby". Similar results were shown in adult subjects across various tests (Gutchess et al. 2006; Ji et al. 2004; Unsworth et al. 2005). For example, Norenzayan et al. (2002) showed participants two groups of animated objects and asked them to classify the target object in one of the groups (see Figure 1.3.1 as an example). EAs were inclined to think that the object was more similar to the group with which it shared a family resemblance (i.e. to the group on the right in Figure 1.3.1), whereas Europeans and Americans were more likely to regard the object as similar to the group to which it could be assigned by application of the rule (i.e. to the group on the left in Figure 1.3.1 as they all have the same topmost string).



Figure 1.3.1, Examples of stimuli used in Norenzayan et al. (2002). The target object bears a strong family resemblance to the group of objects on the right, but there is a rule that allows placing the object in the group on the left (the style of the topmost string).

Studies using fMRI found differences in the brain activities related to the two categorical strategies at a semantic level. Gutchess et al. (2010) asked WC and EA participants to match two words out of three words either following the "category" rule or the "relationship" rule. For example, participants were presented with word triplets "panda-banana-monkey". In the "category" condition, participants selected two words that belonged to the same category (e.g. panda and monkey). In the "relationship" condition, participants selected the two words that shared a functional relationship (e.g. monkey and banana). An extensive network including frontal, temporal and parietal regions were activated in both groups of observers in both tasks. Moreover, EA observers showed stronger activations in the right angular gyrus and the right middle frontal gyrus in both tasks than WCs. As comparison, the right cingulate gyrus is more activated in WCs compare to EAs in category tasks. The authors suggested that, EA observers engaged more top-down controlled processes

to inhibit irrelevant information and select one strategy from the other. This resulted in stronger frontal-parietal network activation (Collette et al. 2005; Corbetta and Shulman 2002; Wager and Smith 2003). As for WC participants, they engaged more in solving the semantic conflict among word pairs rather than selecting an appropriate strategy. This activated the brain regions related to semantic information processing, such as temporal lobe regions and the cingulate gyrus (Copland et al. 2007; Lambon Ralph et al. 2009; Sass et al. 2009). Although Gutchess et al. (2010) did not find any special neural tuning direct link to a culturally preferred task (i.e. the category task for WCs and the relationship task for EAs), the results showed that culture affects participants' neural activation during categorisation.

Overall, the results from both behavioural and brain-imaging showed differences between individualism and collectivism in object/scene related processing. While WCs showed attentional and perceptual bias towards focal objects, EAs usually perceive more information from the background, the relationship among objects, and the connection between objects and background (Nisbett et al. 2001; Nisbett and Masuda 2003). These biases further affect our brain activities, sometimes possibly even leading to two completely different neural mechanisms processing related information. It also suggests the possibility of two diverse information-binding strategies for WCs and EAs. For observers from WC culture, they are better at decoding local information. In contrast, EA observers are better at global information processing (Nisbett et al. 2001; Nisbett and Masuda 2003).

## **1.3.2** Face and Emotional Face

The ability to recognise faces and facial emotions is a crucial skill for effective social interaction. The early literature suggested a systematic and universal eye movement strategy employed by adults to extract facial information. As revealed in the seminal work by Yarbus (1961), human beings make fixations to the eye and mouth regions while viewing faces; overt visual attention directs our eyes toward these desired visual locations. Since then, eye movement studies have consistently shown a similar triangular scan-path in face processing, with dominance given to the eyes (e.g., Althoff and Cohen 1999; Groner et al. 1984; Henderson et al. 2005). However, these previous findings were based on a sample of adults from WC cultures only. Thus, whether human beings deploy a universal eye movement strategy to encode and recognize faces remains uncertain.

To resolve this question, our lab (Blais et al. 2008) recorded the eye movement of both WC and EA observers while they were performing various face related tasks. Moreover, to properly estimate the differences in fixation patterns, we developed a data-driven eye-tracking data analysis method that does not require pre-defined regions of interest (i.e. *iMap*, see chapter 1.5.1 for details). Consistent with previous findings, we showed an eye-mouth fixation bias for WC observers. However, compared to WCs, EA participants directed their fixations more to the central area of the face (see Figure 1.3.2 first row). Both WC and EA subjects showed comparable behaviour performance. Divergent scan patterns deployed by different cultural observers were consistent across tasks (i.e. learning, recognition, and categorisation) and not affected by the race of the face being observed (i.e. Caucasian or Asian faces).

Follow up studies from our lab and other independent research groups around the world further confirmed the differential oculomotor patterns during face processing between individualistic and collectivistic cultural observers (Caldara et al. 2010; Kelly et al. 2010; Kita et al. 2010; Miellet et al. 2013; Rodger et al. 2010). Such fixational biases seem to arise as early as 7 years old in development (Kelly et al. 2011b) and persist for second-generation immigrants from an Eastern to a Western country (Kelly et al. 2011a). Interestingly, the same differences were observed for inverted faces (Rodger et al. 2010) and extended to visually homogeneous objects like animal

faces or greebles (Kelly et al. 2010). See Figure 1.3.2 for a summary of the representative results.

During eye fixation, sharp central vision from the fovea centralis samples the maximum acuity of information for visual processing. Due to the fact that the eyes and mouth contain the most diagnostic information of the human face (Davies et al. 1977; Gosselin and Schyns 2001; Rowley et al. 1998; Viola and Jones 2004), it is puzzling how EA observers recognize faces by fixating on a redundant facial feature (i.e., the center of the face). To address this issue, Caldara et al. (2010) applied a gazecontingent paradigm that limits the extra-foveal information. In this experiment, Gaussian apertures ("Spotlights") actively centred on participants' fixations while they were exploring a face. In the condition of 2° visual angle (foveal vision only) and 5° (extra-foveal vision largely limited), the Spotlight only covered a small area of facial features. For example, the eyes and the mouth were not visible when participants were fixating on the nose in these two conditions. However in 8° condition, both eyes and mouth were available when participants fixated on the nose. As a result, the center fixation strategy for EA observers disappeared in both the 2° and 5° conditions. Instead, they looked at the eyes and mouth in a similar manner to WC observers. In the 8° condition in which extra-foveal information was available, EA observers reverted to their preferred center fixation strategy. These results suggest that despite cultural variance in eye movements, WC and EA observers universally rely on similar facial information to recognise faces. Importantly, WCs preferentially sample foveally the diagnostic features in natural vision, whereas EA observers rely preferentially on extrafoveally extracted diagnostic features (eyes/mouth) sampled from central fixation locations (on the center of the face). However, both eye movement strategies can efficiently obtain information from facial features (i.e. eyes and mouth).



Figure 1.3.2, Upper panel: Fixation biases for WC and EA participants during natural vision or conditions equivalent to natural vision in previous studies. Lower panel: Spotlight (Caldara et al., 2010) and Blindspot's (Miellet et al., 2012) results revealing the abolition of the culture-preferred fixation strategy when the available visual information is restricted. Adapted from Miellet et al. (2012) with permission.

The results also showed that the culturally shaped eye movement pattern we deploy during face recognition is also highly flexible. Similar conclusions were reached with another gaze-contingent technique. Miellet et al. (2012) used a moving mask (i.e. *Blindspot*), which forced the participant to use extra-foveal visual information. The size of the mask was also parametrically manipulated (0° = natural vision, 2°, 5°, and 8° of visual angle). The results showed that the cultural fixational biases of faces were abolished by the size of the mask. In the larger *Blindspot* conditions, WC abandoned their usual triangular fixation strategy and shifted toward the typical EA central fixation pattern. Instead, EA observers were insensitive to the *Blindspot* manipulations.

To precisely quantify the foveal and extra-foveal information sampled from different cultural eye movement strategies, Miellet et al. (2013) developed another gazecontingent technique similar to *Spotlight*. Instead of a fixed size Gaussian window, the *Spotlight* aperture expanded with time (1° every 25ms). Moreover, information outside of the *Spotlight* was replaced with an average face template to allow saccade programming without providing useful information for the experiment task. Therefore, participants would remain fixated on the same location until they obtained enough foveal and extra-foveal information for the task at hand. Consistent with the previous result, WCs fixated more on the eyes whereas EAs were significantly biased towards the center of the face. Importantly, Miellet et al. (2013) employed a retinal filter based on spatial frequencies decomposition, and reconstructed the visual information available in the stimulus according to the fixation pattern of each group of observers. The analysis showed that WC observers relied on local high-spatial-frequency information from the same facial features (Figure 1.3.3).

Overall, these gaze-contingent studies (i.e. *Spotlight, Blindspot, Expanding Spotlight*) further supported the notion that people from collectivistic cultures developed different eye movement strategies compared to people from individualistic cultures. Human beings flexibly engage in *local* or *global* eye movement strategies and constantly adjust them in adapt to constrained visual situations (*Spotlight & Blindspot* result). Moreover, cultural-biased eye movement strategies extract information from the same facial features (*Spotlight & Blindspot* result). However, the spatially filtered

information obtained from different strategies is culturally tuned (*Expanding Spotlight* result).

The information sampling and eye movement strategy differences among cultures also expand to categorization of facial expressions of emotions (e.g., Jack et al. 2009; Kelly et al. 2011a). The universality of facial expression has been questioned by various behavioural studies (e.g., Biehl et al. 1997; Ekman et al. 1987; Ekman et al. 1969; Matsumoto 1992; Matsumoto and Ekman 1989; Moriguchi et al. 2005). For example, Russell et al. (1993) reported that Japanese individuals often mistake fearful faces for surprised faces. Similarly, Jack et al. (2009) showed that EA observers preformed significantly worse in recognizing "fear" and "disgust". Moreover, using eye tracking and a model information sampler, Jack et al. (2009) showed that EA observers systematically biased their fixations towards the eye region and sampled information that is highly ambiguous for distinguishing between certain expressions (i.e., "fear" and "surprise"; "disgust" and "anger"). EA observers mainly involved the eye region but not the mouth as diagnostic for facial expression categorization. The internal representation of facial expressions might be different for EA and WC observers.

Information revealed from fixations on eyes and mouth







WC observers

EA observers



EA observers

WC observers

Figure 1.3.3, Upper panel: information reconstruction based on spatial-frequency decomposition. White area shows the available information on different facial fixation locations from the retinal filter. The size of the Gaussian aperture is determined by the expansion velocity of the Spotlight and the average fixation duration in the corresponding significant area. Lower pane: Information span for the global (EA) and local (WC) strategies. Adapted from Miellet et al. (2013) with permission.

Using reverse correlation, Jack et al. (2012a; 2012b) further estimate the culturalspecific internal representations of the basic facial expressions of emotion. For example, Jack et al. (2012a) presented neutral faces with white noise to WC and EA observers. Participants categorized the faces into one of the six basic facial expressions of emotion (i.e., happy, surprise, fear, disgust, anger and sad). According to their behavioural response, they averaged the noise templates to reconstruct the internal representation of each emotion expression. Indeed, the internal representations of facial expressions are very different between WC and EA observers. While the eyebrows and mouth were primarily featured in the WC representations, the EA representations of emotion expressions are mainly constructed only with the information from the eve region. Moreover, the result showed that the gaze direction is also an important feature of the EA internal facial expression templates. In a later study following the same logic, Jack et al. (2012b) presented participants computer generated three-dimensional facial animation of random facial movements and asked them to interpreted them into a meaningful facial expression. The facial movements were comprised by stimulation of random face muscle movements. Using dissimilarity matrices and cluster analysis, they showed that WC and EA rely on different facial movements to categorize emotion expressions. While WCs represent each of the six basic emotions with a distinct set of facial movements, the clusters of EAs' representation often overlap particularly for "surprise", "fear", "disgust", and "anger". Moreover, EA observers judged emotion intensity primarily according to the early muscle movements around the eyes, whereas WC judged emotional intensity with other parts of the face.

For observers from collectivist cultures, their facial expression perception is highly influenced by the social and environmental factors. For example, they tended to bias their categorization responses toward less socially threatening emotions (e.g., perceive "fear" as "surprise"; see Jack et al. 2009; Moriguchi et al. 2005). Using cartoon face, Masuda et al. (2008b) showed that Japanese observers' perception of facial emotion was influenced by the surrounding faces, but not Westerners'. In another example, Goto et al. (2013) presented emotional faces superimposed on top of affective scenes in an ERP experiment. Asian Americans showed greater N400 response to incongruent trials (e.g., positive emotion face superimposed upon a negative scene) than to congruent trials, whereas no difference in amplitude across the two conditions is observed in European Americans.

Overall, culture biases the information we sample from face stimuli for identity recognition and emotion recognition. However, it is worth noting that face perception system is not solely sculpting by culture (Pascalis et al 2002; 2005). None the less, people from different cultures tend to rely on diverse spatial frequency information for face identification, and different spatial/temporal information for emotion expression task. These differences affect our eye movement strategy, behavioural performance and even our brain activities.

## **1.3.3** Non-cultural Stimuli and Other Cognitive Tasks

The cultural bias in perception and cognition even expands to low-level, culture-free abstract visual stimuli. One of the first evidences is demonstrated by Ji et al. (2000). They presented WCs and EAs with the rod-and-frame test (RFT), designed by Witkin and colleagues to assess the differences between field-independent and field-dependent (Witkin 1967; Witkin and Berry 1975; Witkin and Goodenough 1977). The concept of field dependence was developed by Witkin (1967) as an index of cognitive style. On one extreme (i.e., field-independent), observers tend to separate the target from the environment (i.e., field). Observers whom are in the other extreme, defined as field-dependent, incline to see the world as a whole. In the RFT task, a rod or line appears in a frame, which can be rotated independently from the rod. Participants were asked to judge when the rod appeared to be vertical but ignore the position of the frame. EA participants made more errors in this task than WC participants. The researchers interpreted it as a result of the difficulty to separate the rod from the whole field for EA observers (i.e., EAs are more field dependent).

Based on the RFT, Kitayama et al (2003) developed the Framed-Line Test (FLT). In this test, the stimulus was a vertical line within a square frame. After viewing the initial stimulus, participants were then shown a same or different size square frame and asked to draw a line within the frame. In the absolute task they were asked to draw a line the same length as the previous line; in the relative task the line being drawn was proportionate to the height of the surrounding frame. The results showed that observers from a collectivistic culture (i.e., Japan) performed better in the relative task, whereas those from an individualistic culture (i.e., America) were more accurate in the absolute task. However, Zhou et al. (2008) attempted to replicate the FLT in China and USA but without success. They showed that people estimated a line's relative length more accurately than its absolute length, regardless of culture.

Nonetheless, Hedden et al. (2008) deployed a modified FLT to test in two groups of observers and showed cultural differences in neural activities. Participants were presented with a series of stimuli, each consisting of a vertical line inside a box. The context-dependent task required judgments of whether the box and line combination of each stimulus matched the proportional scaling of the preceding combination. The context-independent judgment task required judgments of whether the current line matched the previous line, regardless of the size of the accompanying box. Hedden et al. (2008) found no difference in accuracy between the two tasks for either group of participants. However, the fMRI results showed an interaction of culture in the prefrontal and parietal cortices. Specifically, BOLD responses were higher in these areas during context-dependent than context-independent tasks for WCs, whereas EAs exhibited stronger activity in the same areas during the context-independent than context-dependent tasks. The opposite patterns of neural activity might reflects the enhanced sustained attentional control during culturally non-preferred tasks in comparison with preferred tasks (Hedden et al. 2008).

Stronger neural activation of the attention network during culturally non-preferred tasks was also evidenced in another fMRI study. Goh et al. (2013) asked participants to judge the related distances between a dot and a line during scanning sessions. This is a visuospatial judgment task involving relative contextual judgments, which are typically more challenging for Westerners. Behavioural results showed that WCs responses were slower than EAs. They also showed greater neural engagement compared to EAs in frontal, parietal, and occipital areas, as a result of the greater difficulty of the task. Moreover, WC observers also showed greater suppression of the default network, a brain network that is suppressed under conditions of high cognitive challenge. This study supplied further neural evidence that attention control during visual tasks is modulated by culture. Besides the activation in frontoparietal regions, the suppression in default network regions was also affected by culture during tasks.

The results from RFT and FLT suggested EAs are more influenced by information from their surroundings than WCs. Nisbett et al. (2001) proposed that observers from collectivistic cultures are field-dependent, whereas individualistic cultural observers are field-independent (see also Ji et al. 2000; Norenzayan and Nisbett 2000). Fielddependence is defined as a relative difficulty in separating objects from the context where they are located (Witkin et al. 1962). It closely relates to the contextdependent attentional bias. Eye movement study investigating the distractor effect on saccade trajectories (Doyle and Walker 2001) also showed similar cultural bias (Petrova et al. 2013). When a distractor was presented, Chinese participants showed stronger curvature away in saccade trajectories than German participants (Petrova et al. 2013). This suggested that observers from a collectivistic culture exhibited stronger suppression of their attention towards distractors than those from an individualistic culture (Godijn and Theeuwes 2004; McSorley et al. 2004; Theeuwes and Van der Stigchel 2009; Tipper et al. 2001; Van der Stigchel and Theeuwes 2007).

One study using Navon stimuli attempted to directly quantify such contextual/global attention bias for collectivistic cultural observers. A Navon figure (e.g., large E made up of small Vs) is used as a standard stimulus in the attention literature to investigate global versus local attention bias. McKone et al. (2010) showed participants from different cultures Navon figures, and found that EA observers demonstrated a strong advantage over WCs.

Broad attention towards the surroundings might result from a better extra-fovea vision. For example, Boduroglu et al. (2009) asked observers from WC and EA culture to detect colour changes in a set of moving blocks. They found that EA participants were better than WCs when the layout of the blocks was expanded to the periphery of a scene, and worse when it is shrunk. Instead, WCs detected central colour changes most effectively. This result suggests more efficient parafoveal vision in EAs (Boduroglu et al. 2009).

Cultural attention bias has also been observed in electroencephalography signals. For instance, Lewis et al. (2008) used an ERP oddball paradigm to investigate the EEG activity of Europeans, Americans and Asian Americans to novel stimuli. Compared to European Americans, Asian Americans showed greater amplitude on the P3 component, which has been consistently associated to novelty detection (Debener et al. 2005; Ranganath and Rainer 2003). Taken in conjunction with the aforementioned behavioural findings (i.e. greater attention to contextual details for EAs), these results suggest that relative to European Americans, Asian Americans, Asian Americans are more surprised when presented with a novel stimulus, presumably as a consequence of processing perceptually discrepant events to a greater extent.

In summary, culture shapes our visual experience. Even when the visual system is receiving identical input from the physical world, how the brain processes these input signal is influenced by cultural experiences. More importantly, these biases are likely adapted from the selective attention to different real world elements, and further merge into specific cultural perceptual tuning of different information. Indeed, much like real world stimuli could be decomposed into substances such as different categories of objects (including faces) and context information: certain abstract stimuli could be considered as constructed by smaller modules (e.g., features) or components (e.g., spatial information) in a similar way. Thus, culture shapes the human visual perception by regulating the information weighting to different components and the way these components interact with each other.

### 1.4 The Purpose of This Thesis

As shown in the previous chapter, a number of studies have showed systematic differences between East Asian and Western Caucasian observers in low-level perception and cognition. Culture affects how people are biased towards different information, which further modifies the correspondent brain areas. However, when and how culture influences the perceptual experience is yet to be clarified. Interpretation based on analytic-holistic cognitive tendency framework suggests that such bias is driven by attention to various kinds of information. Such hypotheses have suggested that culture diversity appears at an early perceptual stage. For example, selected visual information could be filtered by a top down effect depending on the culture of the observer. However, such perceptual selectivity and its neural correlate have never been directly observed with high temporal resolution methods. For example in the two studies using EEG, the cultural modifications seem to happen only in the later cognitive stages. It is worth noting that the limitation of the tasks should also be considered. The majority of the current cross-culture studies applied stimuli which are highly dissimilar in low-level visual properties (Petrova et al. 2013). Experiments only manipulated on the semantic level are unlikely to reveal any early effect (e.g., Goto et al. 2010).

Therefore, in this thesis, I aim to investigate the temporal modification effect of culture. I conducted three experiments with two highly sophisticated techniques that provided accurate temporal resolution: fixational eye movement and event-related potential. Stimuli were spatially normalized faces and Navon figures, which control for the information content.

The first study uses fixational eye movement to assess when different cultural observers actively explore new facial information through microsaccades. Different facial locations were aligned with the fovea while presented during eye movement recording. Recent evidence shows that microsaccades relocate the gaze towards the spatial location of interest (e.g., Ko et al. 2010; Rucci et al. 2007). If the fixation strategy differences between East Asians and Western Caucasians are indeed driven by the visual tuning to different spatial frequency information, Western Caucasian observers should exhibit better facial recognition ability after microsaccades compare to East Asian observers.

The second study examined the electrophysiological response associated with the cultural fixational bias. Following the result in the first experiment, this study adopted a similar paradigm. Face stimuli were presented briefly on the screen during EEG recording to simulate a single fixation. Given that observers perceive different information in each facial position, this experiment directly assessed when the ERP response is sensitive to eye movement strategies. Belief presentation of face stimuli on preferred face viewing location should improve the behavioural response of face recognition, and further reflect in early ERP time-window especially N170.

The third and final study makes use of adaptation with Navon stimuli in EEG measurement. Adaptation (i.e., repetition suppression) is a well-established paradigm to evaluate the nature of information coding at the perceptual and neurophysiological levels. With Navon figures that control for local and global information, this study investigated when differential levels of repetition suppression (and thus sensitivity) across types of information in according to different cultures. Following the attention account of the early perceptual difference between WC and EA observers, different manipulations of local and global information should modulate the early attention-related ERP component (e.g., P1).

## 1.5 Methods

# 1.5.1 Eye Tracking

Eye tracking is a methodology to study oculomotor behaviour. As the most important organ of the human visual system, our eyes are never static. Human eyes are constantly moving to the most interesting location of the visual world. Benefiting from the optic properties of the eyeball, the visual world can be projected onto the retina in the surface inside the eye (Atchison and Smith 2000). The energy and information in the light is then converted into electrical and chemical signals by photoreceptor cells (i.e., rods and cones). Due to the differences in neurophysiological properties between the two and their respective distribution in the retina, the spatial resolution is not the same across retina location (Rvan et al. 2012). The fovea, which contains densely packed cones, is responsible for sharp central vision with maximum visual acuity (See Figure 1.5.1). However, central foveal vision covers only a very small portion of the entire visual field (normally subtends 2° of visual angle). To overcome such constraints, the human eyes are in constant motion to reposition the fovea to different part of the visual world (Duchowski 2007; Rayner 1998). By combining different characteristic eye movement measures (such as gaze location, fixation duration and saccade direction) with behavior or other psychophysiology measurements, vision scientists can infer what type of visual information is being perceived by the tested human observers.



Figure 1.5.1, The relative acuity of the left human eye (horizontal section) in degrees from the fovea. Adapted from Hunziker (2006).

Different eye tracking techniques have been developed over the last 70 years since the first modern eye movement experiment was conducted (Buswell 1935). Three main eye tracking approaches are widely applied: Electro-OculoGraphy (EOG), scleral contact lens/search coil, and video-based eye-tracker (Duchowski 2007). A videobased eye tracker that combines pupil and corneal reflection is the most popular method, for its non-invasiveness and inexpensiveness. In a common video-based eye tracker setup, an infrared / near-infrared light source is placed at some fixed position to create stable corneal reflections. A video camera or specially designed optical sensor then records the position of the corneal reflection and the center of the pupil. The vector between the corneal reflection and the center of the pupil is computed to extract the differences in eye rotations. After a simple calibration, the changes in eye orientations can be transforming into gaze location on the screen. Although such two point references on the eye can separate eye movements from small head movements quite efficiently, head stabilisation is usually required by putting the participants on a head/chin rest or a bite bar.

Eye movement studies generate a large quantity of data with a combination of spatial and temporal information. The raw signal is characterised into different meaningful events: blinks, fixations, saccades/microsaccades, pupil dilation, smooth pursuits, etc. For most computer-based psychophysiological studies, fixations and saccades are the main variables of interest. Fixations are relatively static eye movements that stabilize the fovea over a small area of the visual environment. Approximately 90% of viewing time is devoted to fixations (Duchowski 2007; Irwin 2004). Saccades are rapid eye movements that reposition the fixation to a new location. The categorisation of eye movement events is usually established by velocity of the gaze location changes. The velocity of the signal is compared to an empirical threshold. Fixations are then defined as eye movement below the threshold, whereas saccades are defined otherwise.

Different properties of eye movement events are then analyzed depending on the research hypothesis. Vision researchers usually perform statistic analysis on the fixation location and duration. As for saccades/microsaccades, the latency, amplitude, curvature, orientation, and occurrence over time are the common dependent variables in eye movement studies.

Conventional fixation analysis uses a region or area-of-interest (ROI or AOI) approach. In such an approach, statistical testing is only carried out on the eye movement data within the predefined areas in the stimulus space. For example, the number of fixations or the mean fixation duration within the region is tested across conditions. Unless the visual input can be divided into clear, unambiguous discrete units, like in the case of reading, segmenting visual inputs into ROIs can be constrained by subjective evaluations (Caldara and Miellet 2011). Such bias and inconsistency in defining ROI compromise the potential to replicate findings across studies. Moreover, in some cases researchers define post hoc ROIs according to the actual data. Such usage of the same dataset for both selection and statistic analysis is inappropriate and runs the risk of "double dipping" (sees Kriegeskorte et al. 2009). To overcome these limitations, our lab has recently introduced a novel, robust, datadriven technique that does not require the a priori segmentation of digital images used as stimuli into ROIs: *iMap* (Caldara and Miellet 2011). *iMap* is a data-driven spatial analysis application originally based on statistic applications such as statistical parametric mapping (image statistic with spatial smoothing using Gaussian Kernel). Further details can be found in Caldara & Miellet (2011)and perso.unifr.ch/roberto.caldara/index.php?page=3

# 1.5.2 Electroencephalogram

The electroencephalogram (EEG) is one of the standard techniques employed by neuroscientists to investigate the neural responses related to various perceptual and cognitive phenomena. First tested on human subject by Hans Berger in 1924, EEG is now widely applied in both scientific and clinical fields. Although the spatial resolution of EEG is quite poor, its high temporal resolution (1 ms or better) and relatively low cost make it a popular brain-imaging technique.

Generally, EEG non-invasively measures electrical brain activity from electrodes at different locations on the scalp. Neurons convert and process information in the form of electrical and chemical signals. However, the electrical activity produced by a single neuron is too weak to reach the scalp (Kirschstein and Köhling 2009). Instead, when thousands or millions of neurons that have similar spatial orientation activate synchronously, the summation of electrical potential results in voltage difference on the human scalp (Nunez 2006). Moreover, electrical activity recorded by EEG electrodes is the summation of postsynaptic potentials, given that action potential is too brief (around 1 ms) to be sufficiently summed up. Cortical pyramidal neurons are considered as the main generator of EEG signal, due to their unique orientation (Kirschstein and Köhling 2009). Pyramidal neurons have long apical dendrites perpendicular to the cortical surface, which make them excellent dipoles in EEG signals. Figure 1.5.2 demonstrates how negative and positive deflections in EEG are generated by pyramidal neurons (adopted from Kirschstein and Köhling 2009). Overall, EEG records the total of excitatory and inhibitory postsynaptic potentials from a population of synchronous and partly aligned cortical neurons that extend over large areas of the cortical surface.



60

Figure 1.5.2, Origin of EEG signal. Superficial excitatory inputs (A) or deep inhibitory inputs (B) to the pyramidal neurons produce negative (upward) deflections, whereas deep excitatory inputs (A) or superficial inhibitory inputs (B) to the same neurons produce positive (downward) deflections. Adapted from Kirschstein, & Köhling (2009) with permission.

Electrocortical activity is recorded by electrodes placed on the scalp. Low resistance Ag/AgCl electrodes are positioned on an electrode cap or electrode net according to the international 10–20 system (Jasper 1958), which standardised the electrode position in relation to fixed markers of the skull (i.e. the nasion and the inion). While the number of electrodes being used depends on the experimental question, in modern EEG studies electrode number normally ranges from 32 to 256 (Schneider and Strüder 2012). Such an electrode cap or net is positioned on the head of the participant. Special gel is placed between the scalp and the electrodes to improve conductance.

During EEG recording, participants are usually required to limit head and neck movements, as these will produce undesired EEG artefacts. Eye movements from eye blinks and saccades are also a major source of EEG artefacts. In most vision experiments, participants are instructed to maintain their fixation on the center of screen. In the two EEG experiments of the current thesis, high-resolution binocular eye movement was recorded with EEG and processed online to ensure the criteria of stable fixation during the experiment. More details will follow in the next section.

The scalp electrical signal is then recorded at a desirable rate (256 to 2000 Hz) and transformed through a differential amplifier. The EEG signal represents the voltages difference between electrodes and a given reference. There are four types of referencing methods are mainly used. 1) *Single reference*: one designated reference electrode is placed and EEG signal is measured as the difference between each channel and the reference electrode; 2) *bipolar reference*: similar to single reference is defined as the average signal of all electrodes. 4) *CSD reference*: the reference is defined as power spectra computed from current source density (CSD). CSD is an implication of linear volume-conduction model (Nicholson 1973; Nicholson and Freeman 1975). It measures the strength of extracellular current generators underlying the recorded EEG without depending on predefined references. In the cases of single and bipolar reference, designated electrode/electrodes are usually

placed in locations of low neuro-electrical activity (e.g., the nose or the earlobe). Average reference is favoured increasingly by EEG experts (Picton et al. 2000; Rosenfeld 2000). It can be considered as a virtual ground site in the brain, which represents the zero potential point (Paukkunen and Sepponen 2008).

The raw EEG signal then undergoes several pre-processing steps, such as filtering and artefact rejection, to remove noise generated by unwanted electrical activity. For example, pertinent artefacts can be identified and rejected using independent component analysis (ICA) or principle component analysis (PCA) (Romo-Vazquez et al. 2007).

There are many ways to analyze the pre-processed EEG data. For example, in timefrequency analysis EEG signal is transformed into predefined frequency domains to correlate with different neurocognitive function. In the current thesis I exploit one of the main EEG techniques: Event Related Potentials (ERPs).

ERPs are time-locked electrophysiological segments to an internal or external stimulus. They are observed after stimulus onset, and therefore are directly related to the presented stimulus (Nunez and Srinivasan 2006). The onset of a stimulus is usually defined as time zero. An epoch of arbitrary length is then chosen based on the research question and extracted from the continuous signal (e.g., from -100 ms to 500 ms in related to stimulus onset). In each trial the mean activity of the pre-defined baseline is then subtracted (e.g. from 100 ms before stimulus onset to 0), to fulfill the assumption that no task-related neural activity should be observed before stimulus onset (i.e., baseline correction). Noisy trials are rejected and further artefact correction could also be applied. Accepted trials are averaged according to experiment conditions. Depending on the hypothesis, a large number of events is normally required to increase the signal-to-noise ratio (for a recent review, see Pontifex and Hillman 2007).

The resulting averaged ERP waveforms are combinations of a set of positive and negative voltage deflections, usually referred to as ERP components. Depending on the polarity of the deflection, they are labeled as P or N (i.e. P for positive and N for negative) followed by a number referring to the latency of occurrence (usually in milliseconds). See Figure 1.5.3 for a standard procedure to extract the averaged ERP.

Classical ERP analysis is component based. The variables of interest are the amplitude and latency of each ERP peak. The peak of a component is defined as the most positive or most negative deflection point within a given time-window. The ERP latency is then measured as the occurrence of the peak. While the peak amplitude can be considered as the component amplitude, researchers sometimes also calculate the mean amplitude of a component by averaging all the time points of an arbitrary time window centerd on the peak. However, conventional analyses that focus on the predefined components are restrictive and potentially miss meaningful differences between components (Rousselet and Pernet 2011). For example, Schyns et al. (2007) demonstrated that component peaks might signal the end of a process instead of its information processing mechanism. Increasingly, the literature started to apply datadriven analysis at all time points and electrodes to investigate the effect over the whole ERP time course (Delorme et al. 2007; Pernet et al. 2011; Rousselet et al. 2008; Schyns et al. 2007, 2009; Schyns et al. 2011).



Figure 1.5.3, Example of extracting ERP waveform from the ongoing EEG signal. (a) Stimuli (1... N) are presented with ongoing EEG recording. The specific response to each stimulus is too small to be seen at single trial level. (b) EEG segments within pre-define epoch following each stimulus

are extracted and averaged together to create the ERP waveform. Adapted from Luck, Woodman, & Vogel (2000) with permission.

# 2 Microsaccades Boost Face Identification as A Function of Culture

### Preamble

Human observers engage in different eye movement strategies to gather facial information depending on their cultural backgrounds. Free-viewing studies show that Westerners preferentially fixate on the eyes and mouth during face processing across a range of tasks, whereas Easterners allocate their gaze relatively more on the center of the face (Blais et al. 2008). Such divergence in fixation patterns has been demonstrated to be driven by the sampling bias for different spatial-frequency bands (Miellet et al. 2013).

Here, we further test the differences in cultural information tuning by registering microsaccades as an indicator of high-spatial frequency information sampling in an identification task. As the fastest and the smallest fixational eye movements, microsaccades enhance visibility of fine-spatial details during stable gaze (Martinez-Conde et al. 2013). Western Caucasian (WC) and Eastern Asian (EA) observers first learned eight face identities. We then examined the occurrence of microsaccades during identification of these identities while participants maintained fixation on the center of the screen. Nine equidistant Viewing Positions (VPs) were defined to cover the internal facial features. Face stimuli were aligned with a random VP centered with the fixation cross. Aligning participants gaze on the eye region elicited the highest rate of microsaccades and fastest identification response in both groups of observers. Crucially, *WC* observers showed optimal performance and highest microsaccade occurrence rate (400 – 500 ms) at their preferred viewing locations (as determined in the free viewing learning task). For EAs, fixation location preference predicts their microsaccade onset rate in the same time window, but not their behavioural performance. These findings show that the conjunction between preferred fixation location and high-frequency information is crucial to achieve optimal face identification performance.

# 2.1 Introduction

One of the most astonishing abilities human beings possess is face recognition. For example, we can determine a person's identity accurately within few fixations (Hsiao and Cottrell 2008) and across a wide range of viewing conditions (e.g., spatial scales, head orientations, lighting; Peterson and Eckstein 2012). Humans employ very sophisticated and consistent eye movement strategies to extract information from faces to accomplish various face-related tasks. Interestingly, these strategies are highly culture-specific (Blais et al. 2008; Caldara et al. 2010). For WC observers, their gaze follows a systematic triangular sequence of fixations to the eyes and mouth. This was revealed by the seminal work of Yarbus (1961) and confirmed in subsequent eye-movement studies (e.g., Althoff and Cohen 1999; Groner et al. 1984; Henderson et al. 2005). In contrast, recent researches have shown that EAs direct their gaze to the central area of the face (Blais et al. 2008; Caldara et al. 2010; Kelly et al. 2010; Kita et al. 2010; Miellet et al. 2013; Rodger et al. 2010). These culturally divergent oculomotor strategies are comparably efficient (Miellet et al. 2013), and consistent across different tasks (learning, recognition, categorization, etc).

Eyes and mouths contain the most diagnostic information for face processing (Davies et al. 1977; Gosselin and Schyns 2001; Rowley et al. 1998; Viola and Jones 2004). For example, visual information from the eye region is crucial for face identification and gender categorization tasks (Schyns et al. 2002). It is intriguing that the preferred fixation locations for EA observers are not aligned with the most informative facial features. To address this issue, Caldara et al. (2010) developed a novel gazecontingent paradigm. In their experiment, a Gaussian "spotlight" was centered on the participant's fixation to restrict extra-foveal information. Their results showed that EAs' typical center fixation strategy disappears when extra-foveal information is unavailable, with participants instead exhibiting a scanpath identical to that observed for WC observers. This suggests that despite cultural diversity in eye movements, EA and WC observers universally rely on similar facial information to recognize faces. Furthermore, Miellet et al. (2013) employed a similar gaze-contingent procedure with a Gaussian "spotlight" that expands over time (i.e., dynamic spotlight). They then applied a retinal filter based on spatial frequency decomposition to reconstruct the visual information seen by participants. Their results showed that WCs preferably sample high-spatial frequency information from the eyes and the mouth with a local strategy. EAs on the other hand extract low-spatial frequency information from the same facial features with a global eye movement strategy. Together, these results reveal that fixation pattern variations between WCs and EAs are driven by differential spatial frequency tuning.

It is worth noting that the cultural differences in eye movement strategies and visual tuning are assumed to be relative matters of emphasis, rather than absolute differences of capability (Caldara et al. 2010; Miellet et al. 2011; Miellet et al. 2013). Indeed, observers can flexibly engage into local or global fixation strategies (Caldara et al. 2010; Miellet et al. 2010; Miellet et al. 2012). Moreover, as shown in Miellet et al. (2013), EAs also fixate the eyes and mouth to obtain high resolution feature details. Thus, the importance of high-spatial frequency facial information, especially the contribution of such information across different facial locations, still remains unresolved.

To directly investigate this question, we developed a novel technique involving recordings of microsaccades to track the time course of high-spatial frequency information usage. Microsaccades are the involuntary microscopic relocations of gaze that occur during attempted steady fixation (for a review sees Martinez-Conde et al. 2009; Martinez-Conde et al. 2013). Although the precise perceptual function of microsaccades is yet to be clarified, recent evidences suggests that it may serve a similar role as saccades during exploration (Hafed et al. 2009; McCamy et al. 2012; Otero-Millan et al. 2013; Otero - Millan et al. 2011; Otero-Millan et al. 2008; Rolfs et al. 2008b). Crucially, microsaccades enhance the visibility of high-spatial frequency information by fine-tuning the retina position within fixation locations (Donner and Hemilä 2007; Ko et al. 2010; McCamy et al. 2012; Rucci et al. 2007). For example, Donner and Hemila (2007) showed that microsaccades might improve the retinal sensitivity to edges and spatial resolution.

Here, we investigated the temporal patterns of participants' fixational eye movements during a face identification task. Forcing WC and EA observers' fixations on various locations of the face (i.e. manipulating foveally processed information), we explored the dynamic interaction between cultural fixation bias, behavioural response, and the related microscopic oculomotor activity. Specifically, we compared microsaccade onset rates across cultures, while information was presented either at their non/preferred fixation locations. Given the tight relationship between local fixation strategy and high-frequency information usage in WCs, we hypothesized that they would benefit more from microsaccades than EAs. Regression analyses were conducted between fixation preferences, behavioural response, and microsaccade occurrence overtime. Our results indicate that, for both groups of observers, preferred location of fixations positively predicts microsaccade occurrence rate around 400-500 ms. Crucially, however, microsaccades that occurred within this time-window boosted face identification for WC, but not EA observers.

# 2.2 Materials and Methods

### Participants

Nine WC (4 females) and ten EA (5 females) observers with normal or corrected-tonormal vision participated in the study. One WC and two EA participants were excluded from the analysis due to noisy eye movement recordings resulting from pupil occlusion. All EA participants were students from Sun Yat-Sen University, Mainland China; WCs were recruited in University of Fribourg, Switzerland. EA participants were tested by Dr. Lingnan He under a joint project between the psychology department of University of Fribourg and Sun Yat-Sen University. None of the subjects had previously participated in fixational eye movement studies, nor were they aware of the experiment's purpose. The study received approval of the respective local ethical committee (EA: Sun Yat-sen University Ethics Committee, WC: Ethics Committee of Vaud), and all participants provided written informed consent.

### Stimuli and procedure.

WC and EA face stimuli were taken from the KDEF (Lundqvist et al. 1998) and AFID (Bang et al. 2001) databases, respectively. Faces were grey-scaled and aligned on the eye and mouth positions. Each image was  $390 \times 390$  pixels in size, subtending around  $10x10^{\circ}$  of visual angle at a 70 cm viewing distance. Overall luminance was normalized using Matlab 7.5 (2007b); images were presented on a CRT monitor with a  $800 \times 600$  pixel white background and a refresh rate of 120 Hz.

The subjects sat in a dimly lit, sound-attenuated booth. A head/chin support ensured maintenance of a constant viewing distance and prevented head movements. Participants were tested on two consecutive days. On the first day, they learned eight

facial identities (2 races x 2 genders). Each identity was depicted displaying two emotional expressions (i.e. disgust, and happy) and assigned to one button on the keyboard. Participants learned to associate each identity to a specific finger by pressing the appropriate key. The stimuli were presented randomly at the center of the screen for 5 seconds each, with the corresponding response key displayed below. Throughout this process, participants could press the corresponding key freely to achieve an adequate level of familiarity and confidence. Subsequently, subjects performed a recognition task. The same face images were displayed (in blocks of eight trials, randomly depicting all identities encoded) at random locations on the screen until participants responded by button press indicative of facial identity. The memory task ended upon successful completion of at least 5 error-free blocks, 3 of which had to be completed consecutively. Throughout this initial learning phase, participants explored the stimuli freely while their eye movements were recorded. A drift correction was performed before each face presentation to ensure accuracy of oculomotor recording.

On the second testing day, participants were tested in the same room with the identical eye-tracking set-up. The stimuli presented included the previously learned identities as targets (displayed with neutral expression to ensure facial identification rather than image recognition) among 81 novel faces as distracters to increase task difficulty. Before the task began, the eight target identities (neutral expression) were presented for 2 minutes printed on a sheet of paper. Participants were instructed to identify target faces as accurately and as fast as possible, while ignoring (i.e. without providing button press response) distractor identities. Stimuli were presented at nine different locations on the screen. Based on the size of the face feature, we defined nine equidistant positions within the face (i.e. Viewing Positions – VPs) spaced by 2.24° visual angle (Figure 2.1a). The stimuli were then displayed with one of the nine VPs centered on the fixation cross. This procedure was to control for foveal and extra-foveal information sampling.


Figure 2.1, (a) Illustration of 9 Viewing Positions (VPs, white numbers) and the corresponding Viewing Position regions (red circles). Each region covers  $1.6^{\circ}$  of visual angle. b) The differential fixation map between the Western Caucasian (WC) and East Asian (EA) observers for the learning task (Day 1). The significant fixation bias difference is shown in the area delimited by white borders (Zcrit > |4.49|, p < .05, red for WC bias, blue for EA bias).

Each trial began with a fixation cross (0.2° of visual angle) displayed in the center of the screen for 500 ms, followed by the presentation of a face centered to one VP. The cross would not disappear during face stimulation to help the participant maintain their gaze. Stimuli remained on the screen until a response was provided for a maximum of 3000 ms for target faces, and 1000 ms for distractor faces. Trials were separated by a 500 ms ISI, with the subsequent trial automatically starting upon center fixation.

Participants were told to keep focus on the fixation cross at all time during the experiment. Stable gazing on the fixation cross was verified by eye-tracking. Participants' eye movements were monitored and processed on-line for trial validation. Trials containing blinks or saccades during face presentation were excluded. A trial was validated if the participants' eye drift was less than 2° of visual angle away from the center of the screen during stimulus presentation. The experiment ended when a participant completed 801 valid trials including 720 trials for target identities (8 faces × 9 positions × 10 times each position) and 81 trials for distracters (10% of the trials, 9 different faces at each position). See Figure 2.2 for a demonstration of the experiment procedure in day 2.



*Figure 2.2, Experiment procedure in day 2.* 

#### Eye-tracking

Eye movements were recorded by means of Desktop-Mount EyeLink 2K eye tracker (SR Research Ltd., Mississauga, Ont., Canada) with a temporal resolution of 1000 Hz. We recorded binocular eye movements, but only the dominant eye position was used for on-line trial validation. The eye movement data were recorded via Matlab (R2006a), using the Psychophysics Toolbox (PTB-3, Brainard 1997; Kleiner et al. 2007) and EyeLink Toolbox extensions (Cornelissen et al. 2002). Calibration and

validation of eye fixation were conducted before the experiment and repeated whenever necessary throughout the study.

#### Eye movement data preprocessing

Eye movement data sampled during face memory task on Day 1 included blinks, saccades and fixations. Blinks, as well as fixations outside stimulus area were excluded from the analysis. We then computed fixation duration maps individually for each observer in Matlab. Taking into account that more than 1 pixel is processed during one fixation, each fixation was smoothed with a Gaussian kernel ( $\alpha$ =10 pixels) to represent the foveal area (2° visual angle). Individual fixation maps were computed by summing all fixation locations (x, y coordinates) across time for all trials. Moreover, to estimate each participant's fixation bias we first created masks of 1.6° of visual angle for each of the nine VPs. We then extracted the values of the fixation maps independently within each mask. To acquire the individual preference towards different VPs, we ranked the VPs for each participant by the value within the masks (i.e. Viewing Positions Ranks – VPRs).

Eye movement data collected on Day 2 were segmented into epochs from 0-1000 ms post stimulus onset. Analyses were restricted to valid trials for target faces (i.e. hits). Microsaccades were defined as outliers in 2D velocity space thresholded for peak velocity and minimum duration (Engbert and Mergenthaler 2006). We first computed eye movement velocity with a modified version of the central difference algorithm (Bahill et al. 1982; modified by Engbert and Mergenthaler 2006) to suppress high-frequency noise. We calculated the average of eye movement velocity within a moving time window (i.e. 10 ms). To detect microsaccades, we adapted the parameter implemented by Engbert and Mergenthaler (2006). Relativity thresholds were set independently for each participant as the outliners (five standard deviations away from the median) of the velocity values observed across the entire 1000 ms interval. Microsaccades were then defined where velocity exceeded a relative threshold for a minimum duration of six samples (6 ms). We only considered binocular microsaccades were defined as accades with magnitude <2° in both eyes.

## 2.3 Analysis and Result

#### **Fixation map results**

Group fixation maps were computed based on the individual duration maps from the face learning task from Day 1. Individual maps were summed separately per group to compute group-specific fixation maps. The mean and standard deviation of the fixation distributions of all observers were calculated and used to normalize the data. We then carried out a two-tailed Bonferroni corrected Pixel test (Chauvin et al. 2005) to assess locations significantly fixated by participants (iMap; see Caldara and Miellet 2011 for more details).

Consistent with previous results (Blais et al. 2008; Kelly et al. 2010; Rodger et al. 2010), WC participants preferentially fixated the eyes and mouth regions during face learning, while EAs predominantly fixated on the center of the face, mainly on the nose region. As shown in Figure 2.1b, the difference maps resulting from a two-tailed pixel test ( $Z_{crit} = |4.49|$  with threshold at p = .05) illustrate group-dependent differential fixation strategies. The effect sizes of the average fixation patterns per group were calculated using Cohen's *d*, which yielded d = 1.13 for eyes area for WC observers, and d = 1.37 for nose region for EA observers.

#### **Behavioural results**

The behavioural results are summarized in Figure 2.3. Mix model ANOVA and logit mix model regression are carried out on reaction time (RT) and accuracy rate (ACC) respectively. Essentially, the mix-model could be represented as:

Behavioural measure ~ 1 + Groups\_of\_observers + VPs + Races\_of\_stimuli + Groups\_of\_observers\*VPs + Groups\_of\_observers\*Races\_of\_stimuli + VPs\*Races\_of\_stimuli (1)

Result showed no significant main effects of *race of the stimuli* for ACC (SE = .024, p = .078) or RT (F (1,281) = .667, p = .414). Importantly, no significant interaction between *groups of observers* and *race of the stimuli* is revealed (ACC: SE = .013, p = .051; RT: F (1,281) = .314, p = .576). Although the impairment of recognizing otherrace faces (i.e., other-race effect) has been widely report in the literature (e.g., Vizioli et al 2009 and 2010), in the current experiment only 4 target identities per race were presented. The relatively low task demand might account for participants' high performance on both races of stimuli. Moreover, given that our main focus is not on

the other-race effect, the mix-model applied in the following analysis is simplified as model (2) with the race of the stimuli as a random effect:

Behavioural measure  $\sim 1 + \text{Groups}_{of}_{observers} + \text{VPs} + \text{Groups}_{of}_{observers}^{VPs} +$ (1 + Races\_of\_stimuli + Groups\_of\_observers\*Races\_of\_stimuli | subject) (2)

No significant main effect of *groups of observers* is observed for ACC (SE = .016, p = .324) and RT (F (1,14) = .501, p = .480). We did not observe main effect of *viewing positions* for ACC (SE = .003, p = .744). Both WCs and EAs were comparably accurate (94.2%, 95% CIs [93.4%, 95.1%] for WC and 92.5%, 95% CIs [91.6%, 93.5%] for EA) regardless of the presentation location. We observed significant main effect of *viewing positions* for RT (F (8,112) = 15.892, p = 8.15e-5). No significant interaction was observed in ACC (SE = .002, p = .778) but RT (F (8,112) = 8.404, p = .004). Paired-sample t-test revealed that participants responded faster to the VPs on the upper part of the face (i.e., eyes and nose) than the lower part of the face (i.e., mouth) in WC but not EA.



Figure 2.3, Behavioural results for the identification task on Day 2. (a) Accuracy rate and (b) reaction time for both Western Caucasian (WC, red line) and East Asian (EA, blue line) observers. All error bars indicate 95% CIs.

#### **Microsaccade results**

Figure 2.4a shows the time course of microsaccade onset after stimulus (target faces') onset for both groups of observers. The microsaccade occurrence rate of both groups of observers complies with the stereotypical time course with an early inhibition followed by a later increase (Engbert and Kliegl 2003; Rolfs et al. 2008a). The 2

(groups) × 9 (VPs) mixed model ANOVA on overall microsaccade occurrence rate revealed significant differences across viewing positions (F (8,112) = 3.668, p = .00078). Paired-sample t-tests showed that participant exhibited more microsaccades to the VPs on the upper part of the face (i.e., eyes) than the lower part of the face (i.e., nose and mouth). No significant group effect or interaction was found (Figure 2.4b). The microsaccade amplitude distributions of both groups of observers are shown in Figure 2.4c. The mean microsaccade magnitude of EAs was significantly larger than that of WCs (two-tailed independent t-test: t (2,15) = 24.5, p = 7.55e-7).



Figure 2.4, (a) Smoothed time course of the microsaccade onset rate of WC observers (red line) and EA observers (blue line). A 20 ms time-window moving average was applied as smoothing. Standard error at each time point is shown as shadow under the line plot. (b) Overall mean microsaccade onset rate for both groups of observers. (c) Distributions of microsaccade amplitude for WC (red) and EA (blue) observers.

## Regression between viewing position preference, behavioural response, and microsaccade event

To fully explore the relationship between fixation bias, reaction time, and microsaccade onset rate over time, we first fitted a linear mixed-effects model then performed regression analyses independently per group of observer to further estimate different effect.

#### VPR and RT:

The reaction time and the fixation bias were first fitted into model (3). The reaction time was entered as respond vector and the main effects of *groups of observers* and *fixation bias* (VPRs) and the interaction effect between the two had been modelled. Noticeably, the *races of stimuli* and *the other-race effect* were controlled as random effect.

 $RT \sim 1 + Groups_of_observers + VPRs + Groups_of_observers^*VPRs + (1 + Races_of_stimuli + Groups_of_observers^*Races_of_stimuli | subject)$ (3)

Result showed significant main effect of *groups of observers* (b = -.010, 95% CIs [-.015, -.003], SE = .003, t (284) = -3.041, p = .0026) and significant interaction between *groups of observers* and *VPRs* (b = .0057, 95% CIs [.0018, .0096], SE = .002, t (284) = 2.875, p = .0043).

To clarify the interaction effect and better estimate the coefficients of the fixation bias in each group of observers, a linear regression was performed using a robust regression approach independently for WC and EA observers. As shown in model (4), the reaction time was the respond vector and fixation preferences of each VP (VPRs) were entered as predictor. Moreover, to put the participants' behavioural response into the same scale, their reaction time was Z-scored.

$$Z(\mathrm{RT}) \sim 1 + \mathrm{VPRs} \tag{4}$$

As shown in Figure 2.5, fixation bias (VPZs) significantly regressed with reaction time in WC observers (b = -.137, 95% CIs [-.193, -.033], SE = .04, t (70) = -2.818, p = .0063), but not EAs (b = .079, 95% CIs [-.00063, .159], SE = .04, t (70) =1.979, p = .052).



Figure 2.5, Regression results. We used VPR as predictor variable to regress with RT independently in WC observers (red line) and EA observers (blue line).

VPR and microsaccade onset: To understand the relationship between fixation preferences and microsaccade onset, we conducted linear regressions similar to model (4) using VPR as predictor variable to regress with microsaccade occurrence rate across the time course. Due to the discrete temporal property of microsaccade onset, conventional analyses usually consider its occurrence rate within some predefined time-window (Martinez-Conde et al. 2009). Here, we developed a novel method to parametrically sample microsaccade onset over time to study its temporal dynamics. Specifically, we divided the overall microsaccade onset time course (0-1000 ms post stimulus onset) into different numbers of time-windows (i.e., steps). Here, the number of time-windows we applied ranged from one (i.e., the whole time course, the first step) to 250 (i.e., four time points within each window, the last step). For each step, the microsaccade occurrence rate was calculated independently within each window and inputted into the regression as an output vector. We then conducted linear regressions using VPR as a predictor across all time windows independently for all the steps within each group. Such a method does not require subjective definition of a time window or temporal smoothing of the microsaccade onset rate.

To correct for false positives arising due to multiple comparisons, we used a multivariate clustering technique with bootstrapping (Maris and Oostenveld 2007; Vizioli et al. 2010; Wilcox 2005). Within each group, we first centered the

microsaccade occurrence rate so that each condition had a mean of zero. We then used bootstrap to derive an estimate of the sampling distribution under the null hypothesis that no difference across the means was true. In each bootstrap, we sampled subjects with replacement and carried out the regression (as described above) independently at all steps and time-windows. We then grouped the significant F values (p < 0.05) into temporal clusters (Maris and Oostenveld 2007), considering only clusters with a duration >20 ms (maximum microsaccade duration). For each bootstrap, we computed the sum of F values in every cluster and selected the maximum cluster sum. We repeated this procedure 499 times, resulting in 500 F cluster sums for each main effect and the interaction. After sorting the 500 cluster sums according to their size, we selected the 95th percentile as the cluster threshold to assess statistical significance. The significant F values from the original regression were clustered, and the sum of F values inside each cluster was compared with the bootstrap cluster threshold for that test. A cluster was considered significant if the cluster sum was equal to, or larger than the threshold (Vizioli et al. 2010).

The results are shown in Figure 2.6. Fixation preference positively related to the microsaccade onset from 400-500 ms in both groups of observers. We found a significant regression in this time window, with increased VPR correlate with more microsaccade onset (WC observers: b = .058, 95% CIs [.030, .086], SE = .014, t (70) = 4.136, p = 9.67e-5; EA observers: b = .069, 95% CIs [.042, .095], SE = .013, t (70) = 5.189, p = 1.97e-6). Moreover, VPR also negatively related to microsaccade onset rate in the earlier time-course for EA observers. For example, we found less microsaccades at 200 – 300 ms on more preferred viewing position (b = -.302, 95% CIs [.528, -.076], SE = .113, t (70) = -2.663, p = .0096).



Figure 2.6, Regression between VPR and microsaccade onset rate. The x-axis shows the time in ms and the y-axis shows the different number of time-window being used in the current step. The value shows the t-statistic of the regression coefficients. (a) Original t value for WC observers. (b) Original t value for EA observers. The black line highline the significant t values for WC (a) and EA (b) observers. Multiple comparison corrections were conducted based on the significant F-statistic value of the model.

*Microsaccade onset and RT:* We determined whether and when microsaccade occurrence rate was related to reaction time by means of regression analysis. Microsaccade onset time course was binned in a similar way as previously described. We then carried out a regression independently per step using the microsaccade occurrence rate as the predictor, and reaction time as output. No significant temporal cluster was revealed after multiple comparison correction for EAs, indicating no relation between microsaccade occurrence rate and their behavioural response. For WC observers the increase of microsaccade onset rate in the 400–500 ms time window correlated with a faster behavioural response (b = -.834, 95% CIs [-1.479, -.190], SE = .323, t (70) = -2.581, p = .012), while the increase of microsaccade occurrence in the first 100 ms was related to a slower reaction time (b = .53, 95% CIs [.015, 1.048], SE = .259, t (70) = 2.054, p = .437). The result is showed in Figure 2.7.



Figure 2.7, Regression between microsaccade onset rate and RT for WC observers. The x-axis shows the time in millisecond plotted against the different number of time-windows being used in the current step. The value shows the t-statistic of the regression coefficients. (a) Original t value for WC observers. (b) Original t value for EA observers. Significant is indicated by the black area. Multiple comparison corrections were conducted base on the significant F-statistic value of the model.

#### 2.4 Discussion

The current study represents the first empirical evidence providing a direct link between local eye movement strategy and high-spatial frequency visual information during face identification. Here, we compared the recognition performance of observers from different cultures in a fixational eye movement design. Participants maintained their gaze on the center of the screen, while face identities were presented with different facial locations aligned to the fixation cross. Behavioural results showed that participants perform better when they fixated the upper compare to the lower part of the face, regardless of their preferred oculomotor strategy. Moreover, both groups of observers exhibited overall more microsaccades when they fixated the upper compared to the lower part of the faces. To understand the relationship between fixation strategy and high-spatial frequency information processing, we perform linear regression between fixation bias for different facial positions (obtained in the separate free-viewing face learning session) and the microsaccade occurrence rate. We found that microsaccade events occurring at 400-500 ms positively regress with fixation preference in both WCs and EAs. However, microsaccade events within this time window correlated with a faster behavioural response in WC observers only. These results together suggest that microsaccades boost face identification for observers who rely on a local information sampling strategy (i.e. WCs). WC observers rely on high-spatial frequency information from their preferred viewing location for face recognition.

#### Optimal and preferred point of fixation for faces as a function of culture

The result in the present study shows that fixating at the eye region is optimal for face identification, regardless of the cultures of the observers and the eye movement strategy they engage in. The eye region contains the highest visual information than any other face area. For example, gazing at just below the eyes optimize participant's behavioural performance across various tasks (Peterson and Eckstein 2012). Similarly, we found that WC subjects respond faster when they fixate the eye area than the lower part of the face. Thus, EA observers are likely not rely on fovea vision to perceive diagnostic information in the eye region

Moreover, we observed that fixating on the preferred viewing location has behavioural advantage for WCs only. WC observers respond faster on their preferred viewing position, whereas EAs respond equally well across all viewing positions. Previous result sampling only WC participants also reported similar results (Peterson and Eckstein 2012, 2013). The behavioural function of preferred viewing location is likely to be driven by differences in spatial-frequency information tuning between WCs and EAs. Specifically, EA observers prefer to sample low-spatial-frequency information via a global eye movement strategy (Miellet et al. 2013). They are able to perceive efficiently facial information from peripheral vision even when they are forced to fixate at points away from their preferred viewing location. Instead, fixating away from the preferred viewing location substantially degrades perceptual performance of WCs.

These results further confirm that the behavioural advantage on preferred viewing position in WC observers stems from their perceptual tuning to high-spatial frequency information. While both groups of observers exhibited more microsaccades on their preferred viewing position, WC observers only exploit the advantages conferred by the fine-detail enhancement following microsaccade to better recognize faces.

#### Functional microsaccade in face recognition

The possible origins of microsaccade have long been debated (e.g., Collewijn and Kowler 2008; Rolfs 2009). Different microsaccade generation mechanisms could be summarized into two hypotheses. The first hypothesis mainly accounts for involuntary microsaccade. It suggests that such microscopic oculomotor behaviour is produced by the physiological mechanism to prevent and/or counteract image fading (Ditchburn et al. 1959; Ditchburn and Ginsborg 1952; Martinez-Conde et al. 2006), as well as the exogenous (bottom-up) attentional shifts while attempting fixations (Rucci et al. 2007). The second hypothesis suggests that microsaccades are driven by the shift of covert attention during fixation maintenance (Cornsweet 1956; Engbert and Kliegl 2004; Hafed and Clark 2002). For example, pervious results showed that participants used microsaccade to precisely relocate their gaze for the task at hand (Cunitz and Steinman 1969; Ko et al. 2010). Interestingly, regardless of the potential different origins, the perceptual outcome of microsaccade is the same. As demonstrated in recent studies, microsaccade could enhance visibility during fixation (Martinez-Conde et al. 2006), counteract visual fading both foveally and peripherally (McCamy et al. 2012), and re-sharpen fine-spatial details for feature extraction (Donner and Hemilä 2007; Kuang et al. 2012). Here we make use of the perceptual consequence of microsaccade as a physiological marker to measure the cognitive processing of high-spatial frequency visual information. We observed that microsaccade occurrence rate is the highest on the eye region, which contains the most task relevant information for both groups of observers. Moreover, our results showed that WCs, with a high-spatial frequency information tuning, benefit more from the perceptual gain following microsaccades.

While the bulk of the empirical research on microsaccades focuses on the mechanism of microsaccade generation, the temporal dynamic of microsaccade remains surprisingly unexplored. Here, we observed that microsaccade onset within 400 to 500 milliseconds is critical for behavioural response and it is likely to be related to the amount of available information. No study has previously reported perceptual enhancement effect of microsaccade during 400 – 500 ms. A limited number of studies indicate that microsaccades are generated every 200 – 300 ms to provide a high-acuity "snapshots" of a visual scene (Otero-Millan et al. 2008; Uchida et al.

2006). However, further research is required to clarify the exact function of microsaccade in this time window.

In summary, the microsaccade results empirically confirmed the perceptual tuning of different cultural fixation bias. Results from visual information reconstruction indicate a high-spatial frequency information tuning for WCs during face recognition (Miellet et al. 2013). Here, by directly comparing the behavioural performance following microsaccade in WC and EA observers, we showed that a local eye movement strategy is indeed driven by a high-spatial frequency information tuning. WC observers, who employ a local eye movement strategy, achieve optimal behavioural performance on their preferred viewing location following the perceptual improvement produced by microsaccade.

#### Conclusion

Human observers elaborate face representations through diverse eye movement patterns. Driven by the preference to different parts of the spatial-frequency spectrum, observers engage in either a local or global strategies to sample information from various face parts. Here, we showed that WC observers make use of high-spatial-frequency information from their preferred viewing location for more rapid face identification, while no behavioural advantage is observed on their preferred viewing location in the EAs. Moreover, WCs benefit from the enhanced detail visibility following microsaccade on the preferred point of fixation. These observations confirm that culturally shaped fixation strategies are driven by perceptual preference to different spatial frequency information.

## 3 Tracking the Neural Tuning of Cultural Diversity in Eye Movements for Faces

#### Preamble

Eye movement strategies deployed by humans to identify conspecifics are not universal. When looking at faces, Westerners fixate the eyes and the mouth regions, whereas Easterners focus more on the center. However, the neural bases of this culturally Preferred Viewing Location (PVL) bias have never been directly investigated.

We simultaneously recorded eye movements and electroencephalographic (EEG) signals of Westerners and Easterners while they performed face identification of learnt identities. To avoid EEG artefacts generated by saccades, we defined 9 equidistant Viewing Positions (VPs) covering all the internal facial features and presented faces centered on random VPs for 100 ms. The fixation maps extracted from a prior freeviewing condition corroborated cultural diversity in PVLs during face recognition. To directly isolate modulations of EEG signals as a function of PVLs, we first computed the ranking of fixation intensity for each non-overleaping VP regions (Viewing Position Ranks - VPRs). We then carried-out a component-free data-driven spatio-temporal regression between the VPRs and EEG amplitudes. This novel approach revealed a marked direct relationship between both measures at around 350 ms in all observers, which was not related to a burst of microsaccades occurring in this time-window. A data-driven pattern classification procedure associated the scalp topography of this effect with the topography of the well-defined face-sensitive N170 component.

Our data show that the distinct cultural fixation preferences for faces are related to a late universal post-perceptual tuning in the occipito-temporal cortex. Culture shapes visual information sampling, but does not regulate neural information decoding.

## 3.1 Introduction

Human beings make use of sophisticated eye movement strategies to extract visual information and effectively adapt to the environment. It is thus very intriguing that when processing the most critical biological stimulus – i.e. the human face – observers from different cultures markedly differ in their information gathering strategies. Westerners use a triangular sequence of fixations including eyes and mouth (Althoff and Cohen 1999; Groner et al. 1984; Henderson et al. 2005; Yarbus 1961). By contrast, Easterners deploy central fixations (Blais et al. 2008; Kelly et al. 2010; Kita et al. 2010; Rodger et al. 2010), while reaching comparable face recognition performance. Yet, the underlying neural mechanisms of this cultural perceptual tuning in preferred viewing positions (PVLs) have never been directly investigated.

The accurate temporal resolution of electroencephalography (EEG) posits this neuroimaging technique as the optimal candidate to track early temporal dynamics of information processing. With regards to face processing, a wealth of evidence highlights the importance of a specific time window spanning approximately from 140 to 180 ms after stimulus onset. The N170 is an ERP component peaking negatively at bilateral occipitotemporal electrodes, larger to faces compared to any other visual category (Bentin et al. 1996). Importantly, N170 amplitude modulations have been observed for facial features in isolation, with the largest amplitude increase elicited by the eyes, compared to nose and mouth (Bentin et al. 1996). However electrophysiological modulations to facial features in isolation do not necessarily relate to processes involved during natural viewing conditions. These effects could be simply related to visual completion processes engaged in the reconstruction of full-face information. More recently McPartland et al. (2010) reported larger N170 to eyes and mouth compared to the nose, thus arguing for differential impact of PVLs upon neural face processing. Crucially though, this study employed a passive task and did not track eye movements during EEG recording, therefore not controlling for fixation locations and individual differences in PVLs. Given this shortcoming, it is impossible to unambiguously conclude whether such N170 modulations are related to PVLs, leaving this question unresolved.

To this aim, we simultaneously recorded eye movements and EEG signals of Western and Eastern observers while they performed a face identification task. Tracking the eye movements during EEG recording ensured a perfect control of the fixation location, as well as the elimination of trials contaminated by microsaccades, a source of potential confound (Dimigen et al. 2009). Because multi-oriented saccades generate complex EEG artefacts, faces were briefly flashed on nine predefined equidistant Viewing Positions (VPs, see Figure 1a) covering all the internal features. Individual PVL were extracted from a prior free-viewing face identity learning session using eye-tracking. We then directly related the electrophysiological signals with the PVLs by applying a component-free data-driven spatiotemporal regression analysis between those measures. Our data show no sensitivity on the N170 component, but the presence of a universal post-perceptual occipitotemporal neurophysiological sensitivity to PVLs at 350 ms, which mainly involve the same generators as the N170.

## 3.2 Materials and Methods

#### Participants.

Twenty-four right-handed subjects (12 East Asians – EA and 12 Western Caucasians – WC), 13 of which (7 EA and 6 WC) female, with normal or corrected-to-normal vision (mean age 26.4) participated in the study. All the EA participants were Chinese and had never been to a western country before. The maximum duration of residence in the UK upon testing was less than 6 months. The experiment received the approval of the local ethical committee and all participants provided written informed consent.

#### Stimuli and procedure.

A total of 24 grey scale images of four EA and four WC identities containing equal numbers of male and female faces were obtained from the KDEF (Lundqvist et al. 1998) and AFID (Bang et al. 2001) databases. Each identity was portrayed twice as an emotional (i.e. disgust and happy) and once a neutral face. The images were 390 × 390 pixels in size, subtending 15.6° degrees of visual angle vertically and horizontally with the face cover about 10° degrees of visual angle in the visual field. Viewing distance was maintained at 70 cm by a chinrest, reflecting a natural distance during human interaction (Hall 1966). Faces were cropped to remove external features and

aligned on the eye and mouth positions. After normalizing their luminance in Matlab 7.5 (2007b), images were presented on a Dell P1130 19" CRT monitor with an 800 × 600 pixel white background, and a refresh rate of 170 Hz.

The whole experiment was carried out over two consecutive days. During the first day only emotional faces were displayed. The subjects sat in a dimly lit, soundattenuated electrically shielded booth. Participants were instructed to learn the 8 identities. Each identity was assigned to one button of a computer's keyboard. Participants learned to associate each identity to a specific finger – ranging from the index to the little finger of both hands – placed on the appropriate key. The stimuli were presented, in a random order, at the center of the screen for 5 seconds each, with the corresponding response key being displayed below each face. Within the 5 seconds presentation time, participants were allowed to press the key paired to the identity displayed on the screen as many times as they needed to achieve an adequate level of familiarity and confidence with the response. Subsequently subjects performed a memory task where they were required to recognize the faces they had just learned by pressing the buttons associated to the identities. The memory task ended upon successful completion of at least 5 error free blocks, 3 of which had to be consecutively completed without mistakes. Each block consisted of 8 identities displayed once until behavioural response, in random order and at random locations on the screen. The participants could freely explore the stimuli while their eye movements were recorded. An eye tracker drift correction procedure was performed before each face presentation to accurately determine the eyes position.

In Day 2, participants were tested in the same room with the same eye tracking setting. Additionally, EEG scalp signal was simultaneously recorded (see *Eye Tracking and EEG recording* section for details). Importantly, the stimuli presented in day 2 represented the same previously learned identities, but this time all faces displayed a neutral expression. Before the task began, the 8 neutral faces were rendered available for 2 minutes on a sheet of paper. On paper, the faces measured 4 by 4cm. Participants were instructed to correctly recognize the faces by button press as described before as accurately and as fast as they could. The faces were presented at 9 different locations of the screen. Based on internal features, we defined 9 equidistant positions within faces (i.e. Viewing Positions –VPs, see Figure 3.1a) spaced by 2.24° visual angle. The stimuli were then displayed for 100 ms with 1 of the

9 VPs centered on the fixation cross. By implementing this procedure we controlled for foveal and extra-foveal information sampling.

Each trial lasted approximately for 2500 milliseconds. The procedure began with a 0.3° fixation cross in the middle of the screen, displayed for 800 ms. This was followed by the presentation of a face centerd on one VP for 100 ms, succeeded by a second fixation cross which remained on the screen until behavioural response. There was a 1200 millisecond delay after the participants' response, and the next trial started automatically upon fixation at the center of the screen.

To avoid complex EEG artefacts generated by saccades, participants were told to keep focus on the fixation cross at all time during the experiment. Stable gazing on the fixation cross was verified using eye-tracking. Participants' eye movements were monitored and processed on-line for trial validation. Trials containing blink or saccade during face presentation were excluded. A trial was validated if the participants' eye drift was less than 1° of visual angle away from the center of the screen during stimulus presentation. The experiment ended when a participant completed 720 valid trials (8 faces × 9 positions × 10 times each position).

#### *Eye tracking and EEG recording.*

Eye movements were recorded by means of a Desktop-Mount EyeLink 2K eyetracker (SR Research Ltd., Mississauga, Ont., Canada) with a temporal resolution of 1000 Hz, a spatial resolution of 0.01° of visual angle and an average gaze position error of about 0.25°. Eye movements were recorded binocularly, but only the dominant eye position was used for valid trials on-line processing. The eye movement data were recorded via Matlab (R2006a), using the Psychophysics (PTB-3) and EyeLink Toolbox extensions (Brainard 1997; Cornelissen et al. 2002). Calibration and validation of eye fixation were conducted before the experiment and repeated whenever necessary during the procedure.

The EEG data were acquired on a 128-channel Biosemi Active Two EEG system (Biosemi, Amsterdam, Netherlands), sampled at 1024 Hz. According to the 10-5 system (Oostenveld and Praamstra 2001), electrodes were placed in a nylon cap. Four additional electrodes (UltraFlat Active electrodes, Biosemi) were attached below and at the outer canthi of both eyes to record vertical and horizontal electro-oculograms. All electrode amplitudes were kept between  $\pm 25 \ \mu V$ . The ground consisted of an

active electrode (common mode sense, CMS) and a passive electrode (driven right leg, DRL) forming a feedback loop for amplifier reference. Subjects were asked to minimize blinking, head movement, and other body movement.

#### Behavioural studies.

We applied mix model regression on reaction time (RT) and logit mix model regression on accuracy rate (ACC).

#### Eye movement data analysis.

During face memory task in Day 1 all identities fixation maps were computed individually for EA and WC observers using Matlab 7.5 (2007b). Blinks and fixations outside stimulus area were excluded from analysis. Taking into account gaze-tracking errors, each fixation was smoothed with a Gaussian kernel ( $\alpha$ =10 pixels, corresponding to 0.4 degree of visual angle in the stimulus space). Individual fixation maps were computed by summing all fixation locations (x, y coordinates) across time for all trials. Moreover, to estimate each participant's fixation bias we first created masks of 1.6° of visual angle for each of the nine VPs. We then extracted the values of the fixation maps independently within each mask. To acquire the individual preference towards different VPs, we ranked the VPs for each participant by the value within the masks (i.e. Viewing Positions Ranks – VPRs).

We first computed the group fixation maps as the smoothed average fixation durations per pixel normalized in the stimulus space. Differences in fixation patterns across groups were then computed as a normalized contrast between EA and WC group maps. We then carried out a two-tailed Bonferroni corrected Pixel test (Chauvin et al. 2005) to assess the significant differences between the group fixation maps. For a detailed discussion on the novel approach used to analyze eye-movement data (*i*Map) see Caldara & Miellet (2011).

Eye movement data collected in Day 2 were segmented in epochs from -100 ms to 500 ms centered on stimulus onsets to maintain consistency with the EEG epoch. Trials with eye blinks and saccades with amplitudes >1° of visual angle were discarded from the microsaccade analysis (7 out of 720, <1%). Following the algorithms detailed in Engbert and Mergenthaler (2006), microsaccades were defined as outliers in 2D velocity space thresholded for peak velocity and minimum duration. We first computed the eye velocity with a modified version of the central difference

algorithm (Bahill et al. 1982; modified by Engbert and Mergenthaler 2006) to suppress high-frequency noise. The eye movement velocity was a combination of vertical and horizontal movement components. Relativity thresholds were set independently for each participant as the outliners (five standard deviations away from the median) of the velocity values observed across the entire 600 ms interval. Microsaccades were then defined where velocity exceeded a relative threshold for a minimum duration of six samples (6 ms). Finally, we only considered binocular microsaccades with a temporal overlap of at least two data samples (2 ms).

#### EEG signal analysis.

Only trials with correct behavioural response were analyzed (96% for WC and 98% for EA, detailed in Result session). EEG signal was preprocessed using BESA 5.2 and further analyzed in EEGLAB (Delorme and Makeig 2004) and Matlab 7.5 (2007b). In BESA, EEG data were referenced off-line to an average reference, and low-passed filtered at 40 Hz with a slope of 6dB. We rejected noisy electrodes on a subject-by-subject basis and later interpolated them using the EEGLAB topoplot function. Activity due to eye blinks was removed from the data before segmentation using BESA built-in principal components analysis (PCA). To exclude possible artefacts from voltage drifts or amplifier saturation, we also discarded segments with absolute voltages larger than  $120\mu$ V. Trials were averaged across epochs of -100 ms to 500 ms (614 time-points), independently per condition. For baseline correction, the average 100 ms of pre-stimulus activity was removed from every time-point independently at each electrode and condition.

To properly determine whether the neural activity measured with EEG was directly related to individually preferred viewing locations (PVL), we fitted different linear mixed-effect model and also conducted linear regressions to quantify the relationship between VPRs and EEG amplitudes. These analysis were applied to at all the electrodes and time-points independently in each group (Rousselet and Pernet 2011). To be consistent with the regressor, electrophysiological responses were also normalized based on the same logic. We Z-scored the ERP signal at each electrode and each time-point across all the participants independently. This analysis is a component-free data-driven method that makes no a-priori assumption about where and when to look for effects in the ERP signal. However, this method increases the likelihood of type I errors (false significant) due to the large number of comparisons.

To correct for multiple comparisons, we used robust statistic, including bootstrap (Wilcox 2005) and a multivariate clustering technique (Maris and Oostenveld 2007). Within each group, we first centered the ERP amplitude so that each condition had a mean of zero. We then used bootstrap to derive an estimate of the sampling distribution of our statistic in a condition in which the null hypothesis of no difference across the means was true. In each bootstrap, we sampled subjects with replacement and carried out the regression (as described above) independently at all electrodes and time-points. The significant F values (P < 0.05) were then grouped in spatiotemporal clusters (Maris and Oostenveld 2007). For each bootstrap, we computed the sum of F values in every cluster and selected the maximum cluster sum. We repeated this procedure 499 times, leading to 500 F cluster sums for each main effect and interaction. After sorting the 500 cluster sums, we selected the 95th percentile as our cluster threshold to assess statistical significance. The significant F values from the original regression were clustered, and the sum of F values inside each cluster was compared with the bootstrap cluster threshold for that test. If an observed cluster sum was equal or larger than the threshold sum obtained under H0, all of the time-points and the electrodes contained in that cluster were considered significant (Vizioli et al. 2010).

#### **3.3 Results**

#### Behaviour

Logit mix model regression is carried out on accuracy rate (ACC) with the following mix-model (1):

ACC ~ 1 + Groups\_of\_observers + VPs + Races\_of\_stimuli + Groups\_of\_observers\*VPs + Groups\_of\_observers\*Races\_of\_stimuli + VPs\*Races\_of\_stimuli (1)

Based on the low difficulty of the task, we expected both group perform equally well with high accuracy rate. Indeed, result showed no significant main effects of *viewing position* (SE = .00176, p = .503) or *groups of observers* (SE = .00644, p = .054). We did not observed any other-race effect in accuracy rate as the result did not show significant interaction between *groups of observers* and *race of the stimuli* (SE = .00418, p = .938). As shown in Figure 3.1b, both WC and EA observers showed high face identification accuracy (WC: 96.3%, 95% CIs [96.0%, 96.6%]; EA: 98.1%, 95%

CIs [97.9%, 98.3%]) regardless of the viewing position. To increase the sensitivity of our analysis, only trials with accurate identification were considered in the following analysis.

A mix model ANOVA (1') is applied on the reaction time (RT).

RT ~ 1 + Groups\_of\_observers + VPs + Races\_of\_stimuli + Groups\_of\_observers\*VPs + Groups\_of\_observers\*Races\_of\_stimuli + VPs\*Races\_of\_stimuli (1')

The result is shown in Figure 3.1c. No significant main effect or interaction is revealed. Especially, no significant interaction between *groups of observers* and *race of the stimuli* is revealed (RT: F (1,425) = .025, p = .874). To further quantify the relationship between fixation bias and reaction time, I fit the following linear mixed-effect model to the interested variables:

Z (RT) ~ 1 + Groups\_of\_observers + VPRs + Groups\_of\_observers\*VPRs + (1 + Races\_of\_stimuli + Groups\_of\_observers\*Races\_of\_stimuli | subject) (2)

Result showed significant main effect of *VPRs* (b = -.11, 95% CIs [-.218, -.006], SE = .00539, t (284) = -2.081, p = .038, see Figure 3.1d). To better estimate the coefficients of the fixation bias in each group of observers, a linear regression was then performed using a robust regression approach independently for WC and EA observers. As shown in model (3), the reaction time was the respond vector and fixation preferences of each VP (VPRs) were entered as predictor. Moreover, to put the participants' behavioural response into the same scale, their reaction time was Z-scored.

$$Z(RT) \sim 1 + VPRs \tag{3}$$

Regression result is shown in Figure 3.1e and 3.1f. Fixation bias (VPZs) significantly regressed with reaction time in both WC observers (b = -.137, 95% CIs [-.207, -.066], SE = .0357, t (106) = -3.823, p = .00022) and EA observers (b = -.075, 95% CIs [-.149, -.00044], SE = .0373, t (106) =-1.995, p = .049).



Figure 3.1. (a) Illustration of 9 Viewing Positions (VPs, white numbers) and the correspondent Viewing Position regions (red circles). Each VP region covers 1.6 degree of visual angle. (b) Accuracy rate for both Western Caucasian (WC, red bar) and East Asian (EA, blue bar) observers of the recognition task in Day 2. (c) Reaction time for both WC and EA observers. (d)Main effect of viewing position ranks (VPRs) in relate to normalized reaction time (RT) in liner mixed-effect model (2). (e) and (f) robust regression between VPRs and RT for both groups of observers. Error bars indicate 95% CIs.

#### **Eye movements**

Group fixation maps were computed based on the eye movement data collected in Day1. Consistently with previous results (Blais et al. 2008; Kelly et al. 2010; Rodger et al. 2010), WC participants preferentially fixated the eyes and mouth regions during face recognition. By contrast, EA participants predominantly fixated on the center of the face, mainly on the nose region. As shown in Figure 3.2c, the difference maps on which a two-tailed pixel test ( $Z_{crit} = |4.25|$  with threshold at p = .05) was applied clearly illustrated diverse fixation strategies across groups of observers. Figure 3.2a and 3.2b show the relative fixation biases per group. The areas fixated above chance are delimited by white borders (Figure 3.2c). The effect sizes on average fixation

intensity between the two groups were calculated using Cohen's d (d = 2.31 for eyes and mouth region, and d = 2.43 for center region).



Figure 3.2. (a) Fixation maps for the Western Caucasian (WC) and b) East Asian (EA) observers in the learning task (Day 1). The white lines delimit areas significantly fixated above chance level. The differential fixation map (c) was computed by subtracting the WC (a) from the EA Zscored group fixation map (b). A significant fixation bias in (c) is shown in the area delimited by white borders ( $Z_{crit} = |4.25|$  with threshold at p = .05, red for WC bias, blue for EA bias).

#### **Data-driven EEG analyses**

*Spatiotemporal linear mixed-effect model.* Linear mixed-effect model was performed independently for all electrodes and all time points with normalized ERP amplitude as response vector and VPRs as input vector.

 $Z [ERP_{(ie, tp)}] \sim 1 + Groups_of_observers + VPRs + Groups_of_observers^*VPRs + (1 + Races_of_stimuli + Groups_of_observers^*Races_of_stimuli | subject)$ (4)

After multiple comparison correction, only significant main effect of VPRs is revealed in the time window of 330 to 380 ms (Figure 3.3a). Within this cluster, VPRs positively correlated with the normalized ERP amplitude over both occipito-temporal clusters (i.e., P7, P7h, P9h, P05, P07, P07h, P09h, P09 on the left; P8, P8h, P10h, P06, P08, P08h, P010h, P010 on the right, see Figure 3.3b), The largest effect was observed over P08 at 357 ms: b = .219, 95% CIs [.176, .262], SE = .0217, t (284) = 10.069, p = 9.39e-20; the minimum effect was reported over P7 at 379 ms: b = .115, 95% CIs [.065, .164], SE = .0252, t (284) = 4.559, p = 8.65e-6.



Figure 3.3. Spatiotemporal linear mixed-effect model results. (a) Significant t-value map of the VPRs main effect after multiple comparison correction. Electrodes are stacked up along the y-axis and time is shown along the x-axis. Statistical significant effects were found in 330 to 380 ms time window. (b)Topography of the VPRs main effect in this time window.

*Spatiotemporal regressions.* Within each group of observers, linear regression was performed independently for all electrodes and all time points with normalized ERP amplitude as response vector and VPRs as input vector.

$$Z\left[\text{ERP}_{(ie, tp)}\right] \sim 1 + \text{VPRs} \tag{5}$$

After multiple comparison correction, significant clusters were reported in both groups of observers in the time window ranging from 330 to 380 ms (Figure 3.4a & 3.4b, red panel). For clarity purposes, here we report only the statistical values of the electrode showing the maximal and the minimal effect within each cluster. VPRs significantly correlated with the normalized ERP amplitude over both occipitotemporal and center-parietal clusters (Figure 3.4g & 3.4i). On both sides of occipitotemporal cluster, VPR positively correlated with ERP amplitudes in both groups of observers (Figure 3.4h & 3.4j). For WC participants, the largest effect within the left cluster was observed over PO9 at 357 ms: *b* = .412, 95% CIs [.367, .463], R<sup>2</sup> = .263, F(1,80) = 34.538, p = 5.35e-4; the minimum effect was reported over P7 at 332 ms: b = .257, 95% CIs [.206, .300],  $R^2$  = .067, F(1,80) = 6.936, p = .032. For EA participants, the largest effect within the left cluster was observed over P9h at 366 ms: b = .457, 95% CIs [.403, .510], R<sup>2</sup> = .367, F(1,80) = 61.375, *p* = 9.63e-5 and the minimum over PO8 at 377 ms: b = .291, 95% CIs [.217, .349],  $R^2 = .062$ , F(1,80) = 6.958, p = .045. Contrarily, on center-parietal cluster (Cz, C1, C2, CPz, etc.), VPR negatively correlated with ERP amplitudes. For WC observers:  $b_{max} = -.417, 95\%$  CIs [-.462, -.368], R<sup>2</sup> = .172, F(1,80) = 21.954, p = 1.609e-6 and  $b_{min} = -.251$ , 95% CIs [-.305, -.199],  $R^2 = .062$ , F(1,80) = 6.947, p = .049. For EA observers:  $b_{max} = -.432$ , 95% CIs [-.489, -.372],  $R^2 = .217$ , F(1,80) = 29.393, p = 5.47e-6 and  $b_{min} = -.251$ , 95% CIs [-.305, -.199],  $R^2 = .062$ , F(1,80) = 6.958, p = .048.



Figure 3.4. Spatiotemporal regression results for the Western Caucasian (WC, (a)) and the East Asian (EA) observers (b) after multiple comparison correction. Only significant clusters are shown. Electrodes are stacked up along the y-axis and time is shown along the x-axis. Statistical significant effects were found in two time-windows. Within the first, occurring at around 100 ms to 150 ms (yellow box), only EA observers show significant regression between Viewing Positions Region (VPR) intensity and normalized ERP amplitude (highlight as yellow). The second (red box) occurred at around 330 ms to 380 ms with consistent cluster burst in both groups. Topographies of both groups of observers at the latency of the maximum effect within each time window are shown accordingly in c), e), g) and i). Line plots of the original ERP are shown in d), f), h) and j) with only the most preferred VP (highest VPR intensity, red line) and the least fixated VP (lowest VPR intensity, green line) of selected electrodes (white circles shown in topographies, accordingly).

Moreover, a significant cluster in the time window ranging from 100 ms to 150 ms was observed at center-occipital electrode sites (i.e., POz, Oz, OIz, Iz, O1h, O2h) for EA

observers only (Figure 3.4b yellow panel and Figure 3.4e). Regression results showed that VPR intensity were negatively correlated with normalized ERP amplitudes:  $b_{max}$  = -.527, 95% CIs [-.571, -.470], R<sup>2</sup> = .280, F(1,80) = 41.216, *p* = 1.44e-7 over Oz at 134 ms and  $b_{min}$  = -0.283, 95% CIs [-.331, -.227], R<sup>2</sup> = 0.079, F(1,80) = 9.148, *p* = .038 over POz at 103 ms; see Figure 3.4f.

#### Microsaccades

Figure 3.5c & 3.5d show the rate of microsaccades after the presentation of target stimuli along the ERP time course in both groups of observers. Previous studies showed that the microsaccade rate follows a stereotypical time course after sensory events, apparent as an early inhibition followed by a later rebound (Engbert and Kliegl 2003; Rolfs et al. 2008a). A similar result was observed here: after stimulus onset microsaccade occurrence decreased over time, to then increase after 200 ms, reaching a stable level at 300 ms.

To rule out the effect of microsaccade onset rate on our analysis, and especially the increase of microsaccade rate in the time window from 300 ms to 400 ms, we carried out a second level analysis on the spatiotemporal regression, taking microsaccade rate into account. After EEG signal preprocessing, but before averaging ERP epoch, the trials containing microsaccades on-set between 300 ms to 400 ms were excluded. This reduced the mean number of trials per condition to 56 (SD = 10.4). We then carried out the regressions between VPR intensity and the ERP amplitude again. As shown in Figure 3.5e & 3.5f, however, the pattern of result did not change.





#### Topography

To provide further insights on the neural correlates underlying activation pattern revealed by the regression, we computed Pearson's correlation between the topography of the beta weight obtained from the regression between VPRs and ERP amplitudes (which showed significant effects at roughly 350 ms – Figure 3.6a & 3.6d) with the original ERP topography of N170 (Figure 3.6b & 3.6e) and P300 (Figure 3.6c & 3.6f) components independently per group of observers. Beta topography correlated higher with the N170 topography (Pearson's correlation coefficient of WC observers  $|r_{WC}| = .916$ , p = 8.21e-52 and EA observers  $|r_{EA}| = .798$ , p = 1.92e-29) compared to P300 ( $|r_{WC}| = .736$ , p = 3.95e-23 for WC observers and  $|r_{EA}| = .569$ , p = 2.47e-12 for EA observers). Pearson's correlation between beta topography map and original topography is performed independently for all participants. Paired-sample ttest is performed on individual Pearson's r for each pair of comparison after fisher transformed. The correlation between beta and P300 topography (t (23) = 3.391, p = .0025).



Figure 3.6. The topographies of the beta weight from the regression cluster at 357 ms for Western Caucasian (WC) observers (a) and at 366 ms for East Asian (EA) observers (d). b), e), c) & f) are the original ERP topographies of N170 (147 ms for WC observers and 146 ms for EA observers) and P300 (356 ms for WC observers and 341 ms for EA observers), respectively for WC (top row) and EA observers (bottom row).

## 3.4 Discussion

Culture alters the way people look at faces. Our data confirmed that Westerners preferentially fixate the eyes and mouth during face recognition, whereas, strikingly, Easterners focus more on the central facial region (Blais et al. 2008; Kelly et al. 2010; Kita et al. 2010; Rodger et al. 2010). Here, we aimed to isolate the neural dynamics of this perceptual, by using an original experimental design overcoming the EEG artefacts generated in the signal by eye movements. Regardless of the culture of the observer, brief fixation on Preferred Viewing Location (PVLs) increase participant's behavioral performance. Contrary to our initial expectations, the face-sensitive N170 was not modulated by the facial features presented on PVLs, or by the culture of the observers. In contrast, our data showed that the cultural contrast in PVLs for faces is *universally* coded by a distinct electrophysiological scalp response on the occipitotemporal cortex, occurring at about 350 ms in the time window of the P3 component. Interestingly, the topography enclosing the late sensitivity to PVLs was strikingly similar to the electrophysiological N170 topography and unrelated to a burst of microsaccades occurring in its time window.

#### Methodological contributions

There have been different attempts to combine eye movement and electrophysiological measures. Researchers either measured EEG and eye movements over separate sessions to then associate the averaged responses (Raney and Rayner 1993; Sereno et al. 1998); or recorded both measures simultaneously and correlated their signals (Dimigen et al. 2011; Nikolaev et al. 2011). In the latter scenario, fixation-related brain potentials (FRPs) are computed by averaging the electrical brain activity after saccade offset to isolate the contribution of the neural generator of saccadic movement to the ERP signals (e.g., Dimigen et al. 2011; Nikolaev et al. 2011). However, the implementation of this approach holds potential drawbacks, especially when investigating high-level neural responses to visual stimuli. Electrophysiological signals produced by neural saccade generators and those elicited by the stimulus at hand would concomitantly modulate the ERP signal, compromising the discrimination of the relative contribution of each of those two processes.

To overcome this limitation, we measured observers' fixation patterns in a separate free viewing face learning session. We extracted the fixation intensities in nonoverlapping Viewing Position Regions (VPRs), as a measure of the individual preferences towards each Viewing positions. To directly link the eye movement and electrophysiological signals, we then simulated a single fixation by briefly presenting faces on 1 of 9 viewing positions and simultaneously recorded eye movements. We then performed a data-driven spatiotemporal regression between the VPR fixation intensities and the normalized ERP amplitude signals across all the time points and all the electrodes. In addition, following the recent concerns in microsaccade contamination of event-related EEG data (Dimigen et al. 2009; Yuval-Greenberg et al. 2008), we further carried out a confirmatory analysis by excluding the trials containing microsaccades.

#### Early and late electrophysiological responses of Preferred Visual Locations

P1 - We found a cluster of electrodes peaking at around 130 ms over the centraloccipital site that was sensitive to PVLs in East Asian observers only. This observation might be accounted by a stronger sensitivity for processing faces with extra-foveal vision within this cultural group. In fact, we have recently shown that Westerners mainly rely on foveal vision, using mostly a relatively small (local) information span. In contrast, Easterners predominantly use a large information span, relying more on extra-foveal information while processing faces (Miellet et al. 2013). Since faces were mostly presented in diverse eccentric VPs, they most probably triggered a greater use of visual resources in Easterners, as the observers from this culture tend to extract global information from faces.

N170 - In the electrophysiological literature, the N170 has been established as being the major component showing sensitivity to faces (e.g., Bentin et al. 1996; Carmel and Bentin 2002; Rossion and Jacques 2008). Despite the N170 being clearly affected by various experimental and stimulus manipulations (Joyce et al. 2006), there is limited *direct* evidence in the literature that suggests that its amplitude is modulated by the facial features attended by the observers (but see the work of Schyns, 2003 & 2004). For example McPartland et al. (2010) showed that N170 amplitude was larger when participants gazed at the upper (i.e., between the eyes) and the lower part (i.e., mouth) of the face, compared to the central part (i.e., the nose). In the current study, we did not find significant modulation of the N170. The absence of an early

electrophysiological effect on the N170 was surprising, yet not completely unexpected. To simulate genuine eye movement fixations to single features, we intentionally used faces covering a large visual angle (roughly 10° degrees). This is notably larger to what is routinely used in the electrophysiological literature (in general less than 7° of visual angle). Therefore, with this visual control it was not trivial for the observers to process all facial information from a single fixation, which might have engendered the necessity of going through a deeper stage of processing to retrieve the fine-grained representations of the facial identities. This observation is in line with previous studies, showing that the N170 amplitude was modulated by face images with task-related diagnostic information only on gender task but not on expression task (Joyce et al. 2006). In addition, unlike McPartland et al. (2010), here we used an active task. This factor could also account for the absence of an effect at this stage of face processing. More importantly, McPartland et al. (2010) did not consider the cultural bias in fixation preferences or directly took into account individual fixation preferences. This is an important drawback, as our active freeviewing condition clearly shows that every observer, even within the same cultural group, deploys a specific individual fixation pattern to achieve face recognition.

P300 - The novelty relies here. We found a distinct and strong linear relationship between both measures at around 350 milliseconds, on a cluster of bilateral and central electrodes of the occipital-temporal scalp. The more one region was preferentially fixated by an observer, the greater the electrophysiological amplitude responses on those clusters. This result remained unaltered after the removal of microsaccades, which indicated that this electrophysiological pattern is genuinely related to neural and not muscular activations related to micro eye movements.

The positive on-going amplitude occurring in this time window and its topography are in line with the P300 or P3b, a classical ERP component following the N170. The P300 is considered as a component reflecting decision-making process (Philiastides et al. 2006). Its amplitude is directly related to task demands, cognitive and perception workload (Kok 2001). Although P300 is usually not considered as face-specific, limited evidence suggests that it can be modulated by face processing (Liddell et al. 2004; Schupp et al. 2004; Streit et al. 2000), especially when an active task is involved (Campanella et al. 2000; Smith et al. 2004). For example Smith et al. (2004) showed that selective attention to diagnostic features and correct

categorization modulated the P300 signal. In another example, the P300 amplitude was modulated by task complexity only when the participant was required to respond (Campanella et al. 2000).

Of particular interest, our data-driven classification procedure clearly associated the scalp topographies of our statistical regression effects to the surface activations characterizing the N170 electrophysiological topography for faces (and not the P300). This observation suggests that the neural activations modulated by the individual fixation preferences are most probably tapping into a neural network similar to the one recruited during the occurrence of the N170. Since the N170 has been associate to the brain regions dedicated to face processing (Sadeh et al. 2010), the P300 sensitivity to PVLs might be related to a re-entrant signal in the face system. This re-entrance for PVLs might reflect an access to fine-grained representations dedicated to decision recognition processes.

Regardless of this interpretation, the topography of the neural fixation bias for faces we identified here suggests that this phenomenon is most probably occurring in the occipito-temporal cortex instead of the frontal brain areas dedicated to the control of eye movements. However, due to the spatial resolution of EEG, further investigations are necessary to isolate the neural generators behind this effect and clarify the extent to which it would be related to the processing of faces, non-face visual objects and words.

## 3.5 Conclusions

Eye movement studies have shown that the preferred viewing locations for faces are different across East Asian and Western Caucasian observers. To isolate the neural responses underlying this cultural visual preference, we used a novel experimental design coupled with original robust data-driven analyses directly combining eye movements with electrophysiological signals over the time course. Our data show that the cultural perceptual bias is linked to a distinct universal electrophysiological response. Fixations towards the individual preferred facial regions elicit maximal bilateral occipito-temporal responses at around 350 ms, with a scalp topography very similar to the one typifying the face-sensitive N170 component. These findings provide unique evidence for a neural coding of eye movements for faces with an

identical neural signature in every individual, most probably occurring in the occipito-temporal brain areas dedicated to face processing.

# 4 Culture modulates the Temporal Dynamics of Global/Local Processing

#### Preamble

Cultural differences in the way individuals from Western Caucasian (WC) and East Asian (EA) societies perceive and attend to visual information have been consistently reported in recent years. WC observers favor and perceive most efficiently the salient, local visual information by directing attention to focal objects. In contrast, EA observers show a bias towards global information, by preferentially attending elements in the background. However, the underlying neural mechanisms and the temporal dynamics of this striking cultural contrast have yet to be clarified.

The combination of Navon figures, which contain both global and local features, and the measurement of neural adaptation constitute an ideal way to probe this issue. We recorded the electrophysiological signals of WC and EA observers while they actively matched culturally neutral geometric Navon shapes. In each trial, participants sequentially viewed and categorized an adapter shape followed by a target shape, as being either: identical; global congruent; local congruent; and different. We quantified the repetition suppression (stRS), a reduction in neural activity in stimulus sensitive regions following stimulus repetition, using a single-trial approach. A robust data-driven spatio-temporal analysis revealed at 80ms a significant interaction between the culture of the observers and shape adaptation. EA observers showed sensitivity to global congruency on the attentional P1 component, whereas WC observers showed discrimination for global shapes at later stages.

Our data revealed an early sensitivity to global and local shape categorization, which is modulated by culture. This neural tuning could underlie more complex behavioral differences observed across human populations.

(This chapter has been published in Culture and Brain under the same title)
## 4.1 Introduction

Human visual experience is strongly modulated by culture. For over 20 years, crosscultural research in cognitive science and, more recently in neuroscience, have shown that culture shapes the way we perceive the world (for a review, see Han et al. 2013). Studies comparing Western Caucasian (WC) and East Asian (EA) observers have provided convergent evidence on the cultural perceptual biases characterizing the cognitive styles of those populations (e.g., Nisbett and Miyamoto 2005; Nisbett et al. 2001). Westerners preferably focus on local information in objects (e.g., Masuda and Nisbett 2001), scene (e.g., Masuda and Nisbett 2006), and face perception (e.g., Blais et al. 2008; Caldara et al. 2010). In contrast, individuals from EA cultures - such as China or Japan - display instead a perceptual bias towards global information processing. Recent evidence has suggested that this cultural contrast might rely on culture-specific tuning towards visual spatial frequency information (Miellet et al. 2013). More precisely, WC observers use preferentially high spatial frequency information from foveal vision (e.g., see Miellet et al. 2013 for evidence from face recognition). In contrast, EA observers preferentially process contextual information by relying on extra-foveal vision during face recognition (Miellet et al. 2013), and for change detection of both low-level visual stimuli (e.g., color blocks; Boduroglu et al. 2009) and complex real-world stimuli (e.g., natural scenes; Masuda and Nisbett 2001).

These perceptual tunings have been related to attentional differences across cultural groups (Nisbett et al. 2001). In a series of studies, it has been consistently demonstrated that WC observers attend to and process more effectively local features, while EA observers exhibit a global attention bias (McKone et al. 2010; Nisbett and Miyamoto 2005; Hedden et al. 2008; Kitayama et al. 2003). For example, Kitayama et al. (2003) presented Westerners and Esterners a vertical line within a square frame and subsequently asked the observers to report the length of the line (i.e., rod-and-frame task). In the task requiring local selective attention (i.e., reporting the absolute length without referencing to the surrounding frame), WC observers are more accurate than EA observers, whereas EA observers outperformed WC observers in the task requiring global selective attention (i.e., reporting the relative length by referencing to the surrounding frame). EA observers are also more distracted by

unrelated global information and faster at detecting targets at the global level compared to Westerners, (Boduroglu et al. 2009; Petrova et al. 2013), which suggest they might have a global selective attention bias. Within this framework yet, McKone et al. (2010) used Navon stimuli to directly quantify the global/local attention bias between Westerners and Easterners. Navon figures are hierarchical stimuli comprising a large global shape constituted by small local shapes (Navon 1977). One of the main advantages of these images lies in that participants viewing the very same stimulus (thus perfectly matched in terms of low-level visual properties) can be cued or can show a visual preference to either the local or global elements (McKone et al. 2010; Navon 1977). Interestingly, McKone et al. (2010) reported that only East Asian observers identified target letters faster when they were appearing at the global level. These authors attributed this performance advantage to a more effective global-selective attention in EA compared to WC observers (McKone et al. 2010).

However, the difference in attention selectivity between cultures has been questioned in a number of studies. For example, a direct replication of Kitayama et al. (2003) reported that both WC and EA observers performed better at tasks requiring more global- than local-selective attention (Zhou et al. 2008). Eye tracking results also showed that EA observers do not overtly direct more attention (i.e., fixations) towards the global information than WC observers (Evans et al. 2009; Miellet et al. 2010; Rayner et al. 2009; Rayner et al. 2007; but see Chua et al. 2005). In other crosscultural studies using Navon figures, Caparos et al. (2013) tested observers from Himba culture (i.e. a remote culture from North Namibia, see Davidoff et al. 2008) and reported a perceptual bias to local features in this population. However, despite such very strong local perceptual bias, the Himba did not underperform on global selective-tasks compared to Western controls (Caparos et al. 2013). Altogether, the extent to which attentional processes are playing a key role on the cultural differences reported above and the presence of this perceptual bias across the Western and Eastern cultures remains to be clarified.

The electroencephalography (EEG) technique is highly relevant to probe this question and identify whether and when attentional processes would drive such cultural perceptual biases in global/local processing. Notably, attention modulates a particular electrophysiological signature in human observers: the P1 event-related potential (ERP) (Hillyard et al. 1973; Van Voorhis & Hillyard, 1977; for a review, see Luck, Woodman, & Vogel, 2000). The P1 is a positive deflection peaking roughly 100 ms after stimulus onset on the occipital scalp surface, larger for attended than unattended information. Surprisingly, studies directly comparing two groups of observers did not reveal differences on this component (Goto et al. 2010; Lewis et al. 2008). For example, Goto et al. (2010) manipulated the semantic incongruity between objects and scenes. They only observed cultural differences in the ERP amplitudes at later stages of information processing (i.e., N400 components; Kutas and Hillyard, 1980; Holcomb and Neville, 1991). While methodological shortcomings such as significant differences in low-level visual properties of the stimuli should be taken into consideration (Petrova et al. 2013), conventional ERP analysis relying on absolute amplitude differences across conditions might not be sensitive enough to reveal early effects (see Vizioli et al., 2010). In order to increase the sensitivity of the electrophysiological signals, here we adopted one of the most powerful methods used in the neurophysiological literature, which relies on the neural repetition effect. Adaptation is a well-established paradigm used to reveal the nature of information coding at the perceptual and neurophysiological levels (for a review, see Grill-Spector et al. 2006). In this framework, "repetition suppression" (RS) is the reduction of neural activity, in stimulus-related regions, associated to the presentation of two or more stimuli in rapid succession (Grill-Spector et al. 2006; Henson 2003; Henson and Rugg 2003; Wiggs and Martin 1998). It has been argued that RS represents a "sharpening" mechanism within the neural population that engage in the processing of the repeated stimulus (Grill-Spector et al. 2006; Wiggs and Martin 1998). Thus, the amount of RS reflects the capacity of neural populations to discriminate different information and can thus be viewed as a novelty detection mechanism and a more efficient coding of the sensory input (Caharel et al. 2009; Grill-Spector et al. 2006; Jenkins et al. 2010; Vizioli et al. 2010). RS has been reported in EEG and fMRI studies across a variety of cognitive tasks (e.g., Gutnisky and Dragoi 2008; Müller et al. 1999; Todorovic and de Lange 2012; Vizioli et al. 2010). Interestingly, RS has recently been observed in cross-cultural studies on the blood oxygenation level-dependent (BOLD) signal with functional magnetic resonance imaging (Goh et al. 2007; Jenkins et al. 2010). Jenkins et al. (2010) found a significantly larger RS to incongruent scenes than to congruent scenes in bilateral occipital cortex for Chinese participants. This observation suggests that EA observers engage more in object processing when it appears in incongruent than in congruent contexts, which also indicates a bias towards global processing in this population. However, the temporal dynamics of this cultural perceptual bias are still largely unexplored.

To clarify this issue, we took full advantage of the conjoint use of Navon stimuli with an EEG adaptation paradigm, in order to map out the temporal dynamics of global/local shape processing in WC and EA observers. EA and WC observers viewed sequences of two Navon figures (an adaptor and a target, see Figure 4.1), while we recorded their scalp EEG signals. Importantly, Navon images were constituted by elementary geometric shapes equally familiar to both groups of observers (and not by Romanic letters, for which Westerners have greater experience). Participants performed an active categorization task requiring the selective detection of (a potential) change occurring either on global or local features on the target image. To control for electrophysiological artifacts generated by saccades, we simultaneously recorded the eye movements and participants were trained to fixate at the center of the screen. Moreover, instead of applying a conventional electrophysiological analysis that would only focus on the target ERPs, we adopted the novel single-trial analysis method developed by Vizioli et al. (2010). Electrophysiological responses elicited by the target shapes were subtracted from those elicited by the adaptor shapes independently at the single-trial level (see methods). To better estimate their temporal sensitivity, we then used a data-driven spatio-temporal analyses carried out independently at all electrodes and all the time-points. Our results showed that EA observers were more efficient at detecting global changes compared to WC observers. This behavioral effect was paired with larger RS responses for global changes as early as 80 ms after stimulus onset, on the attention-sensitive P1 component. These results confirm and refine the cultural perceptual bias for global processing in Easterners, a process that occurs very early and it is rooted into selective attention.

### 4.2 Methods

#### Participants

Twelve East Asians (7 females) and 12 Western Caucasians (6 females) took part in the study. All participants were students from the University of Glasgow with normal or corrected-to-normal vision. Participants' ages ranged from 20 to 29 years (mean age 25.7). All the EA participants were from Mainland China, and had no previous experience with a Western country. The maximum duration of residence in the UK for the EA participants upon testing was less than 6 months. The experiment received the approval of the local ethical committee and all participants provided written informed consent.

#### Stimuli and procedure

Stimuli were hierarchical Navon figures composed by five different shapes: circle, cross, diamond, square, and triangle (Navon, 1977; see Figure 4.1). We employed geometric shape to avoid familiarity differences with alphabet letters between two groups of observers. The local shapes  $(0.6^{\circ} \times 0.6^{\circ} \text{ of visual degree at a viewing distance of 70 cm})$  were equally spaced and arranged to create the global shapes  $(5.8^{\circ} \times 5.8^{\circ})$ , resulting in a total number of 25 different stimuli. To minimize the effect of low-level visual adaptation stemming from identical images, the size of the target Navon stimulus was slightly larger than the adaptor  $(0.72^{\circ} \times 0.72^{\circ} \text{ on local level and } 6^{\circ} \times 6^{\circ} \text{ on global level}$ ). Stimuli were presented on a Dell P1130 19" CRT monitor with an 800 × 600 pixel gray background, at a refresh rate of 170 Hz.

At the beginning of the experiment, participants sat in a dimly lit, sound-attenuated electrically shielded booth. Each trial started with a fixation cross (0.3°) presented at the center of the screen for 300 ms. The adaptor was presented for 800 ms, followed by an interval duration randomly ranging between 150 to 300 ms. The second shape was then presented for 600 ms. Following the offset of the target stimuli, subjects were required to respond by pressing a key on a standard computer keyboard. A randomized inter-trial interval between 1200-1500 ms preceded the beginning of the following trial.



Figure 4.1, Experimental procedure. Different color in the target represents the condition in the current study (as shown in the legend)

We used a forced choice task. During the experiment, participants categorized the feature change between each pair of adaptor and target. There were four conditions: 1) *identical*; 2) *global congruent* condition, where only the local features were changed; 3) *local congruent* condition, where only the global features were changed; 4) *different* - both local and global features were different. Upon the offset of the target, participants assigned the trial to one of the conditions by pressing one of the four pre-assigned buttons, corresponding, respectively to the letter "d", "f", "j", and "k". An example sheet (similar to Figure 4.1) was provided prior to beginning the experiment to explain the four possible conditions. Participants were instructed to respond as quickly and as accurately as possible. To prevent perceptual and decisional bias, we counterbalanced all 25 stimuli so that all stimuli would appear in the same proportion both as an adaptor and as a target in each condition and the trial sequence was also randomized. Moreover, to minimize the potential EEG artifacts

generated by eye movement, we monitored and processed participants' eye movements online for trial validation. Trials containing blink or saccade during stimulus presentation were excluded. We defined a trial as valid if the gaze-drift during the stimulus presentation was less than 1° of visual angle away from the fixation cross. Prior to commencing the experiment, participants performed 20 practice trials to familiarize themselves with the task. The experiment ended when a participant completed 600 valid trials (4 conditions × 150 repetitions). Subjects were given a short break every 100 trials. The whole experiment was programmed in Matlab 2007b, using the Psychophysics Toolbox (PTB-3, Brainard, 1997; Kleiner et al, 2007).

#### *Eye tracking and EEG recording.*

Eye movements were recorded by means of Desktop-Mount EyeLink 2K eyetracker (SR Research Ltd., Mississauga, Ont., Canada) with a temporal resolution of 1000 Hz, a spatial resolution of 0.01° of visual angle and an average gaze position error of about 0.25°. Eye movements were recorded monocularly on the dominant eye. The eye movement data were recorded via Matlab (R2006a), using the Psychophysics (PTB-3) and EyeLink Toolbox extensions (Brainard, 1997; Cornelissen et al, 2002). Calibration and validation of eye fixation were conducted before the experiment and repeated whenever necessary during the procedure.

The EEG data was recorded continuously at 1024 Hz from a 128-channel Biosemi Active Two EEG system (Biosemi, Amsterdam, Netherlands). Ag/AgCl electrodes were placed in a nylon cap following the 10-5 system (Oostenveld and Praamstra 2001). Data were band-pass filtered (0.1 and 100 Hz) online. Electrode impedance was kept between  $\pm 25 \text{ k}\Omega$ . The recording reference and ground consisted of two active electrodes (CMS, Common Mode Sense; DRL, Driven Right Leg. For further information see <u>www.biosemi.com</u>). Subjects were asked to minimize blinking, head movement, and other body movement.

#### Behavioral and EEG analysis

We carried out 2 (*groups of observers*) × 4 (*feature changes*) mixed model ANOVAs independently on the reaction time (RT) and accuracy rate (ACC). The two groups of observers (WC and EA) were the between subjects factor and the four conditions (*identical; global congruent; local congruent;* and *different*) were the within subjects

factors. Moreover, to take into account both measurements, inverse efficiency score (IES - Bruyer and Brysbaert 2011; Townsend and Ashby 1978, 1983) was calculated as:

$$IES = RT / ACC$$

Only trials with correct behavioral response were analyzed (93.7% for WC and 95.5% for EA, detailed in Result session). EEG data was preprocessed and analyzed using Matlab and EEGLAB toolbox (Delorme and Makeig 2004). The raw signal was referenced off-line to an average reference, and low-passed filtered at 40 Hz. Noisy electrodes were excluded, and interpolated using a spline interpolation algorithm implemented in EEGLAB on a subject-by-subject basis. EEG data were epoched from - 100 ms to 500 ms relative to stimulus onset, separately for adaptor and target, independently per condition. Baseline was defined as 100 ms prior to, until stimulus onset. Baseline correction was applied by removing the average baseline amplitude from every time point independently for each epoch. To fully exploit the paired nature of the adaptation design, trials were only accepted if both signals elicited by adaptor and target stimuli were below the rejection threshold. Single-trial repetition suppression (stRS) was then calculated for the accepted trials only, by subtracting the target shape epoch from the adaptor epoch. For more details about the procedure, see Vizioli et al. (2010).

We carried out the same 2 (*group of observers*) × 4 (*feature change*) mixed model ANOVAs independently at all electrodes and all time-points on the stRS amplitude. To correct for multiple comparisons, we used robust statistics, including bootstrap (Wilcox 2005) and a multivariate clustering technique (Maris and Oostenveld 2007; Vizioli et al. 2010). Within each group, we first centered each stRS trial on the mean amplitude so that each condition had a mean of zero. We then used bootstrap, sampling with replacement the subjects, to derive an estimate of the sampling distribution under the null hypothesis of no difference across the conditions' means. We carried out the mixed model ANOVAs (as described above) independently at all electrodes and time-points on the centered bootstrapped stRS. The significant F values (P < 0.05) were then grouped in spatiotemporal clusters (Maris and Oostenveld 2007; Vizioli et al. 2010). We computed the sum of F values in every cluster and selected the maximum cluster sum. After repeating the same procedure 500 times, we sorted all the cluster sums according to their values and selected the 95th percentile as the cluster threshold. The original ANOVA clusters F-value sums were then compared with the bootstrap cluster threshold. If an observed cluster sum was equal to or larger than the threshold sum obtained under H0, all of the time-points and the electrodes contained in that cluster were considered significant (Vizioli et al. 2010).

### 4.3 Results

#### Behavioural results

The behavioral results are summarized in Figure 4.2. The 2 x 4 ANOVAs carried out on RT, ACC and IES showed significant main effects of *feature change* for RT [*F* (3,66) = 52.07, *p* < .05], ACC [*F* (3,66) = 30.17, *p* < .05], and IES [*F* (3,66) = 49.49, *p* < .05]. Post hoc paired-sample t-tests indicated that both *groups of observers* responded faster and more accurately to the *identical* condition compared to the others. No main effect of *groups of observers* was observed for all three measurements [RT: *F* (1,22) = 0.96; ACC: *F* (1,22) = 1.66; IES: *F* (1,22) = 1.52. All *p* > .05].

Importantly, we observed a significant interaction of *group of observers (2)* x *feature change (4)* for the IES [F(3, 66) = 3.59, p < .05]. To clarify this result, we performed post hoc paired-sample t-tests on the IES values between the *local* and *global congruent* conditions independently for each group of observers. This analysis revealed that WC observers identified *local congruent* items (M = 673 ms, SD = 293) significantly slower than the *global congruent* ones [M = 551 ms, SD = 229, t (11) = 2.79, p < .05]. No differences were reported between *global* and *local congruent* conditions for EA observers [t(11) = 1.41, p > .05].



Figure 4.2, Results of reaction time (a), accuracy rate (b), and inverse efficiency score (c). Only global congruent and local congruent conditions are shown for the inverse efficiency score (c). Error bars show standard errors from the means

#### Single-trial RS results

The minimum number of accepted trials across all subjects and conditions was 100. Figure 4.3 shows the adaptor ERP, target ERP, and stRS for the electrode where the F values for the *groups of observers* x *feature change* interaction was maximal (i.e. P4).



Figure 4.3, ERP and stRS for P4. a) and b) depicts the mean ERPs elicited by the adaptor (solid line) and the target faces (dashed line) for the four conditions (identical, red line; global congruent, green line; local congruent, blue line; different, yellow line) for WC (a) and EA (b) observers. stRS responses are shown in (c) for WC and (b) EA

After multiple comparisons correction, the Mix-model ANOVA revealed a significant interaction (*groups of observers × feature change*) at two spatial-temporal clusters (Figure 4.4a). The first cluster was located at right occipito–parietal electrodes

(Figure 4.4b). Its time-window was within the latency of the P1 component, which ranged from 60 to 110 ms. The F-value of the first cluster reached its maximum at 88 ms at electrode P4 [minimum *F* (3, 66) = 2.24; maximum *F* (3, 66) = 8.32, *p* < .05]. This was the same electrode where P1 component reached its maximum amplitude. Post hoc paired-sample t-tests showed that *global congruent* trials elicited significantly larger stRS responses compared to *local congruent* condition in EA observers [*t* (11) = 3.26, *p* < .05]. No significant difference between *global* and *local congruent* conditions were observed for WC observers [*t* (11) = 0.39, *p* > .05. See Figure 4.4e].

The second significant spatial-temporal cluster occurred within the time-window ranging from 200 to 350 ms (i.e. the posterior N2 component) and was spatially located around the anterior parietal electrodes (Figure 4.4b). F-value topography maps revealed 3 local maxima with different spatial distributions (See Figure 4.4c & d). The first occurred at 236 ms at electrode CP6 with a right-lateralized topography [*F*(3, 66) = 8.42, *p* < .05, Figure 4.4c]. Post hoc paired-sample t-tests indicated larger stRS responses to *local congruent* compared to *global congruent* conditions for EAs [t (11) = 2.4, p < .05 but not WCs [t (11) = .18, p > .05, Figure 4.4f]. The second maximum occurred at 273 ms over center-parietal electrodes [C2, *F*(3, 66) = 10.01, *p* < .05, Figure 4.4d]. Post hoc paired-sample t-tests indicated that WCs displayed larger stRS responses to global congruent compared to local congruent conditions [t (11) = 2.24, p < .05]. No significant differences were observed for EAs [t(11) = .21, p > .05, Figure 4.4g]. The third maximum was observed at 312 ms at electrode C5 [F (3, 66) = 9.29, p < .05]. Post hoc paired-sample t-tests showed significantly larger stRS responses to *local congruent* compared to *global congruent* conditions for WCs [t (11) = 4.30, p < .05]. No significant differences were observed for EAs participants [t (11) = 2.145, *p* > .05].



Figure 4.4, Significant interaction of spatial-temporal ANOVAs. (a) Significant F values of the groups of observers × feature change interaction on the stRS amplitude. The x-axis depicts the time points of the stRS epoch, while the y-axis indicates the 128 electrodes. The electrode order is unrelated to their spatial topographical positions. (b), (c), & (d) portrays the F-value topography maps at the local peaks of the P1 and N2 spatial-temporal clusters. For illustration purpose, here the first two local peaks of the N2 cluster are shown. (b) represents the F-value topography of the P1 spatial-temporal cluster at 88 ms (latency of the peak F-value),which was maximal at electrode P4. (c) & (d) show F-value topographies of the N2 spatial-temporal cluster at two local F-value peaks (236 ms and 273 ms). The peak electrodes were CP6 and C2,

respectively. (e), (f), & (g) illustrates the mean stRS responses of global congruent and local congruent conditions for WC and EA observers at each F-value peak latency at the respective electrodes. For display purposes, stRS on the negative component was multiplied by -1. Thus, more positive values indicate larger repetition suppression. Error bars show standard errors from the means.

### 4.4 Discussion

The present study aimed to address *whether* and *when* cultural perceptual tunings to global/local information are driven by attention. We directly tested this hypothesis on Western Caucasian (WC) and East Asian (EA) observers while recording their scalp electrophysiological signals during the visual categorization of hierarchical shapes differing in their global/local properties. We used an adaptation paradigm, as well as a single-trial method coupled with robust data-driven analyses on all the electrodes and time points. The behavioral results showed that EA observers display a global advantage by processing more effectively visual changes on this visual property compared to WC observers. More importantly, our electrophysiological data showed that global/local feature repetition modulates the P1 and N2 ERP components as a function of culture. Specifically East Asian observers showed greater sensitivity to *global* congruency on this component compared to WC observers. These observations confirm the existence and refine the knowledge on the cultural attentional biases in visual information sampling, which are consistent with previous observations (Kitayama et al. 2003; McKone et al. 2010). Importantly, this early neurophysiological signature of cultural diversity in Easterners cannot be accounted by the inherent nature of the stimuli and/or task, as it was not present in Western Caucasian observers. Westerners showed sensitivity to hierarchical Navon shapes discrimination at later stages.

#### Attention modulation on the P1 component

We reported an interaction between the culture of the observers and the neural sensitivity to global/local information coding at early stages of visual information processing. Firstly, only EA participants showed larger stRS responses to global compared to local feature repetition, as early as 80 ms after stimulus onset; the time window of the P1 ERP component. The P1 is a positive deflection peaking between 70

and 120 ms at central occipital electrodes, which has been consistently related to attention (Luck, Woodman, & Vogel, 2000). The P1 amplitude modulations observed in EA observers suggest that the global precedence in this population is modulated by attention. Importantly, there is a growing body of evidence positing that larger RS responses reflect greater neural coding efficiency (Caharel et al. 2009; Grill-Spector et al. 2006; Vizioli et al. 2010). Although the precise neural mechanisms of RS are still debated, numerous models have been proposed to account for the reduction in neural activity following stimulus repetition (Grill-Spector et al. 2006; Schacter et al. 2007). The most prominent account – the sharpening model – holds that the neuronal representations of a stimulus become less redundant and sparser with repetition (Grill-Spector et al. 2006). Under the same model, RS can also be considered as a neural novelty detection mechanism (Vizioli et al. 2010). Therefore, the larger amount of RS to global features for EA observers can result from a more efficient neural coding of global information at this stage, which is reflected in the sharpening of global feature representations as a function of attention. Moreover, the absence of significant differences in the amount of stRS between global and local feature repetition in Westerners suggests that, at least at early neural stages of processing, there is no preferential tuning to either global or local information coding in this population.

In line with our findings, the sensitivity to global/local selective attention on the posterior P1 component has previously been reported in a number of studies (Han et al. 1997, 1999; Han et al. 2000; Lin et al. 2008). For example, the priming of interdependent self-construal, which is closely related to global perceptual bias (Kühnen and Oyserman 2002; Lin and Han 2009), enlarged the P1 amplitude to global compared to local features in Chinese participants (Lin et al. 2008). Similarly, Han et al. (1997, 1999 & 2000) showed that selective attention to global or local feature modified the P1 amplitude in EA observers. The data reported here are in line with previous studies, reinforcing the view of an early sensitivity to global information coding on the P1 component in Easterners only. In contrast, WC observers did not show sensitivity to their preferred (i.e., local) features in this early component. It is worth to point out that in the current task observers were forced to attend equally information at both the global and the local levels, since they could not predict the nature of the potential change in target shape. Therefore, in this task global processing might be more dominant than local processing. Thus, the absence of

sensitivity in Westerers on the P1 component could be accounted by the ineherent, general, slower processing of local compared to global features in visual information processing.

Moreover, EA observers showed a behavioral advantage on the global task compared to WC observers. This advantage is likely to arise from their early attentional bias towards global information. In fact, we found that WC observers were less efficient at detecting global than local feature changes, while EA observers performed equally well on both conditions. The behavioral disadvantage of WC observers in the global task seems to stem instead from differences in visual saliency between global and local features. Specifically, the visual processing of global features precedes the analysis of local information (Navon 1977). This global precedence effect would conflict with local information, thus inhibiting responses to the detection of local features (Han et al. 2001; Miller and Navon 2002; Navon 1977). For example, participants are slower at identifying local targets in the presence of interference from a global shape, even when this information is irrelevant (Miller and Navon 2002). The change of global features is disruptive for WC observers when they are required to detect changes in local information (i.e. distinguish between local congruent and different condition). As comparison, EA observers benefit from a topdown attention control to global features, thus limiting the disturbance from the visual salience induced by global feature changes (e.g., the interface hypothesis, McMains and Kastner 2011).

#### *Cognitive control effect on the N2 component*

We also observed an interaction between the culture of observers and global/local information tuning over the central-anterior-parietal electrode site at around 200 - 350 ms. A fine-grained adaptation pattern revealed distinctive temporal dynamics of global/local processing between Westerners and Easterners. Specifically, EA observers showed larger stRS responses to local compared to global feature repetitions over the right anterior-parietal electrodes at 240 ms. WC observers instead displayed first larger stRS responses to global compared to local feature at 270 ms, to then show a reverse pattern at 320 ms. This modulation occurs in the time window of the N2 component, which has a distinct topography (see. Fig. 4c & d) and has been related to cognitive control (see Folstein and Van Petten 2008 as a review). Cognitive control is partly defined as being a strategy regulation process during

response to novelty or (mis)match detection (Nieuwenhuis et al. 2003; Yeung et al. 2004; Zhang et al. 2003). For example, slower behavioral responses resulting from larger demands in cognitive control are correlated with larger N2 amplitudes and delayed peak latencies (Gehring et al. 1992; Nieuwenhuis et al. 2003). Moreover, inhibition of behavioral response also elicits larger N2 amplitudes, especially when stimuli share similar visual features (Folstein and Van Petten 2008). Here, regardless of their cultural background, all the observers engaged a larger amount of neural resources during the processing of the cultural non-preferred features to overcome the interference from the cultural preferred features. Therefore, the fewer amount of stRS responses elicited by *local* feature repetition in WC observers and the fewer amount of stRS responses for *global* feature repetition in EA observers on the N2 component might reflect a more demanding engagement of cognitive resources devoted to performing (mis)match detection for the non-preferred feature repetition. More specifically, these resources might be related to the inhibition of the culturallypreferred bias in visual information sampling (i.e., consistent local feature for WCs and consistent global feature for EAs).

#### General discussion

The conjoint use of EEG and Navon stimuli has been widely used to investigate the temporal dynamics of attention modulations in global/local shape processing (Han et al. 1997, 1999; Han et al. 2000; Heinze et al. 1998; Heinze and Münte 1993; Malinowski et al. 2002). Surprisingly, while this approach has been extensively used in a wide range of studies on WC observers and EA observers separately, no previous study had yet *directly* compared these two groups of observers. Here, we overcame this limitation by testing both groups of observers. As discussed above, our results precisely mapped out and confirmed that the temporal dynamics of global/local processing is indeed different between Easterners and Westerners. More precisely, EA observers show a distinct early sensitivity between global and local feature coding compared to WC observers. Such difference in temporal dynamics of visual shape processing is driven by an initial attentional selectivity and tuning between these two groups of observers from different cultures: a global selective-attention in Easterners and a local-selective attention in Westerners (McKone et al. 2010).

Previous studies on global/local visual shape categorization have suggested that the processing of hierarchical visual stimuli is lateralized in the brain. A left hemisphere

advantage has been reported for local processing at the encoding stage, and a right hemisphere advantage for global processing (e.g., Folstein and Van Petten 2008; Han et al. 2002; Lamb et al. 1990). Unfortunately, it is difficult to interpret our results in terms of hemispheric asymmetries. Although we found an interaction, for which the effect is lateralized in both spatial-temporal clusters (i.e., on the right scalp electrode locations in P1 and on both side of scalp electrode locations in N2), we did not modulate the visual field presentation nor counterbalanced the response keys across participants. The interpretation of our findings without these controls could be potentially misleading, and further research is required to elucidate this issue.

#### Conclusion

The present study demonstrated that the temporal dynamics of global-local feature coding is shaped by culture. Our data show an early attentional bias in Easterners for global visual properties during an active matching task of Navon hierarchical stimuli. East Asian observers showed strong EEG repetition suppression responses to global compared to local features on the attention-sensitive P1 component. This global precedence effect in Easterners was paired with a more efficient processing of global feature changes at later stages. Western Caucasian observers displayed instead the expected differential electrophysiological responses between global and local information processing, but in later electrophysiological stages (i.e. N2 component). These findings support the view that cultural perceptual biases in visual perception are driven by selective attention. Importantly, they also provide cultural neural signatures and their temporal dynamics for global/local feature processing. Overall, these distinct neural markers could represent the entry level of the more apparent and striking differences observed at the behavioral level across observers from the Western and Eastern cultures.

## Acknowledgements

The authors declare no competing financial interests. This study was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (n° 100014\_138627) awarded to RC.

## 5 General Discussion

The main purpose of this thesis was to explore the temporal dynamic of culture modulation effect on visual cognition. In particular, the current thesis focused on two important questions: when and how culture shapes our visual experiences. To directly investigate the temporal modulation effect of culture, here I exploited the advantages conferred by EEG (specifically ERPs) and further developed a novel fixational eye movement paradigm. The high temporal resolution provided by these two methods, combined with data-driven analytical approach, is ideal to reveal the time course of culture influence. The first two studies employed human faces as stimuli, to investigate the information processing on different facial locations as a function of cultural specific eye movement strategy. The third study made use of hierarchical stimulus to access the attention modulation of global/local processing in WCs and EAs. As shown in all three experiments, early differences in visual processing between WCs and EAs are mostly driven by low-spatial frequency information or global strategy, whereas detail processing of high-spatial frequency information largely reflects later stages. In this section, I will firstly elaborate the cultural differences in face recognition (i.e. study 1 and 2) and move on to the general global-local bias. I will then discuss the implications of the current results in various domains. Finally, I will review evidences from all three studies to interpret how culture modulates human perception based on different competitive theories.

Overall, the results reported here show perceptual and cognitive divergences between WCs and EAs. The first two experiments demonstrated that the visual information perceive on face preferred viewing location is tuned by culture. Similar to previous findings, free-viewing eye movement results showed differences in fixation pattern between WC and EA observers in both studies. Westerners preferentially gaze at the eyes and mouth, whereas Easterners fixate more on the center of the face (Blais et al. 2008; Caldara et al. 2010; Kelly et al. 2010; Kita et al. 2010; Miellet et al. 2013; Rodger et al. 2010). Importantly, while maintaining observers' gaze at the upper part of the face (i.e., eyes area) optimizes their face identification performance in both groups, gaze stabilization on their preferred viewing location is behaviourally beneficial for WCs only. The first experiment demonstrated that culture shapes the high-spatial frequency information sampling on preferred facial fixation position. Higher microsaccade onset rate was shown on the preferred fixation location around 450 ms, which allows better visibility of fine-spatial details. Importantly, WCs exploit the re-sharpen of high-spatial frequency information to improve their behavioural performance, whereas EA observers do not utilize such visual gain. Accordingly, the second experiment investigated the conjoint effect of culture and face viewing position on electroencephalography signal. By regressing between fixation preference of a selective face location with the ERP elicited by force fixation at that location, Study 2 revealed that gazing at the preferred viewing position evoke universal and culturally specific electrophysiological response. Specifically, an early regression pattern was shown on the central-occipital electrode sites for EAs only: larger ERP amplitude is observed at the more preferred viewing location around 130 ms. Such an effect corresponda to the larger attention span of EAs during fixation (Miellet et al. 2013). Furthermore, ERP activity around 350 ms at bilateral occipito-temporal electrode sites increased on preferred viewing position in both groups of observers, suggesting a general cognitive function of PVLs. Taken together, the first two experiments indicate that culture modulates the perceptual and cognitive function of facial preferred viewing location. Human beings actively attend to and sample diverse facial information from their preferred eye movement strategy. The last study examined whether the early perception tuning of global-local bias also expands to culture-unrelated stimulus. Indeed, correspond with their global processing advantage, larger repetition suppression is observed following global than local feature repetition in the EA observers at the P1 component. Notably, repetition suppression reflects coding efficiency of the selective representation (Grill-Spector et al. 2006). A larger adaptation effect to global feature confirmed the attention selectivity to global information for EAs (Nisbett et al. 2001). In summary, these results strongly suggest that culture perceptual bias is driven by the selective attention during information sampling, which further influence the cognition process at the later stage. Westerners attend to the information in the fine spatial details and perceive it with a local strategy, whereas Easterners prefer to employ a global strategy to sample low-spatial frequency visual information. Such perceptual tuning differences result in modulation at both early and late time-course as demonstrated in the current thesis. Moreover, both information sampling strategies are potentially advantageous, depending on the available information and the nature of the task.

## 5.1 Implications

Implications for cross-culture research.

To the best of my knowledge, the results provided in the current thesis are the first empirical evidence of the temporal divergence in visual processing between WCs and EAs. By tracking the time course of perceptual difference between two groups of observers, these results taken together reveal that culture diversity in the cognitive process appears at early processing stage (~80 ms). Specifically, EA observers showed stronger electrophysiological response to their preferred information in the perceptual stage (i.e., larger ERP at around 130 ms to face information sampling from PVL in Study 1 and greater adaptation effect at around 80 ms to global feature in Study 3), whereas WCs did not share similar sensitivities. On the other hand, modulation between experiment conditions related to high-spatial frequency information is revealed in WC observers only at a later stage. For example, better visibility of fine-spatial details produced by microsaccade on their PVLs benefit WCs but not EAs.

The observation of such temporal signature of culture is in line with the different perceptual profile of local and global information. As a result of the physiological property of the human visual system, global features are closely related to fast, categorical process. On the other hand, fine-grained cognitive processing mostly relied on details in local elements (Han et al. 2001; Miller and Navon 2002; Navon 1977). With a global perceptual tuning, EAs show categorical differences between global and local information earlier than WCs. Meanwhile, information from both global and local features is essentially crucial to accomplish complex cognition tasks. Thus, universal patterns in the late time-course revealed in the current experiments might represent that the detail processing of visual information, especially that contains in high-spatial frequency.

These observations confirm the attention bias between WCs and EAs purposed by Nisbett et al. (2001). According to the analytic-holistic cognitive style framework, Western Caucasians perceive the world locally, whereas East Asians see the world in a more global way. People with an analytical cognitive style, as suggested by Nisbett, attend more to the focal objects and their visual properties. Instead, the holistic cognitive style biases East Asians toward the information in the context and the relationships among objects. Here by using both social and non-social stimuli, I showed that such cognitive bias might closely relate to the perceptual tuning to different spatial-frequency spectrum. Indeed, by preferably attend to the low-spatial frequency information, EA observers showed early sensitivity to global elements, whereas the cognitive advantage of high-spatial frequency information is revealed for WCs in later stage, driven by their bias to local features.

In summary, the current work provides an important contribution in understanding how culture influences the temporal dynamics of information processing. As proposed by Nisbett et al (2001), culture shapes observer's preference to local or global information. Here, my results showed that the interaction between the culture of the observer and the type of information operates on different time course during visual processing. Depending on the nature of the task, visual information essential to the task is different. Whether culture diversity appears or not, and when such diversity is expected to emerge, is designated by observers' initial bias to the particular range of spatial frequency information and the type of task.

#### Implications for face perception mechanism.

The human visual system is markedly tuned to face stimulus (Solla et al. 2000). Brief presentation or fixation of the face is sufficient for various tasks including categorization and identification (Hsiao and Cottrell 2008; Peterson and Eckstein 2012). For example, by momentarily fixated just below the eyes, observers could obtain enough diagnostic information to optimize face recognition (Peterson and Eckstein 2012, 2013). However, human observers usually follow various eye movement patterns with alternating saccadic transitions among eyes, mouth and nose. Notably, the eye movement pattern during face free viewing is shaped by culture (Blais et al. 2008; Caldara et al. 2010; Kelly et al. 2010; Kita et al. 2010; Miellet et al. 2013; Rodger et al. 2010). WCs follow a "triangle" pattern containing eyes and mouth, whereas EAs preferably fixate on the center of the face (Caldara et al. 2010). Different explanations have been proposed regarding the perceptual function of preferred eye movement pattern (Caldara et al. 2010; Miellet et al. 2013; Peterson and Eckstein 2012). Previous studies from our lab by the means of gaze-contingent paradigm and information reconstruction technique showed that different spatial frequencies of visual information are sampled during fixation strategies depending on the observer's initial perceptual tuning (Caldara et al. 2010; Miellet et al. 2011; Miellet et al. 2013). Alternative hypothesis suggested that the vast majority of fixations during free viewing do not contribute to perceptual decision (Peterson and Eckstein 2012). It proposes that after gathering and processing sufficient information during the first few fixations, observers revert to a default mode of eye movement patterns that reflect their standard social behaviour (Peterson and Eckstein 2012). Here, I provided the first empirical evidences of the functional role of preferred viewing location in face recognition. Microsaccade result confirmed that WC observers rely on high-spatial frequency information from their preferred viewing location. Moreover, direct relationship between fixation preference and P3 amplitude in both groups of observers suggests a physiological function of the preferred viewing location. Such "re-activation" of the occipital–temporal face network indicates that the observer's mental face representation might closely relate to his eye movement pattern. The preferred viewing location during face free viewing is not only a reflection of social behaviour, but also has important perceptual and cognitive value.

#### Implications for methodology

The present thesis introduces novel approaches in both experiment paradigms and data analysis. I innovated an original technique to apply microsaccades as a measurement for the perception of high-spatial frequency visual information. Recent evidences have shown that the perceptual outcome of microsaccade is similar regardless of the potential different origins. Notably, it enhanced visibility during fixation (Martinez-Conde et al. 2006), counteracted visual fading both foveally and peripherally (McCamy et al. 2012), and re-sharpen fine-spatial details for feature extraction (Donner and Hemilä 2007; Kuang et al. 2012). Here by investigating the temporal dynamic of microsaccade onset, I showed that WC observers make use of high-spatial frequency information from their preferred viewing position. Moreover, I also introduced a novel method to analyse the temporal dynamic of microsaccade. Transient oculomotor events such as microsaccade are difficult to examine in the same way as continuous signals (Otero-Millan et al. 2012). Previous analysis usually conducted in a predefined time-window on the smoothed time course (e.g., Engbert and Kliegl 2003). Instead, I employed a data-driven method to objectively sample microsaccades as they occurred in different time range. Combined with temporal clustering as multiple comparison correction, we could therefore explore the essential time window of functional microsaccades.

Here I also presented a novel method to combine free-viewing eye movement and electrophysiological measures. Regression analysis is introduced to combine temporally sensitive and spatially sensitive methods. I measured observers' fixation patterns in a separate free viewing face learning session and directly link with the electrophysiological signals. The individual preferences to different face features are evaluated according to the fixation map as an indicator to predict the signal change in EEG recording. Data-driven analysis, without prior assumption of components or time-windows, exploits the full advantage of these high temporal resolution measurements.

## 5.2 Future Directions

In the substantial history of cross-cultural research, different theories have been proposed to account for the mechanism of culture modification on perception. Hypothesis suggested various intermediate factors that might contribute to the cultural differences in information processing. Such factors include historical influence in philosophy (Nisbett et al. 2001), social organization represents as individualistic or collectivist (Markus and Kitayama 1991), immediate psychological factors such as self-construal (Han et al. 2013) or sense of personal control (Zhou et al. 2012), and clutter of the visual environment (Caparos et al. 2012; Miyamoto et al. 2006). While these hypothesized factors are all partially supported by existing evidences, the exact contribution and the possible interaction among them remains un-clarified. Although the current thesis did not directly test any of these competitive theories, the results observed here might be best explained by the visual clutter hypothesis. Especially, the perceptual tuning to low-spatial frequency information might be more beneficial in a more cluttered visual environment (Itti and Koch 2001; Oliva and Torralba 2006). Indeed, the relationship between visual environment and perceptual tuning has previously been reported. For example, Miyamoto et al (2006) has shown that the scenes from an East Asian country (i.e., Japan) consist of more objects and are more complex than the environments from a Western culture (i.e., America). Moreover, it has been shown that exposure to complex environmental settings influences one's attention to a global bias (Caparos et al. 2012; Miyamoto et al. 2006). Future studies should clarify the potential causal relation between cluttering of the environment and the cultural perception bias. For example, it is possible to quantify the physical properties of the daily visual stimulus for each individual as predictors to correlate with his perceptual bias to visual spatialfrequency span.

Previous results suggested culture differences are relative matters of emphasis rather than absolute differences of capability (Caldara et al. 2010; Miellet et al. 2010; Zhou et al. 2012). Moreover, observers flexibly engage into both types of information sampling strategy, according to their cultural background, individual emphasis, and available information. By identifying the initial information preference within each participant, future studies might be able to fully account for the influence of culture in fundamental vision experiment. Such an idea of reducing culture modification effect to individual differences is worth further investigation (McCrae 2000).

Another important aspect yet somehow missing in cultural studies is how different culture preferences or biases are developed, especially the "mental development milestones". While results already shown different development pattern in the acquisition of cultural values and social roles, how culture shapes the sensorimotor biases in attention or perception is remain to be clarified. Noticeably, the early visual experience with specific types of stimuli might sculpt the visual recognition and the underlying system (for an example in face perception, see Pascalis et al 2002; 2005). Thus, it would be stimulating to parametrically compare different age groups of observer between different cultural populations. For example, whether local versus global bias is displayed from birth? If not, when and how such perceptual bias is developed in infants? Similarly, do people with East Asia heritage who grown up in the West culture still exhibited an EA-like cognition bias, or vice versa? Our lab is currently testing a specific cultural group in Switzerland. They are Koreans adopted by Swiss family from birth. By comparing this population with the "typical" WC and EA observers in various perception and cognition tasks, we hope to be able to answer some of these questions in the near future.

Overall, my findings in the present thesis provide a new dimension in exploring cultural differences and may potentially stimulate new cross-cultural research in other domains.

# 5.3 Final Remarks

Human visual experience is culture-specific. The aim of this thesis was to explore the temporal dynamic of cultural modulation on human vision perception. I applied high temporal resolution measurements and various visual stimuli to evaluate perceptual differences between two groups of observers: Western Caucasian and East Asians. As demonstrated in three experiments, cultural diversity appears in the early attention-perceptual stage as well as the late, in-depth cognitive stage. Cultural differences in visual tasks are produced by the joint effect of initial information tuning shaped by culture, and the specific visual information essential for the task.

### 6 References

- Adams Jr RB, Rule NO, Franklin Jr RG, Wang E, Stevenson MT, Yoshikawa S, Nomura M, Sato W, Kveraga K, Ambady N (2010) Cross-cultural reading the mind in the eyes: An fMRI investigation. Journal of cognitive neuroscience 22 (1):97-108
- Aharon I, Etcoff N, Ariely D, Chabris CF, O'Connor E, Breiter HC (2001) Beautiful faces have variable reward value: fMRI and behavioral evidence. Neuron 32 (3):537-551
- Ahn S, Miller SA (2012) Theory of Mind and Self-Concept A Comparison of Korean and American Children. Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology 43 (5):671-686
- Allik J (2005) Personality dimensions across cultures. Journal of personality disorders 19 (3):212-232
- Allman JM, Watson KK, Tetreault NA, Hakeem AY (2005) Intuition and autism: a possible role for Von Economo neurons. Trends in cognitive sciences 9 (8):367-373
- Althoff RR, Cohen NJ (1999) Eye-movement-based memory effect: A reprocessing effect in face perception. Journal of Experimental Psychology-Learning Memory and Cognition 25 (4):997-1010
- Ames DL, Fiske ST (2010) Cultural neuroscience. Asian Journal of Social Psychology 13 (2):72-82
- Amodio DM, Frith CD (2006) Meeting of minds: the medial frontal cortex and social cognition. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 7 (4):268-277
- Atchison DA, Smith G (2000) Optics of the human eye.
- Bahill AT, Kallman JS, Lieberman JE (1982) Frequency limitations of the two-point central difference differentiation algorithm. Biol Cybern 45 (1):1-4
- Bang S, Kim D, Choi S (2001) Asian Face Image Database. Postech, Korea, Postech, Korea
- Baron-Cohen S, Wheelwright S, Hill J, Raste Y, Plumb I (2001) The "Reading the mind in the eyes" test revised version: A study with normal adults, and adults with asperger syndrome or high-functioning autism. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry 42 (2):241-251
- Baron-Cohen SE, Tager-Flusberg HE, Cohen DJ (2000) Understanding other minds: Perspectives from developmental cognitive neuroscience. Oxford University Press,
- Barth R (2002) The culture builder. Educational leadership 59 (8):6-11
- Bartsch K, Wellman H (1989) Young children's attribution of action to beliefs and desires. Child Development:946-964
- Bellah RN, Madsen R, Sullivan WM, Swidler A, Tipton SM (1985) Habits of the heart. Berkeley.
  University of California Press" Academic Ability and Performance" Social Psychology
  Quarterly 49:103-109

- Bentin S, Allison T, Puce A, Perez E, McCarthy G (1996) Electrophysiological Studies of Face Perception in Humans. Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience 8 (6):551-565. doi:10.1162/jocn.1996.8.6.551
- Biehl M, Matsumoto D, Ekman P, Hearn V, Heider K, Kudoh T, Ton V (1997) Matsumoto and Ekman's Japanese and Caucasian facial expressions of emotion (JACFEE): Reliability data and cross-national differences. Journal of Nonverbal Behavior 21 (1):3-21
- Blais C, Jack RE, Scheepers C, Fiset D, Caldara R (2008) Culture shapes how we look at faces. PLoS One 3 (8):e3022
- Blakemore S-J, Frith C (2003) Self-awareness and action. Current opinion in neurobiology 13 (2):219-224
- Boduroglu A, Shah P, Nisbett RE (2009) Cultural differences in allocation of attention in visual information processing. Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology 40 (3):349-360
- Bond MH, Leung K (2009) Cultural Mapping of Beliefs about the World and their Application
  to a Social Psychology Involving Culture: Futurescaping. In: Understanding culture:
  Theory, research and application. New York: Psychology Press., pp 79-92
- Bornstein MH, Azuma H, Tamis-LeMonda C, Ogino M (1990a) Mother and infant activity and interaction in Japan and in the United States: I. A comparative macroanalysis of naturalistic exchanges. International Journal of Behavioral Development 13 (3):267-287
- Bornstein MH, Toda S, Azuma H, Tamis-LeMonda C, Ogino M (1990b) Mother and infant activity and interaction in Japan and in the United States: II. A comparative microanalysis of naturalistic exchanges focused on the organisation of infant attention. International Journal of Behavioral Development 13 (3):289-308
- Brainard DH (1997) The Psychophysics Toolbox. Spat Vis 10 (4):433-436
- Breiter HC, Aharon I, Kahneman D, Dale A, Shizgal P (2001) Functional imaging of neural responses to expectancy and experience of monetary gains and losses. Neuron 30 (2):619-639
- Brunet E, Sarfati Y, Hardy-Baylé M-C, Decety J (2000) A PET investigation of the attribution of intentions with a nonverbal task. Neuroimage 11 (2):157-166
- Brunet E, Sarfati Y, Hardy-Baylé M-C, Decety J (2003) Abnormalities of brain function during a nonverbal theory of mind task in schizophrenia. Neuropsychologia 41 (12):1574-1582
- Bruyer R, Brysbaert M (2011) Combining speed and accuracy in cognitive psychology: is the inverse efficiency score (IES) a better dependent variable than the mean reaction time (RT) and the percentage of errors (PE)? Psychologica Belgica 51 (1):5-13

Buswell GT (1935) How people look at pictures: a study of the psychology and perception in art.

- Caharel S, d'Arripe O, Ramon M, Jacques C, Rossion B (2009) Early adaptation to repeated unfamiliar faces across viewpoint changes in the right hemisphere: Evidence from the N170 ERP component. Neuropsychologia 47 (3):639-643
- Caldara R, Miellet S (2011) iMap: a novel method for statistical fixation mapping of eye movement data. Behav Res Methods 43 (3):864-878
- Caldara R, Zhou XY, Miellet S (2010) Putting Culture Under the 'Spotlight' Reveals Universal Information Use for Face Recognition. PLoS One 5 (3)
- Campanella S, Hanoteau C, Depy D, Rossion B, Bruyer R, Crommelinck M, Guerit JM (2000) Right N170 modulation in a face discrimination task: An account for categorical perception of familiar faces. Psychophysiology 37 (6):796-806
- Caparos S, Ahmed L, Bremner AJ, de Fockert JW, Linnell KJ, Davidoff J (2012) Exposure to an urban environment alters the local bias of a remote culture. Cognition 122 (1):80-85
- Caparos S, Linnell KJ, Bremner AJ, de Fockert JW, Davidoff J (2013) Do local and global perceptual biases tell us anything about local and global selective attention? Psychological science 24 (2):206-212
- Carmel D, Bentin S (2002) Domain specificity versus expertise: factors influencing distinct processing of faces. Cognition 83 (1):1-29
- Chauvin A, Worsley KJ, Schyns PG, Arguin M, Gosselin F (2005) Accurate statistical tests for smooth classification images. J Vis 5 (9):659-667
- Chee MWL, Goh JOS, Venkatraman V, Tan JC, Gutchess A, Sutton B, Hebrank A, Leshikar E, Park D (2006) Age-related Changes in Object Processing and Contextual Binding Revealed Using fMR Adaptation. Journal of cognitive neuroscience 18 (4):495-507
- Chee MWL, Tan JC (2007) Inter-relationships between attention, activation, fMR adaptation and long-term memory. Neuroimage 37 (4):1487-1495
- Chen MJ, Lin ZX (1994) Chinese preschoolers' difficulty with theory-of-mind tests. Bulletin of the Hong Kong Psychological Society
- Cheon BK, Im D-m, Harada T, Kim J-S, Mathur VA, Scimeca JM, Parrish TB, Park HW, Chiao JY (2011) Cultural influences on neural basis of intergroup empathy. Neuroimage 57 (2):642-650
- Chiao JY, Harada T, Komeda H, Li Z, Mano Y, Saito D, Parrish TB, Sadato N, Iidaka T (2009) Neural basis of individualistic and collectivistic views of self. Human brain mapping 30 (9):2813-2820

- Chiao JY, Harada T, Komeda H, Li Z, Mano Y, Saito D, Parrish TB, Sadato N, Iidaka T (2010) Dynamic cultural influences on neural representations of the self. Journal of cognitive neuroscience 22 (1):1-11
- Chiu C-y, Hong Y-y (2007) Cultural processes: Basic principles.
- Chiu L-H (1972) A cross-cultural comparison of cognitive styles in Chinese and American children. International Journal of Psychology 7 (4):235-242
- Choi I, Nisbett RE (1998) Situational salience and cultural differences in the correspondence bias and actor-observer bias.
- Choi I, Nisbett RE, Smith EE (1997) Culture, category salience, and inductive reasoning. Cognition 65 (1):15-32
- Chua HF, Boland JE, Nisbett RE (2005) Cultural variation in eye movements during scene perception. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102 (35):12629-12633
- Cialdini RB, Wosinska W, Barrett DW, Butner J, Gornik-Durose M (1999) Compliance with a request in two cultures: The differential influence of social proof and commitment/consistency on collectivists and individualists. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin 25 (10):1242-1253
- Collette F, Olivier L, Van der Linden M, Laureys S, Delfiore G, Luxen A, Salmon E (2005) Involvement of both prefrontal and inferior parietal cortex in dual-task performance. Cognitive Brain Research 24 (2):237-251
- Collewijn H, Kowler E (2008) The significance of microsaccades for vision and oculomotor control. Journal of Vision 8 (14)
- Conway MA, Wang Q, Hanyu K, Haque S (2005) A Cross-Cultural Investigation of Autobiographical Memory On the Universality and Cultural Variation of the Reminiscence Bump. Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology 36 (6):739-749
- Copland DA, de Zubicaray GI, McMahon K, Eastburn M (2007) Neural correlates of semantic priming for ambiguous words: An event-related fMRI study. Brain research 1131 (0):163-172
- Corbetta M, Shulman GL (2002) Control of goal-directed and stimulus-driven attention in the brain. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 3 (3):201-215
- Cornelissen FW, Peters EM, Palmer J (2002) The Eyelink Toolbox: eye tracking with MATLAB and the Psychophysics Toolbox. Behav Res Methods Instrum Comput 34 (4):613-617
- Cornsweet TN (1956) Determination of the stimuli for involuntary drifts and saccadic eye movements. JOSA 46 (11):987-988
- Cunitz RJ, Steinman RM (1969) Comparison of saccadic eye movements during fixation and reading. Vision research 9 (6):683-693

- Davies G, Ellis H, Shepherd J (1977) Cue saliency in faces as assessed by the 'Photofit' technique. Perception 6 (3):263-269
- de Greck M, Shi Z, Wang G, Zuo X, Yang X, Wang X, Northoff G, Han S (2012) Culture modulates brain activity during empathy with anger. Neuroimage 59 (3):2871-2882
- Debener S, Makeig S, Delorme A, Engel AK (2005) What is novel in the novelty oddball paradigm? Functional significance of the novelty P3 event-related potential as revealed by independent component analysis. Cognitive Brain Research 22 (3):309-321
- Decety J, Grèzes J (2006) The power of simulation: imagining one's own and other's behavior. Brain research 1079 (1):4-14
- Decety J, Lamm C (2007) The role of the right temporoparietal junction in social interaction: how low-level computational processes contribute to meta-cognition. The Neuroscientist 13 (6):580-593
- Delorme A, Makeig S (2004) EEGLAB: an open source toolbox for analysis of single-trial EEG dynamics including independent component analysis. Journal of Neuroscience Methods 134 (1):9-21
- Delorme A, Westerfield M, Makeig S (2007) Medial prefrontal theta bursts precede rapid motor responses during visual selective attention. The Journal of Neuroscience 27 (44):11949-11959
- Dimigen O, Sommer W, Hohlfeld A, Jacobs AM, Kliegl R (2011) Coregistration of eye movements and EEG in natural reading: analyses and review. J Exp Psychol Gen 140 (4):552-572
- Dimigen O, Valsecchi M, Sommer W, Kliegl R (2009) Human Microsaccade-Related Visual Brain Responses. The Journal of Neuroscience 29 (39):12321-12331
- Ditchburn R, Fender D, Mayne S (1959) Vision with controlled movements of the retinal image. The Journal of Physiology 145 (1):98-107
- Ditchburn R, Ginsborg B (1952) Vision with a stabilized retinal image.
- Donner K, Hemilä S (2007) Modelling the effect of microsaccades on retinal responses to stationary contrast patterns. Vision research 47 (9):1166-1177
- Doyle M, Walker R (2001) Curved saccade trajectories: Voluntary and reflexive saccades curve away from irrelevant distractors. Experimental brain research 139 (3):333-344

Duchowski AT (2007) Eye Tracking Methodology: Theory and Practice. Springer,

- Eder RA (1990) Uncovering young children's psychological selves: Individual and developmental differences. Child Development 61 (3):849-863
- Eger E, Schyns PG, Kleinschmidt A (2004) Scale invariant adaptation in fusiform faceresponsive regions. Neuroimage 22 (1):232-242

- Ekman P, Friesen WV (1975) Unmasking the Face: A Guide to Recognizing Emotions from Facial Clues. Prentice-Hall,
- Ekman P, Friesen WV, O'Sullivan M, Chan A, Diacoyanni-Tarlatzis I, Heider K, Krause R, LeCompte WA, Pitcairn T, Ricci-Bitti PE (1987) Universals and cultural differences in the judgments of facial expressions of emotion. Journal of personality and social psychology 53 (4):712
- Ekman P, Sorenson ER, Friesen WV (1969) Pan-cultural elements in facial displays of emotion. science 164 (3875):86-88
- Engbert R, Kliegl R (2003) Microsaccades uncover the orientation of covert attention. Vision Res 43 (9):1035-1045
- Engbert R, Kliegl R (2004) Microsaccades keep the eyes' balance during fixation. Psychological Science 15 (6):431-431
- Engbert R, Mergenthaler K (2006) Microsaccades are triggered by low retinal image slip. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103 (18):7192-7197
- Engler B (2008) Personality Theories: An Introduction. Wadsworth,
- Evans K, Rotello CM, Li X, Rayner K (2009) Scene perception and memory revealed by eye movements and receiver-operating characteristic analyses: Does a cultural difference truly exist? The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology 62 (2):276-285
- Fernald A, Morikawa H (1993) Common themes and cultural variations in Japanese and American mothers' speech to infants. Child Development 64 (3):637-656
- Ferstl EC, von Cramon DY (2002) What does the frontomedian cortex contribute to language processing: coherence or theory of mind? Neuroimage 17 (3):1599-1612
- Fletcher PC, Happe F, Frith U, Baker SC, Dolan RJ, Frackowiak RS, Frith CD (1995) Other minds in the brain: a functional imaging study of "theory of mind" in story comprehension. Cognition 57 (2):109-128
- Folstein JR, Van Petten C (2008) Influence of cognitive control and mismatch on the N2 component of the ERP: a review. Psychophysiology 45 (1):152-170
- Fox RG, King BJ (2002) Anthropology Beyond Culture. Berg Publishers,
- Freeman JB, Rule NO, Adams Jr RB, Ambady N (2009) Culture shapes a mesolimbic response to signals of dominance and subordination that associates with behavior. Neuroimage 47 (1):353-359
- Gardner WL, Gabriel S, Lee AY (1999) "I" value freedom, but "we" value relationships: Selfconstrual priming mirrors cultural differences in judgment. Psychological Science 10 (4):321-326

- Gehring WJ, Gratton G, Coles MG, Donchin E (1992) Probability effects on stimulus evaluation and response processes. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance 18 (1):198
- Gilbert DT, Malone PS (1995) The correspondence bias. Psychological bulletin 117 (1):21
- Godijn R, Theeuwes J (2004) The relationship between inhibition of return and saccade trajectory deviations. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance 30 (3):538
- Goel V, Grafman J, Sadato N, Hallett M (1995) Modeling other minds. Neuroreport 6 (13):1741-1746
- Goh JO, Chee MW, Tan JC, Venkatraman V, Hebrank A, Leshikar ED, Jenkins L, Sutton BP, Gutchess AH, Park DC (2007) Age and culture modulate object processing and object—scene binding in the ventral visual area. Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience 7 (1):44-52
- Goh JO, Hebrank AC, Sutton BP, Chee MW, Sim SK, Park DC (2013) Culture-related differences in default network activity during visuo-spatial judgments. Social cognitive and affective neuroscience 8 (2):134-142
- Goh JO, Tan JC, Park DC (2009) Culture modulates eye-movements to visual novelty. PLoS One 4 (12):e8238
- Goldberg LR, Johnson JA, Eber HW, Hogan R, Ashton MC, Cloninger CR, Gough HG (2006) The international personality item pool and the future of public-domain personality measures. Journal of Research in Personality 40 (1):84-96
- Goodall J, Berman P (1999) Reason for hope: A spiritual journey. Hachette Digital, Inc.,
- Goodenough WH (1957) Cultural Anthropology and Linguistics, By Ward H. Goodenough.
- Gosselin F, Schyns PG (2001) Bubbles: a technique to reveal the use of information in recognition tasks. Vision Research 41 (17):2261-2271
- Goto SG, Ando Y, Huang C, Yee A, Lewis RS (2010) Cultural differences in the visual processing of meaning: Detecting incongruities between background and foreground objects using the N400. Social cognitive and affective neuroscience 5 (2-3):242-253
- Goto SG, Yee A, Lowenberg K, Lewis RS (2013) Cultural differences in sensitivity to social context: Detecting affective incongruity using the N400. Social Neuroscience 8 (1):63-74
- Greenfield PM (2000) Three approaches to the psychology of culture: Where do they come from? Where can they go? Asian Journal of Social Psychology 3 (3):223-240
- Grill-Spector K, Henson R, Martin A (2006) Repetition and the brain: neural models of stimulus-specific effects. Trends in cognitive sciences 10 (1):14-23

- Grill-Spector K, Kourtzi Z, Kanwisher N (2001) The lateral occipital complex and its role in object recognition. Vision Research 41 (10):1409-1422
- Grill-Spector K, Kushnir T, Edelman S, Avidan G, Itzchak Y, Malach R (1999) Differential processing of objects under various viewing conditions in the human lateral occipital complex. Neuron 24 (1):187-203
- Grill-Spector K, Kushnir T, Hendler T, Edelman S, Itzchak Y, Malach R (1998) A sequence of object-processing stages revealed by fMRI in the human occipital lobe. Human brain mapping 6 (4):316-328
- Groner R, Walder F, Groner M (1984) Looking at Faces: Local and Global Aspects of Scanpaths. In: Alastair GG, Frank J (eds) Advances in Psychology, vol Volume 22. North-Holland, pp 523-533
- Gudykunst WB, Matsumoto Y, TING-TOOMEY S, Nishida T, Kim K, Heyman S (1996) The influence of cultural individualism-collectivism, self construals, and individual values on communication styles across cultures. Human communication research 22 (4):510-543
- Gusnard DA, Akbudak E, Shulman GL, Raichle ME (2001) Medial prefrontal cortex and selfreferential mental activity: relation to a default mode of brain function. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 98 (7):4259-4264
- Gutchess AH, Hedden T, Ketay S, Aron A, Gabrieli JD (2010) Neural differences in the processing of semantic relationships across cultures. Social cognitive and affective neuroscience 5 (2-3):254-263
- Gutchess AH, Welsh RC, Boduroĝlu A, Park DC (2006) Cultural differences in neural function associated with object processing. Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience 6 (2):102-109
- Gutnisky DA, Dragoi V (2008) Adaptive coding of visual information in neural populations. Nature 452 (7184):220-224
- Hafed ZM, Clark JJ (2002) Microsaccades as an overt measure of covert attention shifts. Vision Research 42 (22):2533-2545
- Hafed ZM, Goffart L, Krauzlis RJ (2009) A neural mechanism for microsaccade generation in the primate superior colliculus. science 323 (5916):940-943
- Hajcak G, Moser JS, Yeung N, Simons RF (2005) On the ERN and the significance of errors. Psychophysiology 42 (2):151-160
- Hall ET (1966) The Hidden Dimension. Doubleday, New York
- Hall ET, Hall MR (1990) Understanding Cultural Differences. Intercultural Press Description,
- Han S (2013) How to Identify Mechanisms of Cultural Influences on Human Brain Functions. Psychological Inquiry 24 (1):37-41

- Han S, Fan S, Chen L, Zhuo Y (1997) On the different processing of wholes and parts: A psychophysiological analysis. Journal of cognitive neuroscience 9 (5):687-698
- Han S, Fan S, Chen L, Zhuo Y (1999) Modulation of brain activities by hierarchical processing: a high-density ERP study. Brain Topography 11 (3):171-183
- Han S, Gu X, Mao L, Ge J, Wang G, Ma Y (2010) Neural substrates of self-referential processing in Chinese Buddhists. Social cognitive and affective neuroscience 5 (2-3):332-339
- Han S, He X, Yund EW, Woods DL (2001) Attentional selection in the processing of hierarchical patterns: an ERP study. Biological psychology 56 (2):113-130
- Han S, Liu W, Yund EW, Woods DL (2000) Interactions between spatial attention and global/local feature selection: an ERP study. Neuroreport 11 (12):2753-2758
- Han S, Mao L, Gu X, Zhu Y, Ge J, Ma Y (2008) Neural consequences of religious belief on selfreferential processing. Social Neuroscience 3 (1):1-15
- Han S, Northoff G (2008) Culture-sensitive neural substrates of human cognition: A transcultural neuroimaging approach. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 9 (8):646-654
- Han S, Northoff G (2009) Understanding the self: a cultural neuroscience approach. Progress in brain research 178:203-212
- Han S, Northoff G, Vogeley K, Wexler BE, Kitayama S, Varnum ME (2013) A cultural neuroscience approach to the biosocial nature of the human brain. Annual review of psychology 64:335-359
- Han S, Weaver JA, Murray SO, Kang X, Yund EW, Woods DL (2002) Hemispheric asymmetry in global/local processing: effects of stimulus position and spatial frequency. Neuroimage 17 (3):1290-1299
- Harris M (1999) Theories of culture in postmodern times. Rowman Altamira,
- Hayward K (2004) City limits: Crime, consumer culture and the urban experience. Psychology Press,
- Heatherton TF, Wyland CL, Macrae CN, Demos KE, Denny BT, Kelley WM (2006) Medial prefrontal activity differentiates self from close others. Social cognitive and affective neuroscience 1 (1):18-25
- Hedden T, Ketay S, Aron A, Markus HR, Gabrieli JD (2008) Cultural influences on neural substrates of attentional control. Psychological Science 19 (1):12-17
- Heine S, Kitayama S, Lehman D, Takata T, Ide E Self-enhancement and self-improvement— Two ways to motivate the self. In: Presentation at the Conference on Culture and Psychology, Stanford University, 1998.
- Heinze H-J, Münte TF (1993) Electrophysiological correlates of hierarchical stimulus processing: Dissociation between onset and later stages of global and local target processing. Neuropsychologia 31 (8):841-852

- Heinze H, Hinrichs H, Scholz M, Burchert W, Mangun G (1998) Neural mechanisms of global and local processing: A combined PET and ERP study. Journal of cognitive neuroscience 10 (4):485-498
- Henderson J, Williams C, Falk R (2005) Eye movements are functional during face learning. Memory & Cognition 33 (1):98-106
- Henson R (2003) Neuroimaging studies of priming. Progress in neurobiology 70 (1):53-81
- Henson R, Rugg M (2003) Neural response suppression, haemodynamic repetition effects, and behavioural priming. Neuropsychologia 41 (3):263-270
- Hillyard SA, Hink RF, Schwent VL, Picton TW (1973) Electrical signs of selective attention in the human brain. science 182 (108):177-180
- Hofstede G (1984) Culture's Consequences: International Differences in Work-Related Values. SAGE Publications,
- Hofstede GH, Hofstede G (2001) Culture's Consequences: Comparing Values, Behaviors, Institutions and Organizations Across Nations. SAGE Publications,
- Holtgraves T (1997) Styles of language use: Individual and cultural variability in conversational indirectness. Journal of personality and social psychology 73 (3):624
- Hong Y-Y (2009) A dynamic constructivist approach to culture: Moving from describing culture to explaining culture. In: Understanding culture. Theory, research, and application. New York: Psychology Press, pp 3-23
- Hong Y-y, Chiu C-y (2001) Toward a paradigm shift: From cross-cultural differences in social cognition to social-cognitive mediation of cultural differences. Social Cognition 19 (3: Special issue):181-196
- Hong Y-y, Mallorie LM (2004) A dynamic constructivist approach to culture: Lessons learned from personality psychology. Journal of Research in Personality 38 (1):59-67
- Hong Y-y, Morris MW, Chiu C-y, Benet-Martinez V (2000) Multicultural minds: A dynamic constructivist approach to culture and cognition. American psychologist 55 (7):709
- Hsiao JH-w, Cottrell G (2008) Two Fixations Suffice in Face Recognition. Psychological Science 19 (10):998-1006
- Hsu FLK (1983) Rugged Individualism Reconsidered: Essays in Psychological Anthropology. University of Tennessee Press,
- Hui CH, Villareal MJ (1989) Individualism-Collectivism and Pyschological Needs Their Relationships in Two Cultures. Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology 20 (3):310-323
- Hunziker H (2006) The eye of the reader: Foveal and peripherial perception from letter recognition to the joy of reading. Transmedia Zurich
- Imada T, Kitayama S (2010) Social eyes and choice justification: culture and dissonance revisited. Social Cognition 28 (5):589-608
- Irwin DE (2004) Fixation location and fixation duration as indices of cognitive processing. The interface of language, vision, and action:105-133
- Ito TA, Urland GR (2003) Race and gender on the brain: electrocortical measures of attention to the race and gender of multiply categorizable individuals. Journal of personality and social psychology 85 (4):616
- Itti L, Koch C (2001) Computational modelling of visual attention. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 2 (3):194-203
- Iyengar SS, Lepper MR (1999) Rethinking the value of choice: a cultural perspective on intrinsic motivation. Journal of personality and social psychology 76 (3):349
- Jack RE, Blais C, Scheepers C, Schyns PG, Caldara R (2009) Cultural confusions show that facial expressions are not universal. Current Biology 19 (18):1543-1548
- Jack RE, Caldara R, Schyns PG (2012a) Internal representations reveal cultural diversity in expectations of facial expressions of emotion. Journal of Experimental Psychology: General 141 (1):19
- Jack RE, Garrod OG, Yu H, Caldara R, Schyns PG (2012b) Facial expressions of emotion are not culturally universal. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109 (19):7241-7244
- Jackson PL, Rainville P, Decety J (2006) To what extent do we share the pain of others? Insight from the neural bases of pain empathy. Pain 125 (1):5-9
- Jasper HH (1958) The ten twenty electrode system of the international federation. Electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology 10:371-375
- Jenkins LJ, Yang Y-J, Goh J, Hong Y-Y, Park DC (2010) Cultural differences in the lateral occipital complex while viewing incongruent scenes. Social cognitive and affective neuroscience 5 (2-3):236-241
- Ji L-J, Nisbett RE, Su Y (2001) Culture, change, and prediction. Psychological Science 12 (6):450-456
- Ji L-J, Peng K, Nisbett RE (2000) Culture, control, and perception of relationships in the environment. Journal of personality and social psychology 78 (5):943
- Ji L-J, Zhang Z, Nisbett RE (2004) Is it culture or is it language? Examination of language effects in cross-cultural research on categorization. Journal of personality and social psychology 87 (1):57
- Jones EE, Harris VA (1967) The attribution of attitudes. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology 3 (1):1-24
- Joyce CA, Schyns PG, Gosselin F, Cottrell GW, Rossion B (2006) Early selection of diagnostic facial information in the human visual cortex. Vision Res 46 (6-7):800-813

- Kagitcibasi C (1987) Individual and group loyalties: Are they compatible. Growth and progress in cross-cultural psychology:94-103
- Kagitcibasi C (1994) A critical appraisal of individualism and collectivism: Toward a new formulation.
- Kagitcibasi C (1997) Individualism and collectivism. Handbook of cross-cultural psychology 3:1-49
- Kashima Y (2009) Culture Comparison and Culture Priming. In: Understanding culture: Theory, research, and application. New York: Psychology Press., pp 53-77
- Kashima Y, Peters K, Whelan J (2008) Culture, narrative, and human agency. Handbook of motivation and cognition across cultures:393-421
- Kashima Y, Siegal M, Tanaka K, Kashima ES (1992) Do people believe behaviours are consistent with attitudes? Towards a cultural psychology of attribution processes.British Journal of Social Psychology 31 (2):111-124
- Keenan JP, Wheeler MA, Gallup Jr GG, Pascual-Leone A (2000) Self-recognition and the right prefrontal cortex. Trends in cognitive sciences 4 (9):338-344
- Keesing RM (1981) Cultural anthropology: a comparative perspective. Holt, Reinhart and Winston, New York
- Kellerman H (2012) Personality: How it Forms. American Mental Health Foundation,
- Kelly DJ, Jack RE, Miellet S, De Luca E, Foreman K, Caldara R (2011a) Social experience does not abolish cultural diversity in eye movements. Frontiers in Psychology 2
- Kelly DJ, Liu S, Rodger H, Miellet S, Ge L, Caldara R (2011b) Developing cultural differences in face processing. Developmental science 14 (5):1176-1184
- Kelly DJ, Miellet S, Caldara R (2010) Culture shapes eye movements for visually homogeneous objects. Front Psychol 1:6
- Kim H, Markus HR (1999) Deviance or uniqueness, harmony or conformity? A cultural analysis. Journal of personality and social psychology 77 (4):785
- Kim MS, Hunter JE, Miyahara A, Horvath AM, Bresnahan M, Yoon HJ (1996) Individual-vs. culture-level dimensions of individualism and collectivism: Effects on preferred conversational styles. Communications Monographs 63 (1):29-49
- Kim U, Choi S-H (1994) Individualism, collectivism, and child development: A Korean perspective.
- Kirschstein T, Köhling R (2009) What is the Source of the EEG? Clinical EEG and neuroscience 40 (3):146-149
- Kita Y, Gunji A, Sakihara K, Inagaki M, Kaga M, Nakagawa E, Hosokawa T (2010) Scanning Strategies Do Not Modulate Face Identification: Eye-Tracking and Near-Infrared Spectroscopy Study. PLoS One 5 (6):e11050

Kitayama S, Cohen D (2010) Handbook of cultural psychology. Guilford Press,

- Kitayama S, Duffy S, Kawamura T, Larsen JT (2003) Perceiving an object and its context in different cultures A cultural look at new look. Psychological Science 14 (3):201-206
- Kitayama S, Markus HR, Kurokawa M (2000) Culture, emotion, and well-being: Good feelings in Japan and the United States. Cognition & Emotion 14 (1):93-124
- Kitayama S, Snibbe AC, Markus HR, Suzuki T (2004) Is there any "free" choice? Self and dissonance in two cultures. Psychological Science 15 (8):527-533
- Kitayama S, Uskul AK (2011) Culture, Mind, and the Brain: Current Evidence and Future Directions. Annual review of psychology 62 (1):419-449
- Klein SB, Loftus J, Burton HA (1989) Two self-reference effects: The importance of distinguishing between self-descriptiveness judgments and autobiographical retrieval in self-referent encoding. Journal of personality and social psychology 56 (6):853
- Kleiner M, Brainard D, Pelli D, Ingling A, Murray R, Broussard C (2007) What's new in Psychtoolbox-3. Perception 36 (14):1.1-16
- Ko H-k, Poletti M, Rucci M (2010) Microsaccades precisely relocate gaze in a high visual acuity task. Nature neuroscience 13 (12):1549-1553
- Kobayashi C, Glover GH, Temple E (2006) Cultural and linguistic influence on neural bases of 'Theory of Mind': an fMRI study with Japanese bilinguals. Brain and language 98 (2):210-220
- Kobayashi C, Glover GH, Temple E (2007) Cultural and linguistic effects on neural bases of 'Theory of Mind'in American and Japanese children. Brain research 1164:95-107
- Kobayashi CF, Temple E (2009) Cultural effects on the neural basis of theory of mind. Progress in brain research 178:213-223
- Kok A (2001) On the utility of P3 amplitude as a measure of processing capacity. Psychophysiology 38 (3):557-577
- Kriegeskorte N, Simmons WK, Bellgowan PS, Baker CI (2009) Circular analysis in systems neuroscience: the dangers of double dipping. Nature neuroscience 12 (5):535-540
- Kroeber AL, Kluckhohn C (1952) Culture: A critical review of concepts and definitions. Papers Peabody Museum of Archaeology & Ethnology, Harvard University
- Kuang X, Poletti M, Victor JD, Rucci M (2012) Temporal encoding of spatial information during active visual fixation. Current Biology 22 (6):510-514
- Kubota JT, Banaji MR, Phelps EA (2012) The neuroscience of race. Nature neuroscience 15 (7):940-948
- Kubota JT, Ito TA (2007) Multiple cues in social perception: the time course of processing race and facial expression. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology 43 (5):738-752

- Kühnen U, Oyserman D (2002) Thinking about the self influences thinking in general: Cognitive consequences of salient self-concept. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology 38 (5):492-499
- Kutas M, Hillyard SA (1984) Brain potentials during reading reflect word expectancy and semantic association.
- Lamb MR, Robertson LC, Knight RT (1990) Component mechanisms underlying the processing of hierarchically organized patterns: inferences from patients with unilateral cortical lesions. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition 16 (3):471
- Lambon Ralph MA, Pobric G, Jefferies E (2009) Conceptual Knowledge Is Underpinned by the Temporal Pole Bilaterally: Convergent Evidence from rTMS. Cerebral Cortex 19 (4):832-838
- Lee F, Hallahan M, Herzog T (1996) Explaining Real-Life Events: How Culture and Domain Shape Attributions. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin 22 (7):732-741
- Leichtman MD, Wang Q, Pillemer DB (2003) Cultural variations in interdependence and autobiographical memory: Lessons from Korea, China, India, and the United States. Autobiographical memory and the construction of a narrative self: Developmental and cultural perspectives:73-97
- Leung K, Bond MH (2004) Social axioms: A model for social beliefs in multicultural perspective. Advances in experimental social psychology 36:119-197
- Leung K, Bond MH, de Carrasquel SR, Muñoz C, Hernández M, Murakami F, Yamaguchi S, Bierbrauer G, Singelis TM (2002) Social Axioms The Search for Universal Dimensions of General Beliefs about How the World Functions. Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology 33 (3):286-302
- LeVine RA (2001) Culture and personality studies, 1918–1960: Myth and history. Journal of Personality 69 (6):803-818
- Lewis RS, Goto SG, Kong LL (2008) Culture and context: East Asian American and European American differences in P3 event-related potentials and self-construal. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin 34 (5):623-634
- Liddell BJ, Williams LM, Rathjen J, Shevrin H, Gordon E (2004) A Temporal Dissociation of Subliminal versus Supraliminal Fear Perception: An Event-related Potential Study. Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience 16 (3):479-486
- Lin Z, Han S (2009) Self-construal priming modulates the scope of visual attention. The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology 62 (4):802-813
- Lin Z, Lin Y, Han S (2008) Self-construal priming modulates visual activity underlying global/local perception. Biological psychology 77 (1):93-97

- Liu D, Wellman HM, Tardif T, Sabbagh MA (2008) Theory of mind development in Chinese children: a meta-analysis of false-belief understanding across cultures and languages. Developmental psychology 44 (2):523
- Luck SJ, Woodman GF, Vogel EK (2000) Event-related potential studies of attention. Trends in cognitive sciences 4 (11):432-440
- Lundqvist D, Flykt A, Öhman A (1998) The karolinska directed emotional faces. Stockholm, Sweden: Karolinska Institute., Stockholm, Sweden
- Lynch MP, Eilers RE, Oller DK, Urbano RC (1990) Innateness, experience, and music perception. Psychological Science 1 (4):272-276
- Lynch MP, Eilers RE, Oller KD, Urbano RC, Wilson P (1991) Influences of acculturation and musical sophistication on perception of musical interval patterns. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance 17 (4):967
- MacDonald AW, Cohen JD, Stenger VA, Carter CS (2000) Dissociating the role of the dorsolateral prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortex in cognitive control. science 288 (5472):1835-1838
- Malinowski P, Hübner R, Keil A, Gruber T (2002) The influence of response competition on cerebral asymmetries for processing hierarchical stimuli revealed by ERP recordings. Experimental brain research 144 (1):136-139
- Maris E, Oostenveld R (2007) Nonparametric statistical testing of EEG- and MEG-data. Journal of Neuroscience Methods 164 (1):177-190
- Markus HR, Kitayama S (1991) Culture and the self: Implications for cognition, emotion, and motivation. Psychological review 98 (2):224
- Markus HR, Kitayama S (2003) Culture, self, and the reality of the social. Psychological Inquiry 14 (3-4):277-283
- Martinez-Conde S, Macknik SL, Troncoso XG, Dyar TA (2006) Microsaccades counteract visual fading during fixation. Neuron 49 (2):297-305
- Martinez-Conde S, Macknik SL, Troncoso XG, Hubel DH (2009) Microsaccades: a neurophysiological analysis. Trends in neurosciences 32 (9):463-475
- Martinez-Conde S, Otero-Millan J, Macknik SL (2013) The impact of microsaccades on vision: towards a unified theory of saccadic function. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 14 (2):83-96
- Masuda T, Akase M, Radford M, Wang H (2008a) Cross-cultural research on the pattern of eye movement: comparing the level of concentration between Japanese and Western participants. Japanese Psychological Research 79:35-43

- Masuda T, Ellsworth PC, Mesquita B, Leu J, Tanida S, Van de Veerdonk E (2008b) Placing the face in context: cultural differences in the perception of facial emotion. Journal of personality and social psychology 94 (3):365
- Masuda T, Kitayama S (2004) Perceiver-induced constraint and attitude attribution in Japan and the US: A case for the cultural dependence of the correspondence bias. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology 40 (3):409-416
- Masuda T, Nisbett RE (2001) Attending holistically versus analytically: comparing the context sensitivity of Japanese and Americans. Journal of personality and social psychology 81 (5):922
- Masuda T, Nisbett RE (2006) Culture and change blindness. Cognitive Science 30 (2):381-399
- Matsumoto D (1992) American-Japanese cultural differences in the recognition of universal facial expressions. Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology 23 (1):72-84
- Matsumoto D, Ekman P (1989) American-Japanese cultural differences in intensity ratings of facial expressions of emotion. Motivation and Emotion 13 (2):143-157
- Matsumoto D, Yoo SH, Fontaine J (2008) Mapping expressive differences around the world the relationship between emotional display rules and individualism versus collectivism. Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology 39 (1):55-74
- McCamy MB, Otero-Millan J, Macknik SL, Yang Y, Troncoso XG, Baer SM, Crook SM, Martinez-Conde S (2012) Microsaccadic efficacy and contribution to foveal and peripheral vision. The Journal of Neuroscience 32 (27):9194-9204
- McCrae RR (2000) Trait psychology and the revival of personality and culture studies. American Behavioral Scientist 44 (1):10-31
- McKone E, Aimola Davies A, Fernando D, Aalders R, Leung H, Wickramariyaratne T, Platow MJ (2010) Asia has the global advantage: Race and visual attention. Vision research 50 (16):1540-1549
- McMains S, Kastner S (2011) Interactions of top-down and bottom-up mechanisms in human visual cortex. The Journal of Neuroscience 31 (2):587-597
- McPartland J, Cheung CH, Perszyk D, Mayes LC (2010) Face-related ERPs are modulated by point of gaze. Neuropsychologia 48 (12):3657-3660
- McSorley E, Haggard P, Walker R (2004) Distractor modulation of saccade trajectories: spatial separation and symmetry effects. Experimental brain research 155 (3):320-333
- Mesquita B (2001) Emotions in collectivist and individualist contexts. Journal of personality and social psychology 80 (1):68
- Miellet S, Caldara R, Schyns PG (2011) Local Jekyll and Global Hyde The Dual Identity of Face Identification. Psychological Science 22 (12):1518-1526

- Miellet S, Lao J, Zhou X, He L, Caldara R (2012) When East meets West: gaze-contingent Blindspots abolish cultural diversity in eye movements for faces. J Eye Mov Res 5:1-12
- Miellet S, Vizioli L, He L, Zhou X, Caldara R (2013) Mapping face recognition information use across cultures. Frontiers in Psychology 4
- Miellet S, Zhou X, He L, Rodger H, Caldara R (2010) Investigating cultural diversity for extrafoveal information use in visual scenes. Journal of Vision 10 (6)
- Miller J, Navon D (2002) Global precedence and response activation: Evidence from LRPs. The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology: Section A 55 (1):289-310
- Miller JG (1984) Culture and the development of everyday social explanation. Journal of personality and social psychology 46 (5):961
- Mills J, Clark MS (1982) Exchange and communal relationships. Review of personality and social psychology 3:121-144
- Miyamoto Y, Nisbett RE, Masuda T (2006) Culture and the physical environment holistic versus analytic perceptual affordances. Psychological Science 17 (2):113-119
- Moll J, de Oliveira-Souza R, Bramati IE, Grafman J (2002) Functional networks in emotional moral and nonmoral social judgments. Neuroimage 16 (3):696-703
- Moran M, Mufson E, Mesulam MM (1987) Neural inputs into the temporopolar cortex of the rhesus monkey. Journal of Comparative Neurology 256 (1):88-103
- Moriguchi Y, Ohnishi T, Kawachi T, Mori T, Hirakata M, Yamada M, Matsuda H, Komaki G (2005) Specific brain activation in Japanese and Caucasian people to fearful faces. Neuroreport 16 (2):133-136
- Morris MW, Peng K (1994) Culture and cause: American and Chinese attributions for social and physical events. Journal of personality and social psychology 67 (6):949
- Moskowitz DS, Suh EJ, Desaulniers J (1994) Situational influences on gender differences in agency and communion. Journal of personality and social psychology 66 (4):753
- Müller JR, Metha AB, Krauskopf J, Lennie P (1999) Rapid adaptation in visual cortex to the structure of images. Science 285 (5432):1405-1408
- Murdock GP (1932) The science of culture. American Anthropologist 34 (2):200-215
- Murray SO, Wojciulik E (2003) Attention increases neural selectivity in the human lateral occipital complex. Nature neuroscience 7 (1):70-74
- Naito M (2003) The relationship between theory of mind and episodic memory: Evidence for the development of autonoetic consciousness. Journal of Experimental Child Psychology 85 (4):312-336
- Naito M, Koyama K (2006) The development of false-belief understanding in Japanese children: Delay and difference? International Journal of Behavioral Development 30 (4):290-304

- Navon D (1977) Forest before trees: The precedence of global features in visual perception. Cognitive psychology 9 (3):353-383
- Neuhaus C (2003) Perceiving Musical Scale Structures. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 999 (1):184-188
- Nicholson C (1973) Theoretical analysis of field potentials in anisotropic ensembles of neuronal elements. Biomedical Engineering, IEEE Transactions on (4):278-288
- Nicholson C, Freeman JA (1975) Theory of current source-density analysis and determination of conductivity tensor for anuran cerebellum. Journal of Neurophysiology 38 (2):356-368
- Niedenthal PM, Krauth-Gruber S, Ric F (2006) Psychology of Emotion: Interpersonal, Experiential, and Cognitive Approaches. Taylor & Francis Group,
- Nieuwenhuis S, Yeung N, Van Den Wildenberg W, Ridderinkhof KR (2003) Electrophysiological correlates of anterior cingulate function in a go/no-go task: effects of response conflict and trial type frequency. Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience 3 (1):17-26
- Nikolaev AR, Nakatani C, Plomp G, Jurica P, van Leeuwen C (2011) Eye fixation-related potentials in free viewing identify encoding failures in change detection. Neuroimage 56 (3):1598-1607
- Nisbet RE (2003) The geography of thought. N Brealey Publishing, London
- Nisbett RE (1990) Evolutionary psychology, biology, and cultural evolution. Motivation and Emotion 14 (4):255-263
- Nisbett RE, Masuda T (2003) Culture and point of view. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 100 (19):11163-11170
- Nisbett RE, Miyamoto Y (2005) The influence of culture: holistic versus analytic perception. Trends in cognitive sciences 9 (10):467-473
- Nisbett RE, Peng KP, Choi I, Norenzayan A (2001) Culture and systems of thought: Holistic versus analytic cognition. Psychological Review 108 (2):291-310
- Norenzayan A, Choi I, Nisbett RE (2002) Cultural similarities and differences in social inference: Evidence from behavioral predictions and lay theories of behavior. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin 28 (1):109-120
- Norenzayan A, Nisbett RE (2000) Culture and causal cognition. Current directions in psychological science 9 (4):132-135
- Nunez PL (2006) Electric fields of the brain: the neurophysics of EEG. Oxford University Press,

- Nunez PL, Srinivasan R (2006) A theoretical basis for standing and traveling brain waves measured with human EEG with implications for an integrated consciousness. Clinical Neurophysiology 117 (11):2424-2435
- Ochsner KN, Gross JJ (2005) The cognitive control of emotion. Trends in cognitive sciences 9 (5):242-249
- Ochsner KN, Ray RD, Cooper JC, Robertson ER, Chopra S, Gabrieli JD, Gross JJ (2004) For better or for worse: neural systems supporting the cognitive down-and up-regulation of negative emotion. Neuroimage 23 (2):483-499
- Oliva A, Torralba A (2006) Building the gist of a scene: The role of global image features in recognition. Progress in brain research 155:23-36
- Oostenveld R, Praamstra P (2001) The five percent electrode system for high-resolution EEG and ERP measurements. Clin Neurophysiol 112 (4):713-719
- Otero-Millan J, Macknik SL, Langston RE, Martinez-Conde S (2013) An oculomotor continuum from exploration to fixation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 110 (15):6175-6180
- Otero-Millan J, Macknik SL, Martinez-Conde S (2012) Microsaccades and blinks trigger illusory rotation in the "Rotating Snakes" illusion. The Journal of Neuroscience 32 (17):6043-6051
- Otero-Millan J, Troncoso XG, Macknik SL, Serrano-Pedraza I, Martinez-Conde S (2008) Saccades and microsaccades during visual fixation, exploration, and search: foundations for a common saccadic generator. Journal of Vision 8 (14)
- Otero-Millan J, Macknik SL, Serra A, Leigh RJ, Martinez-Conde S (2011) Triggering mechanisms in microsaccade and saccade generation: a novel proposal. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1233 (1):107-116
- Oyserman D (1993) The lens of personhood: Viewing the self and others in a multicultural society. Journal of personality and social psychology 65 (5):993
- Oyserman D, Coon HM, Kemmelmeier M (2002) Rethinking individualism and collectivism: evaluation of theoretical assumptions and meta-analyses. Psychological bulletin 128 (1):3
- Oyserman D, Sorensen N (2009) Understanding cultural syndrome effects on what and how we think: A situated cognition model. In: Understanding culture: Theory, research, and application New York, NY: Psychology Press., pp 25-52
- Park J, Kitayama S (2012) Interdependent selves show face-induced facilitation of error processing: cultural neuroscience of self-threat. Social cognitive and affective neuroscience
- Pascalis O, de Haan M, Nelson CA (2002) Is face processing species-specific during the first year of life? Science 296 (5571):1321-1323

- Pascalis O, Scott LS, Kelly D, Shannon R, Nicholson E, Coleman M, Nelson CA (2005) Plasticity of face processing in infancy. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102 (14):5297-5300
- Paukkunen AKO, Sepponen R (2008) The effect of ground electrode on the sensitivity, symmetricity and technical feasibility of scalp EEG recordings. Medical & biological engineering & computing 46 (9):933-938
- Pelto PJ, Pelto GH (1975) intra-cultural diversity: some theoretical issues1. American Ethnologist 2 (1):1-18
- Peng K, Knowles ED (2003) Culture, education, and the attribution of physical causality. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin 29 (10):1272-1284
- Peng K, Nisbett RE (1999) Culture, dialectics, and reasoning about contradiction. American psychologist 54 (9):741
- Perner J, Aichhorn M (2008) Theory of mind, language and the temporoparietal junction mystery. Trends in cognitive sciences 12 (4):123-126
- Pernet CR, Chauveau N, Gaspar C, Rousselet GA (2011) LIMO EEG: a toolbox for hierarchical LInear MOdeling of ElectroEncephaloGraphic data. Computational intelligence and neuroscience 2011:3
- Peterson MF, Eckstein MP (2012) Looking just below the eyes is optimal across face recognition tasks. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109 (48):E3314-3323
- Peterson MF, Eckstein MP (2013) Individual differences in eye movements during face identification reflect observer-specific optimal points of fixation. Psychol Sci 24 (7):1216-1225
- Petrova K, Wentura D, Fu X (2013) Cultural Influences on Oculomotor Inhibition of Remote Distractors: Evidence from Saccade Trajectories. Vision research
- Philiastides MG, Ratcliff R, Sajda P (2006) Neural representation of task difficulty and decision making during perceptual categorization: a timing diagram. J Neurosci 26 (35):8965-8975
- Picton T, Bentin S, Berg P, Donchin E, Hillyard S, Johnson R, Miller G, Ritter W, Ruchkin D, Rugg M (2000) Guidelines for using human event-related potentials to study cognition: Recording standards and publication criteria. Psychophysiology 37 (2):127-152
- Pontifex MB, Hillman CH (2007) Neuroelectric and behavioral indices of interference control during acute cycling. Clinical Neurophysiology 118 (3):570-580
- Posner MI (1980) Orienting of attention. Quarterly journal of experimental psychology 32 (1):3-25

- Premack D, Woodruff G (1978) Does the chimpanzee have a theory of mind? Behavioral and Brain Sciences 1 (04):515-526
- Raney GE, Rayner K (1993) Event-Related Brain Potentials, Eye-Movements, and Reading. Psychological Science 4 (5):283-286
- Ranganath C, Rainer G (2003) Neural mechanisms for detecting and remembering novel events. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 4 (3):193-202
- Rayner K (1998) Eye movements in reading and information processing: 20 years of research. Psychological bulletin 124 (3):372
- Rayner K, Castelhano MS, Yang J (2009) Eye movements when looking at unusual/weird scenes: are there cultural differences? Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition 35 (1):254
- Rayner K, Li X, Williams CC, Cave KR, Well AD (2007) Eye movements during information processing tasks: Individual differences and cultural effects. Vision research 47 (21):2714-2726
- Rodger H, Kelly DJ, Blais C, Caldara R (2010) Inverting faces does not abolish cultural diversity in eye movements. Perception 39 (11):1491-1503
- Rogoff B (2003) The cultural nature of human development. Oxford University Press,
- Rolfs M (2009) Microsaccades: small steps on a long way. Vision research 49 (20):2415-2441
- Rolfs M, Kliegl R, Engbert R (2008a) Toward a model of microsaccade generation: the case of microsaccadic inhibition. J Vis 8 (11):5 1-23
- Rolfs M, Laubrock J, Kliegl R (2008b) Microsaccade-induced prolongation of saccadic latencies depends on microsaccade amplitude. J Eye Mov Res 1 (3):1-8
- Romney AK, Boyd JP, Moore CC, Batchelder WH, Brazill TJ (1996) Culture as shared cognitive representations. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 93 (10):4699-4705
- Romo-Vazquez R, Ranta R, Louis-Dorr V, Maquin D EEG ocular artefacts and noise removal. In: Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, 2007. EMBS 2007. 29th Annual International Conference of the IEEE, 2007. IEEE, pp 5445-5448
- Rosenfeld JP (2000) Theoretical implications of EEG reference choice and related methodology issues. Journal of Neurotherapy 4 (2):77-87
- Ross L (1977) The intuitive psychologist and his shortcomings: Distortions in the attribution process. Advances in experimental social psychology 10:173-220
- Rossion B, Jacques C (2008) Does physical interstimulus variance account for early electrophysiological face sensitive responses in the human brain? Ten lessons on the N170. Neuroimage 39 (4):1959-1979
- Rousselet GA, Pernet CR (2011) Quantifying the time course of visual object processing using ERPs: it's time to up the game. Frontiers in Psychology 2

- Rousselet GA, Pernet CR, Bennett PJ, Sekuler AB (2008) Parametric study of EEG sensitivity to phase noise during face processing. BMC neuroscience 9 (1):98
- Rowley HA, Baluja S, Kanade T (1998) Rotation invariant neural network-based face detection. 1998 Ieee Computer Society Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, Proceedings:38-44
- Rucci M, Iovin R, Poletti M, Santini F (2007) Miniature eye movements enhance fine spatial detail. Nature 447 (7146):852-855
- Russell JA, Suzuki N, Ishida N (1993) Canadian, Greek, and Japanese freely produced emotion labels for facial expressions. Motivation and Emotion 17 (4):337-351
- Ryan SJ, Schachat AP, Wilkinson CP, Hinton DR, Sadda SVR, Wiedemann P (2012) Retina. Elsevier Health Sciences,
- Sadeh B, Podlipsky I, Zhdanov A, Yovel G (2010) Event-related potential and functional MRI measures of face-selectivity are highly correlated: a simultaneous ERP-fMRI investigation. Hum Brain Mapp 31 (10):1490-1501
- Sampson EE (1977) Psychology and the American ideal. Journal of personality and social psychology 35 (11):767
- Sass K, Sachs O, Krach S, Kircher T (2009) Taxonomic and thematic categories: Neural correlates of categorization in an auditory-to-visual priming task using fMRI. Brain research 1270 (0):78-87
- Schacter DL, Wig GS, Stevens WD (2007) Reductions in cortical activity during priming. Current opinion in neurobiology 17 (2):171-176
- Schneider S, Strüder HK (2012) EEG: Theoretical Background and Practical Aspects. In: Functional Neuroimaging in Exercise and Sport Sciences. Springer, pp 197-212
- Schupp HT, Ohman A, Junghofer M, Weike AI, Stockburger J, Hamm AO (2004) The facilitated processing of threatening faces: An ERP analysis. Emotion 4 (2):189-200
- Schwartz SH (1990) Individualism-collectivism critique and proposed refinements. Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology 21 (2):139-157
- Schwartz SH (1992) Universals in the content and structure of values: Theoretical advances and empirical tests in 20 countries. Advances in experimental social psychology 25 (1):1-65
- Schwartz SH (1994) Beyond individualism/collectivism: New dimensions of values. In: Individualism and Collectivism: Theory Application and Methods. Newbury Park, CA: Sage, pp 79-92
- Schwartz SH (2009) Culture matters: National value cultures, sources and consequences. In: Understanding culture: Theory, research and application. New York: Psychology Press., pp 79-92

- Schyns PG, Bonnar L, Gosselin F (2002) Show me the features! Understanding recognition from the use of visual information. Psychological Science 13 (5):402-409
- Schyns PG, Petro LS, Smith ML (2007) Dynamics of visual information integration in the brain for categorizing facial expressions. Current Biology 17 (18):1580-1585
- Schyns PG, Petro LS, Smith ML (2009) Transmission of facial expressions of emotion coevolved with their efficient decoding in the brain: behavioral and brain evidence. PLoS One 4 (5):e5625
- Schyns PG, Thut G, Gross J (2011) Cracking the code of oscillatory activity. PLoS biology 9 (5):e1001064
- Sereno SC, Rayner K, Posner MI (1998) Establishing a time-line of word recognition: evidence from eye movements and event-related potentials. NeuroReport 9 (10):2195-2200
- Shackman AJ, McMenamin BW, Maxwell JS, Greischar LL, Davidson RJ (2009) Right dorsolateral prefrontal cortical activity and behavioral inhibition. Psychological Science 20 (12):1500-1506
- Singelis TM (1994) The measurement of independent and interdependent self-construals. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin 20 (5):580-591
- Smith ML, Gosselin F, Schyns PG (2004) Receptive Fields for Flexible Face Categorizations. Psychological Science 15 (11):753-761
- Solla SA, Leen TK, Müller K-R (2000) Advances in neural information processing systems. The MIT Press,
- Streit M, Wölwer W, Brinkmeyer J, Ihl R, Gaebel W (2000) Electrophysiological correlates of emotional and structural face processing in humans. Neuroscience Letters 278 (1– 2):13-16
- Sui J, Han S (2007) Self-construal priming modulates neural substrates of self-awareness. Psychological Science 18 (10):861-866
- Sui J, Liu CH, Wang L, Han S (2009) Attentional orientation induced by temporarily established self-referential cues. The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology 62 (5):844-849
- Terracciano A, Abdel-Khalek A, Adam N, Adamovova L, Ahn C-k, Ahn H-n, Alansari B, Alcalay L, Allik J, Angleitner A (2005) National character does not reflect mean personality trait levels in 49 cultures. science 310 (5745):96-100
- Theeuwes J, Van der Stigchel S (2009) Saccade trajectory deviations and inhibition-of-return: Measuring the amount of attentional processing. Vision Research 49 (10):1307-1315
- Tipper SP, Howard LA, Paul MA (2001) Reaching affects saccade trajectories. Experimental brain research 136 (2):241-249

- Todorovic A, de Lange FP (2012) Repetition suppression and expectation suppression are dissociable in time in early auditory evoked fields. The Journal of Neuroscience 32 (39):13389-13395
- Townsend JT, Ashby FG (1978) Methods of modeling capacity in simple processing systems. Cognitive theory 3:200-239
- Townsend JT, Ashby FG (1983) The stochastic modeling of elementary psychological processes. CUP Archive,
- Trafimow D, Triandis HC, Goto SG (1991) Some tests of the distinction between the private self and the collective self. Journal of personality and social psychology 60 (5):649

Triandis HC (1995) Individualism & collectivism. Westview Press,

- Triandis HC (1996) The psychological measurement of cultural syndromes. American psychologist 51 (4):407
- Triandis HC (2001) Individualism-collectivism and personality. Journal of Personality 69 (6):907-924
- Triandis HC (2009) Ecological determinants of cultural variations. In: Understanding culture: Theory, research and applications. Psychology Press New York, NY, pp 189-210
- Triandis HC, Bontempo R, Leung K, Hui CH (1990) A method for determining cultural, demographic, and personal constructs. Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology 21 (3):302-318
- Triandis HC, Gelfand MJ (1998) Converging measurement of horizontal and vertical individualism and collectivism. Journal of personality and social psychology 74 (1):118
- Triandis HC, Suh EM (2002) Cultural influences on personality. Annual review of psychology 53 (1):133-160
- Tsui AS, Nifadkar SS, Ou AY (2009) Nagging problems and modest solutions in cross-cultural research: Illustrations from organizational behavior literature. In: Understanding culture: Theory, research and application. New York: Psychology Press., pp 163-186
- Tylor EB (1871) Primitive culture: researches into the development of mythology, philosophy, religion, art, and custom.
- Uchida N, Kepecs A, Mainen ZF (2006) Seeing at a glance, smelling in a whiff: rapid forms of perceptual decision making. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 7 (6):485-491
- Unsworth SJ, Sears CR, Pexman PM (2005) Cultural influences on categorization processes. Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology 36 (6):662-688
- Van der Stigchel S, Theeuwes J (2007) The relationship between covert and overt attention in endogenous cuing. Perception & Psychophysics 69 (5):719-731

- Van Voorhis S, Hillyard SA (1977) Visual evoked potentials and selective attention to points in space. Perception & Psychophysics 22 (1):54-62
- Vanderhasselt M-A, De Raedt R, Baeken C, Leyman L, D'haenen H (2006) The influence of rTMS over the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex on Stroop task performance. Experimental brain research 169 (2):279-282
- Varnum ME, Grossmann I, Kitayama S, Nisbett RE (2010) The Origin of Cultural Differences in Cognition The Social Orientation Hypothesis. Current directions in psychological science 19 (1):9-13
- Vinden PG (1996) Junin Quechua children's understanding of mind. Child Development 67 (4):1707-1716
- Viola P, Jones MJ (2004) Robust real-time face detection. International Journal of Computer Vision 57 (2):137-154
- Vizioli L, Rousselet GA, Caldara R (2010) Neural repetition suppression to identity is abolished by other-race faces. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107 (46):20081-20086
- Volberg G, Hübner R (2004) On the role of response conflicts and stimulus position for hemispheric differences in global/local processing: An ERP study. Neuropsychologia 42 (13):1805-1813
- Wager TD, Smith EE (2003) Neuroimaging studies of working memory. Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience 3 (4):255-274
- Wan C, Chiu C (2009) An intersubjective consensus approach to culture: The role of intersubjective norms versus cultural self in cultural processes. In: Understanding culture: Theory, research and application. New York: Psychology Press., pp 79-92
- Wang Q, Conway MA (2004) The Stories We Keep: Autobiographical Memory in American and Chinese Middle-Aged Adults. Journal of Personality 72 (5):911-938
- Wellman H (1998) Culture, variation, and levels of analysis in folk psychologies: comment on Lillard (1998). Psychological bulletin 123 (1):33
- Wellman HM, Cross D, Watson J (2001) Meta-analysis of theory-of-mind development: the truth about false belief. Child Development 72 (3):655-684
- Wexler B (2006) Brain and culture: neurobiology, ideology, and social change. A Bradford Book,
- Wiggs CL, Martin A (1998) Properties and mechanisms of perceptual priming. Current opinion in neurobiology 8 (2):227-233
- Wilcox RR (2005) Introduction to Robust Estimation and Hypothesis Testing. 2nd edn. Academic Press, San Diego,
- Wimmer H, Mayringer H (1998) False belief understanding in young children: Explanations do not develop before predictions. International Journal of Behavioral Development

- Wimmer H, Perner J (1983) Beliefs about beliefs: representation and constraining function of wrong beliefs in young children's understanding of deception. Cognition 13 (1):103-128
- Witkin HA (1967) A cognitive-style approach to cross-cultural research. International Journal of Psychology 2 (4):233-250
- Witkin HA, Berry JW (1975) Psychological differentiation in cross-cultural perspective. Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology
- Witkin HA, Dyk RB, Fattuson H, Goodenough DR, Karp SA (1962) Psychological differentiation: Studies of development.
- Witkin HA, Goodenough DR (1977) Field dependence and interpersonal behavior. Psychological bulletin 84 (4):661
- Wyer RS (2009) Culture and Information Processing: A Conceptual Integration. In: Understanding culture: Theory, research, and application. New York: Psychology Press., pp 431-455
- Wyer RS, Chiu C, Hong Y (2009) Understanding Culture: Theory, Research, and Application. Taylor & Francis,
- Yarbus AL (1961) Eye movements during the examination of complicated objects. Biofizika 6(2):52-56
- Yeung N, Botvinick MM, Cohen JD (2004) The neural basis of error detection: conflict monitoring and the error-related negativity. Psychological review 111 (4):931
- Yi D-J, Chun MM (2005) Attentional modulation of learning-related repetition attenuation effects in human parahippocampal cortex. The Journal of Neuroscience 25 (14):3593-3600
- Young RJ (1994) Colonial desire: Hybridity in theory, culture and race. Routledge,
- Yuval-Greenberg S, Tomer O, Keren AS, Nelken I, Deouell LY (2008) Transient Induced Gamma-Band Response in EEG as a Manifestation of Miniature Saccades. Neuron 58 (3):429-441
- Zhang X, Wang Y, Li S, Wang L (2003) Event-related potential N270, a negative component to identification of conflicting information following memory retrieval. Clinical Neurophysiology 114 (12):2461-2468
- Zhou J, Gotch C, Zhou Y, Liu Z (2008) Perceiving an object in its context—is the context cultural or perceptual? Journal of Vision 8 (12)
- Zhou X, He L, Yang Q, Lao J, Baumeister RF (2012) Control deprivation and styles of thinking. Journal of personality and social psychology 102 (3):460
- Zhu Y, Han S (2008) Cultural differences in the self: from philosophy to psychology and neuroscience. Social and Personality Psychology Compass 2 (5):1799-1811

- Zhu Y, Zhang L (2002) An experimental study on the self-reference effect. Science in China Series C: Life Sciences 45 (2):120-128
- Zhu Y, Zhang L, Fan J, Han S (2007) Neural basis of cultural influence on self-representation. Neuroimage 34 (3):1310-1316